

## Reliability assessment of GaN HEMTs on Si substrate with ultra-short gate dedicated to power applications at frequency above 40 GHz

Hadhemi Lakhdhar

### ► To cite this version:

Hadhemi Lakhdhar. Reliability assessment of GaN HEMTs on Si substrate with ultra-short gate dedicated to power applications at frequency above 40 GHz. Other. Université de Bordeaux, 2017. English. NNT: 2017BORD0941. tel-01763431

## HAL Id: tel-01763431 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01763431

Submitted on 11 Apr 2018

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



THÈSE PRÉSENTÉE POUR OBTENIR LE GRADE DE

### DOCTEUR DE

### L'UNIVERSITÉ DE BORDEAUX

ÉCOLE DOCTORALE DES SCIENCES PHYSIQUES ET DE L'INGENIEUR

SPÉCIALITÉ : ÉLECTRONIQUE

Par Hadhemi LAKHDHAR

# Reliability assessment of GaN HEMTs on Si substrate with ultra-short gate dedicated to power applications at frequency above 40 GHz

Sous la direction de : Mme. Nathalie MALBERT Co-direction : Mme. Nathalie LABAT & M. Nicolas DEFRANCE

Soutenue le 20/12/2017

Membres du jury :

M. Jean-Guy TARTARIN
M. Philippe DESCAMPS
Mme Christelle AUPETIT
Mme Nathalie MALBERT
Mme Nathalie LABAT
M. Nicolas DEFRANCE
M. Arnaud CURUTCHET
M. Jean-Claude DE JAEGER

Professeur, Université de Toulouse III
Professeur, Université de Caen Normandie
Professeur, Université de Limoges
Professeur, Université de Bordeaux
Professeur, Université de Bordeaux
Maître de conférences, Université de Lille I
Maître de conférences, Bordeaux INP
Professeur, Université de Lille I

Rapporteur Rapporteur Examinatrice Directrice de thèse Co-directrice de thèse Co-encadrant de thèse Invité Invité

**Abstract** : Step-stress experiments are performed to investigate reliability assessment of ultra-short gate AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) on Si substrate. A methodology based on a sequence of step stress tests has been defined for in-situ diagnosis of a permanent degradation and of a degradation which is identified by a drain current transient occurring during each step of the aging sequence. The same stress conditions were applied on HEMTs with different geometries. It is found no evolution of the drain current during non-stressful steps. The value of the critical degradation voltage beyond which the stress drain current starts to decrease significantly is also found dependent on the stress bias conditions, the gate-drain distance and the gate length. Moreover, the safe operating area of this technology has been determined.

**Keywords** : AlGaN/GaN HEMT, ultra-short gate, step stress, robustness, degradation, safe operating area (SOA)

**Résumé** : Des tests de vieillissement accéléré ont été effectués pour évaluer la robustesse des transistors HEMTs en AlGaN/GaN à grille ultra-courte sur Si. Une méthodologie basée sur une séquence d'essais de vieillissement a été définie pour établir le diagnostic in-situ d'une dégradation statique et permanente et d'une dégradation qui se traduit par un transitoire de courant de drain au cours du chaque palier de la séquence de vieillissement. La valeur de la tension critique de dégradation à partir de laquelle le courant de drain commence à diminuer de façon significative dépend des conditions de polarisation du vieillissement, de la distance grille-drain et de la longueur de grille. De plus, l'aire de sécurité de fonctionnement de cette technologie a été déterminée.

**Mots clés** : HEMT AlGaN / GaN, grille ultra-courte, vieillissement accéléré, robustesse, dégradation, aire de sécurité de fonctionnement (SOA)

Dedicated to my parents, my sister, my beloved busband and my angel 'Layane' for their love and constant support. May they find the sign of my deepest gratitude and limitless acknowledgement to their love and support that made my sun shine.

Hadhemi

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all those who provided me the possibility to complete this report. This research work is a product of a tireless effort of a professional, experienced and devoted team I got to work alongside. It was carried out between IMS Bordeaux (III-V team) and IEMN Lille (puissance team) labs. Hereby I would like to thank them all, as each of them contributed, in one way or another, to my growth from both a professional and a human points of view.

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor **Mrs Nathalie MALBERT**, professor at the University of Bordeaux, for her constant support, guidance and advice throughout my PhD study and for sharing her knowledge and very prompt responding to any communication. She provided me the confidence I always needed to persist throughout the hardest times.

My warmest gratitude also goes to my thesis co-supervisors **Mrs Nathalie LABAT**, professor at the University of Bordeaux, and **Mr Nicolas DEFRANCE**, associate professor at the University of Lille I, for invaluable discussions, scientific and always helpful comments and advises and for being supportive and critical to my work and elevating this research to the next level. They offered valuable feedbacks in reviewing my manuscript. This PhD work would never have been possible without their timely guidance, motivation and suggestions.

I would also like to thank **Mr Arnaud CURUTCHET**, associate professor at Bordeaux INP, for his introduction to the basic HEMT technology, for the assistance he provided during my whole PhD, especially experimental methods and for all the useful scientific discussions. I have appreciated the interesting collaborations we had since I performed my intern-ship in the IMS lab back in 2013. I wish to express my gratitude to **Mr Jean-Claude DE JAEGER**, professor at the University of Lille I, for his continuous support in my scientific research, for his confidence in my ability, his helpful research inputs and his concise and constructive criticism.

A special thanks go to **Ms Marie LESECQ**, associate professor at the University of Lille I, for introducing me to several cleanroom technologies and tools, especially to optical lithography and for the very deep scientific discussions, which I always enjoyed.

I would also like to thank Mr Jean-Guy TARTARIN, professor at the University of Toulouse III,

and **Mr Philippe DESCAMPS**, professor at the University of Caen Normandie, for evaluating my research proposal, reviewing this thesis and informing me of their constructive remarks. My thanks go also to **Mrs Christelle AUPETIT**, professor at the University of Limoges, who accepted to be member of my doctoral jury.

I have a very special thought for my friends and colleagues in IMS and IEMN labs, who overwhelmed me with encouragement in the difficult times; Fedia 'Marwa', Rihab, Mouna, Imen, Mariem and her husband Souhail, Mehdi, Philippe, Sarah, Kalparupa...

From a personal standpoint, I wish to thank my lovely sister Hanen, my brothers-in-law Rami, Ahmed and Khalil, my parents-in-law and my friends, especially Ahmed & Radhia for all their encouragement and enduring non-technical support during all these years. I am grateful every day to the most remarkable persons I know, my wonderful parents; Mohsen & Naima, whose love and guidance are with me in whatever I pursue and who always valued my honest effort and determination. Finally, I extend my deepest thanks to my loving and supportive husband Oussama, who is well aware of the involved difficulties, who supports me unconditionally and who, in addition, shares his life with me. A special thanks go to my so special daughter Layane, who provide unending inspiration.

Thank you for your endless patience, support, encouragement, empathy, and love.

# Contents

Ac	cknov	vledgei	nents	7
Ta	able o	of Cont	ents	9
Li	st of	Figure	S	13
Li	st of	Tables	i de la construcción de la constru	19
In	trodu	uction		21
1	Gal	lium–Ni	itride HEMTs	23
	1.1	Introd	luction	23
	1.2	GaN: 1	material system	23
		1.2.1	Crystal structure	25
		1.2.2	Polarization effect	27
	1.3	GaN H	ligh Electron Mobility Transistors	28
		1.3.1	Epitaxial structure	28
		1.3.2	AlGaN / GaN heterostructure	31
	1.4	Applic	ations of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs	35
		1.4.1	RF Power Applications	36
		1.4.2	Power Switching Applications	38
		1.4.3	Future applications	38
	1.5	GaN R	Reliability issues	39
		1.5.1	Reliability indicators	39
		1.5.2	Methods and tools for reliability assessment	41
			1.5.2.1 Life test for reliability evaluation	41
	1.6	Degra	dation mechanisms and trapping effects	44
		1.6.1	Degradation mechanisms	. 45

### CONTENTS

			1.6.1.1Hot-electrons degradation effect	46
			1.6.1.2Inverse piezoelectric effect	47
			1.6.1.3         Runaway effect	47
		1.6.2	Trapping effects	48
			1.6.2.1 The kink effect	49
			1.6.2.2 The current collapse phenomena	50
			1.6.2.3         The Belly-Shape	50
	1.7	Reliab	ility of HEMT with ultra-short gate	51
	1.8	Conclu	usion chapter 1	52
	Refe	rences	Chapter 1	54
2	Dev	rice des	cription and electrical characterization before aging tests	67
	2.1	Introd	uction	67
	2.2	Device	es under test	68
	2.3	Techn	ology	70
		2.3.1	Alignment marks	71
		2.3.2	Ohmic contact formation	72
		2.3.3	Device isolation	73
		2.3.4	Gate formation	73
		2.3.5	Passivation	74
		2.3.6	Pads thickening	75
	2.4	DC ch	aracterization	76
		2.4.1	Experimental procedure for I-V characterization	77
			2.4.1.1 Experimental setup	77
			2.4.1.2 AlGaN / GaN HEMT characterization	77
		2.4.2	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	84
			2.4.2.1 Analysis of the dispersion of electrical characterization	84
			2.4.2.2 Impact of device geometry on static performances	89
		2.4.3	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology	90
			2.4.3.1 Analysis of the dispersion of electrical characterization	90
			2.4.3.2 Impact of device geometry on static performances	96
		2.4.4	Comparison between both technologies	97
	2.5	RF cha	aracterization and parameter extraction	101
		2.5.1	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	103
			2.5.1.1 Impact of device geometry on RF performances	103
		2.5.2	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology	105

### CONTENTS

			2.5.2.1	Impact of device geometry on RF performances	. 106
	2.6	Conclu	usion cha	pter 2	. 106
	Refe	rences	Chapter	2	108
3	SOA	evalu	ation by	"step stress" accelerated aging tests	115
	3.1	Introd	uction .		. 115
	3.2	"Step	Stress" a	ging on AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	115
		3.2.1	Test be	nch	116
		3.2.2	Descrip	tion of the $1^{st}$ methodology $\ldots$	117
			3.2.2.1	On-state step stress tests	118
			3.2.2.2	Off-state step stress tests	119
		3.2.3	Descrip	tion of the $2^{nd}$ methodology	120
	3.3	Aging	test resu	lts	122
		3.3.1	Identific	ation of degradation signatures	123
			3.3.1.1	On-state step stress tests	123
			3.3.1.2	Off-state step stress tests	125
			3.3.1.3	Influence of $V_{GS}$ polarization	126
			3.3.1.4	Cumulative effect during the step stress sequence	127
		3.3.2	Static a	nd permanent degradation	128
			3.3.2.1	On-state step stress tests	128
			3.3.2.2	Off-state step stress tests	131
			3.3.2.3	Electrical parameters evolution after on-state step stress tests	132
			3.3.2.4	Discussion on the degradation signatures on the basis of electrical	
				parameters evolution in on-state conditions	134
		3.3.3	Transie	nt degradation	134
	3.4	Safe C	Operating	Area (SOA)	136
		3.4.1	Principl	e of determination of the SOA	136
		3.4.2	Critical	degradation voltage variation with device geometry	138
			3.4.2.1	Critical degradation voltage variation with the gate length $L_G$	139
			3.4.2.2	Critical drain source voltage variation with the gate-drain distance	
				$L_{GD}$	140
			3.4.2.3	SOA assessment as a function of the device geometry	142
	3.5	Analys	sis of TLN	Is after aging tests	143
	3.6	Conclu	usion cha	pter 3	146
	Refe	rences	Chapter	3	148

11

12

### Résumé

CONTENTS

155

# List of Figures

1.1	GaN material compared to Si and GaAs [5]	25
1.2	Hexagonal wurtzite crystal GaN: Ga-face polarity (left) and N-face polarity (right)	26
1.3	(a) Spontaneous polarization: GaN wurtzite structure at equilibrium, (b) piezoelectric	
	polarization: GaN wurtzite structure under external constraint	27
1.4	Cross section of AlGaN/GaN HEMT	29
1.5	Comparison between different substrates on which GaN can be grown [42]	29
1.6	Schematic view of the MOCVD system [47]	30
1.7	Schematic view of the MBE system [48]	31
1.8	Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations and charges distribution in the Al-	
	GaN/GaN heterostructure Ga-face	32
1.9	Conduction energy band diagram and charges distribution in the AlGaN/GaN hetero-	
	structure [49]	33
1.10	Characteristics and applications areas of AlGaN/GaN HEMT [50]	36
1.11	Cross-sectional schematic of the finished HEMT-LED on sapphire substrate. The	
	inset shows the equivalent circuit diagram of the device [5]	39
1.12	The bathtub curve of failure rate	41
1.13	The four bias states for DUT aging have distinct stress conditions	42
1.14	$I_{DS} - V_{DS}$ characteristics with possible bias points of ageing tests HTOL, HTRB and	
	$I_{DQ}$	43
1.15	Three alternatives to a continuous DC stress. (left) Step-stress incrementally in-	
	creases the stress conditions. (middle) The cyclic stress includes periods of recovery.	
	(right) Step-stress-recovery is a combination of the other two	44
1.16	Failure mechanisms identified on GaN based HEMTs. Red: Thermally-activated mech-	
	anisms/ Blue: mechanisms related to the presence of hot electrons (trapping effects)/	
	Green: mechanisms due to the polar and piezoelectric nature of the semiconductor	
	material $[80]$	45

1.17	Cross section of AlGaN/ GaN HEMT, identifying electrons achieving high energy and becoming "hot" [80]	46
1.18	(a) $I_D$ - $V_{DS}$ characteristics at 125 °C, (b) $I_G$ – $V_{GS}$ characteristic at 125 °C, (GH50-10) Black: out of runaway operation/ Red: runaway operation/ Grey dots: runaway	
	threshold [94]	48
1.19	Forward I-V characteristics of a $2 \times 25 \times 0.1 \ \mu m^2$ HEMT [105]	49
1.20	Forward gate current characteristics at $V_{DS} = 0 V$ for a reference device, one stressed device without Belly Shape and 2 stressed devices with Belly Shape [122].	51
2.1	AlGaN/GaN HEMT wafers (a) grown by MOCVD, (b) grown by MBE	68
2.2	Epitaxial structure of GaN HEMTs grown by MOCVD	69
2.3	Epitaxial structure of GaN HEMTs grown by MBE	69
2.4	Schematic representation of a coplanar transistor	71
2.5	SEM image of T-shape gate with a gate foot of 100 nm [26]	74
2.6	Descriptive diagram of the technological realization of T-gate with the different steps;	
	electronic writing, selective development, metallization and lift-off	75
2.7	summarizes the main technological steps of HEMT transistor	76
2.8	Descriptive diagram of the technological realization of T-gate with the different	
	stages; electronic writing, selective development, metallization and lift-off [33]	76
2.9	(a) TTPX Lakeshore cryogenic probe station, (b) AlGaN/GaN HEMT wafer under elec-	
	trical testing	77
2.10	Typical $I_{GS}$ ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT	79
2.11	Typical $I_{DS}$ ( $V_{DS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT	80
2.12	Typical $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$ ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT	80
2.13	Logarithmic plot of a typical $I_{DS}$ ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT	82
2.14	A Transmission Line Method (TLM) test structure	82
2.15	Plot of total resistance versus contact spacing to explain the TLM measurement	
	technique	83
2.16	Wafer map of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	85
2.17	$I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$ characteristics of different MOCVD HEMTs (a) and seven 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source	0.5
0.40	distance and 75 $nm$ gate length MOCVD HEM Is (b)	85
2.18	$I_{DS}-V_{DS}$ characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEMTs and (b) of seven 5.5 $\mu m$	07
0.10	dram-source distance and $r_3 nm$ gate length MOCVD HEM is	00
2.19	$I_{DS}$ -G <sub>M</sub> (V <sub>GS</sub> ) characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEM is and (b) seven 5.5 $\mu m$	07
		07

### LIST OF FIGURES

2.20 Logarithmic scale of $I_{DS}$ ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEMTs and (b)
of seven 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance and 75 $nm$ gate length MOCVD HEMTs $\ldots$ 88
2.21 An optical picture of a TLM mask of MOCVD technology
2.22 I-V characteristic of TLM structure
2.23 Resistance versus gap spacing and extraction of contact and sheet resistances from TLM patterns with spacing of 2, 5, 10 and 20 $\mu m$
2.24 Impact of device geometry on drain current saturation of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology         nology       91
2.25 Impact of device geometry on maximum transconductance of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD
technology
2.26 Wafer map of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology
2.27 $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$ characteristics of (a) MBE transistors with different geometry (left), and (b)
three 1.18 $\mu m$ gate-source distance and 150 $nm$ gate length MBE HEMTs
2.28 $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$ characteristics of MBE transistors with different geometry (a), and three
1.18 $\mu m$ gate-source distance and 150 $nm$ gate length MBE HEMTs (b) 93
2.29 $I_{DS} - G_M$ (V <sub>GS</sub> ) characteristics of (a) MBE transistors with different geometry, and
(b) three 1.18 $\mu m$ gate-source distance and 150 $nm$ gate length MBE HEMTs $\dots$ 94
2.30 Logarithmic plot of $I_{DS}$ -Gm ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics (a) of MBE transistors with different
geometry, and (b) three 1.18 $\mu m$ gate-source distance and 150 $nm$ gate length MDE
HEMIS
2.31 An optical image of TLM mask of MBE technology
2.32 I-V characteristic of TLM structure
ances from TLM patterns with the spacing of 2, 5, 10 and 20 $\mu m$ 96
2.34 Impact of device geometry on drain current saturation of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology 97
2.35 Impact of device geometry on maximum transconductance of AlGaN/GaN MBE tech-
nology
2.36 Impact of device geometry on on resistance $R_{DS}$ of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology 98
2.37 Impact of device geometry on threshold voltage of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology 98
2.38 Comparison of $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$ characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G$ = 75 nm,
$L_{GS}~=~0.6~\mu m,~L_{DS}$ = 1.5 $\mu m$ ) and MBE grown HEMT ( $L_{G}$ = 100 $nm,~L_{GS}$ =
1.15 $\mu m$ , $L_{DS} = 2.65 \ \mu m$ )
2.39 Comparison of $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$ characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G$ = 75 nm,
$L_{GS}$ = 0.6 $\mu m$ , $L_{DS}$ = 1.5 $\mu m$ ) and MBE grown HEMT ( $L_G$ = 100 $nm$ , $L_{GS}$ =
$1.15 \ \mu m, \ L_{DS} = 2.65 \ \mu m) \dots $

2.40	Comparison of $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$ ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G = 75 nm$ ,	
	$L_{GS} = 0.0 \ \mu m, \ L_{DS} = 1.3 \ \mu m$ and the grown here $L_{G} = 100 \ \mu m, \ L_{GS} = 1.13 \ \mu m, \ L_{DS} = 2.65 \ \mu m$ ).	00
2.41	Small signal equivalent circuit model of the HEMT	01
2.42	Output characteristic $I_{DS}$ ( $V_{DS}$ ) of a Class A power amplifier and load line 10	03
2.43	The evolution of the current Gain IH2II and unilateral power gain IUI versus frequency of a typical MOCVD HEMT ( $L_G = 100 \text{ nm}, L_{DS} = 5.5 \mu m$ )	04
2.44	The evolution of the current Gain IH2II and unilateral power gain IUI versus frequency of a typical MBE HEMT ( $L_{GS} = 1.15 \ \mu m, \ L_G = 100 \ nm$ )	)5
3.1	Accelerated aging test bench 1	16
3.2	BILT System Description	117
3.3	Results of a step-stress experiment carried out on a HEMT with a gate length of 75 $nm$ and a drain-source distance of 4.5 $\mu m$ . The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0 V$ ), while the drain voltage is increased by 5 V every 5 minutes 1	19
3.4	Optical image of a device before stress and after a catastrophic degradation 1	19
3.5	Results of a step-stress experiment carried out on a HEMT with a gate length of 150 $nm$ and a drain-source distance of 2.5 $\mu m$ . The gate voltage is fixed in condition E (at $V_{CS} = -4 V$ ) while the drain voltage increases by 5 V every 5 minutes	20
36	Example of burn-in in nominal conditions ( $V_{CS} = 0$ , $V_{DS} = 5$ V) for 30 minutes of a	10
0.0	75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT	21
3.7	Accelerated life test profile with a step duration of 5 min	21
3.8	Example of drain current evolution versus time of a 75 $nm$ gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition A (at $V_{GS}$ = 0 V) with $V_{DS}$ = 5 V; 10; 5; 15; 5; 20; 5; 25; 5 V	22
3.9	Flow diagram of the methodology defined for in-situ diagnosis of the permanent	
	degradation during DC step aging tests	23
3.10	Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V) 12	24
3.11	Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition B (at $V_{GS} = -1$ V) 12	24
3.12	Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition B (at $V_{GS} = -1$ V) The	
	step duration is 15 minutes	25

16

### LIST OF FIGURES

3.13	Drain and gate currents evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition E (at $V_{GS}$ = -4 V) with step duration of 15 min and $V_{DS}$ = 5 V; 20; 5 V; 25; 5 V; 30; 5 V; 35; 5	
	V; 45; 5 V; 50; 5 V	126
3.14	Drain current evolution versus time of HEMTs ( $L_G = 75 \text{ nm}$ , $L_{DS} = 5.5 \mu m$ ) during the step stress sequences in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ ) and B (at $V_{GS} = -1 \text{ V}$ )	127
3.15	Drain and gate current evolution versus time of a 100 nm gate length and 2.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence. The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V), while the drain voltage is increased from 5 to	10.0
0.14	25 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes)	128
3.10	Drain and gate current evolution versus time of a 100 nm gate length and 2.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence. The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V), while the drain voltage is decreased from 25 V	
0.17	to 5 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes) $\dots$	128
5.17	$I_{DS}$ ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$ characteristics of a 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length HEMT aged in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ ) before and after stress and after 1 day storage $I_{DS}$ ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$ characteristics before stress on the top left	120
3.18	$I_{DS}$ ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$ characteristics before stress on the top left $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ $I_{DS}$ ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$ characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ ) before and after stress in (a) linear scale and	127
	(b) log scale	130
3.19	$I_{GS} - V_{GS}$ characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition A (at $V_{CS} = 0$ ) before and after stress	130
3.20	$D_{IDS}$ ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$ characteristics of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5 $\mu m$ drain-source dis-	10 0
3.21	tance HEMT aged in condition E (at $V_{GS} = -4$ V) before and after stress $I_{GS} - V_{GS}$ characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance	131
	HEMT aged in condition E (at $V_{GS} = -4$ V) before (solid lines) and after stress (dashed	
	lines)	132
3.22	$I_{DS}$ ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$ characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance	
	lines) in (a) linear scale and (b) log scale	132
3.23	Current transients evolution to $V_{DS} = 5$ V versus time during the 2 last non-stressful	
	aging steps at $V_{DS} = 5$ V in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V), of a 75 nm gate length and	
	5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance HEMT ( $I_{D3}$ et $I_{D4}$ extracted from figure 3.10)	135
3.24	Fitting of $I_{D4}$ transient in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V) at $V_{DS} = 5$ V by the stretched	
	multi-exponential function of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5 $\mu m$ drain-source distance	10.4
	HEM1)	136

3.25 SOA of HEMTs ( $L_G$ = 75 nm, $L_{DS}$ = 1.5 $\mu m$ ) The rhombuses correspond to the critical	
degradation voltage $V_{DS}$ causing an $I_{DS}$ decrease of about 10 % 1	37
3.26 On-operating areas of a typical transistor HEMTs ( $L_G$ = 75 nm, $L_{DS}$ = 1.5 µm) If	.38
3.27 Dissipated power in stressing conditions for HEMTs under test of two geometries	
$(L_G = 75 \ nm, L_{DS} = 1.5 \ \mu m)$ and $(L_G = 75 \ nm, L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m)$	39
3.28 Relation between the critical degradation voltage and the gate length in condition A	
$(at V_{GS} = 0 V))$	39
3.29 Relation between the critical degradation voltage and the gate length in condition B	
$(at V_{GS} = -1 V)$	40
3.30 Relations between the critical degradation voltage, the electric field $E_{GD}$ and the	
drain-source distance $L_{DS}$ (varying as $L_{GD}$ ) in condition A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V)) $\ldots 14$	40
3.31 Relations between the critical degradation voltage, the electric field $E_{GD}$ and the	
drain-source distance $L_{DS}$ (varying as $L_{GD}$ ) in condition B (at $V_{GS} = -1$ V)	141
3.32 SOA of 75 $nm$ gate length HEMTs with drain source distance of 1.5 and 5.5 $\mu m$ The	
rhombuses correspond to critical degradation voltage $V_{DS}$ inducing a drift of $I_{DS}$	
around 10 % The dashed line presents the SOA boundary	42
3.33 Current evolution versus time of 2, 5, 10 and 20 $\mu m$ TLM spacing. On the top right,	
image of TLM after a catastrophic degradation occurring at voltage of 60 V for a 20	
$\mu m$ TLM spacing	43
3.34 Current evolution versus time of 5 $\mu m$ TLM spacing	44
3.35 Current evolution versus time of 5 $\mu m$ TLM spacing	44
3.36 Current transients evolution versus time during the last two non-stressful aging	
steps at V = 5 V, for 5 $\mu m$ TLM (extracted from figure 3.36)	45

# List of Tables

1.1	Physical properties of different semiconductors (GaN and other competitors) con- sidered for high-voltage applications []]	24
1.2	Comparison of Johnson and Baliga figures of merit for Si. GaAs and GaN materials [8]	25
1.3	Comparison between MOCVD and MBE growth	32
1.4	Recent research progress in GaN-based HEMTs for high power RF applications (2010-	
	2017)	37
2.1	Electrical parameters and their extraction conditions	83
2.2	Number of characterized devices per geometry	84
2.3	Barrier height $\phi_B$ , ideality factor $\eta$ and gate current $I_{GINV}$ of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD	
	technology	86
2.4	Saturation current, $R_{DS}$ resistance and aspect ratio of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	86
2.5	Maximum transconductance, threshold voltage and ON-OFF ratio of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD	
	technology	88
2.6	Contact and sheet resistances of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology	90
2.7	Number of characterized devices per geometry	92
2.8	Barrier height, ideality factor and $I_{GINV}$ of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology	93
2.9	Barrier height, ideality factor and aspect ratio of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology	93
2.10	Maximum transconductance, threshold voltage and ON-OFF ratio of AlGaN/GaN MBE	
	technology	95
2.11	Contact and sheet resistances of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology	97
2.12	Main electrical parameters extracted of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD and MBE technologies	99
2.13	The cutoff frequency and the maximum oscillation for AlGaN/GaN MOCVD HEMTs of	
	different geometry	105
2.14	The cutoff and the maximum oscillation frequencies for AlGaN/GaN MBE HEMTs of	
	different geometry	106

3.1	Summary of parameter extraction results of TLMs 118
3.2	Step-stress $V_{GS}$ aging conditions and their notations
3.3	Relationship between the critical $V_{DS}$ degradation voltage and the gate source voltage
	at which devices are aged
3.4	Drain current saturation $I_{DSS}$ , resistance $R_{DS}$ , maximum transconductance $G_{MMAX}$
	and threshold voltage $V_{TH}$ , evolution of typical devices before and after stress $\ldots$ 133
3.5	Schottky barrier height $\phi_B$ , ideality factor $\eta$ and inverse gate current $I_{GINV}$ evolu-
	tion of typical devices before and after stress
3.6	Time constants and dispersion of IDS transients recorded during the last two non-
	stressful steps for devices aged in conditions A (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V) and B (at $V_{GS} = -1$
	V)
3.7	Critical degradation voltage of 75 $nm$ gate length HEMTs with drain source distance
	ranging from 1.5 to 5.5 $\mu m$ while $V_{GS}$ was kept constant to 0, -1, -2 or -3 V 137
3.8	Critical degradation voltage, electric field and dissipated power of 75 nm gate length
	and a 5.5 $\mu m$ drain source-distance HEMTs for step stress sequences A (V_{GS}= 0 V),
	B ( $V_{GS} = -1$ V), C ( $V_{GS} = -2$ V) and D ( $V_{GS} = -3$ V)
3.9	TLM parameters extracted before and after stress
3.10	Summary of parameter extraction results of TLMs
3.11	Summary of parameter extraction results of HEMTs

## Introduction

The last century has seen a tremendous evolution in the fields of science and technology linked to all aspects of our lives such as telecommunications, automotive, entertainment, medical matters, comfort and safety, through the revolution of micro- and nano-electronic devices. In particular, a quasi-exponential semiconductor progression and an associated miniaturization were observed.

One of the key technologies making this evolution possible was the Gallium Nitride (GaN) based High Electron Mobility Transistor (HEMT), which was first demonstrated in 1993 by Khan, exhibiting impressive attributes and outstanding potentials and performances, compared with counterparts based on other materials, in term of high power, high frequency and high voltage operation in microwave and millimeter wave range.

This is due to the extraordinary material properties of GaN material such as large band gap (3.4 eV at room temperature), high breakdown field (3.3 MV/cm), high saturation electron velocity ( $2.7 \times 10^7 cm/s$ ), high electron mobility (900  $cm^2/V.s$ ), high melting point, relatively low dielectric constant and the interesting features of the AlGaN/GaN heterostructure such as high density of the two dimensional electron gas (2-DEG). However, HEMT reliability is still under investigation, partly due to the continuous evolution of the process and technologies, and partly due to the lack of technological solutions of failure. Hence, before large-scale commercialization of GaN HEMTs, reliability has to be fully demonstrated and more investigation is needed to improve device technology, epitaxy, design and other performance limiting factors.

Different types of semiconductor substrates have been considered for their thermal properties, large area availability and cost effectiveness. In this frame, the successful growth of GaN on Silicon (Si) attracts the industry because of the availability of large high resistive silicon wafers at low cost.

Over the last several years, was observed a continuous trend to increase power density and minimize the footprints of the device. In particular, improved frequency performance of GaN HEMTs is achieved through downscaling of the gate length to sub-100 nm in conjunction with state-of-the-art technologies.

In this context, this thesis will focus on reliability assessment of GaN HEMTs on Si (III) substrate

with ultra-short gate dedicated to power applications at frequency above 40 *GHz*. This work was carried out between the Integration of Materials to Systems (IMS) laboratory, University of Bordeaux and the Institute of Electronics, Microelectronics and Nanotechnology (IEMN), University of Lille.

This manuscript is shared into three chapters as follows:

Chapter 1 provides a background description about GaN HEMTs. The crystal structure and the basic physical properties of GaN are reviewed. Then, the basic concepts and the operation principles of GaN based HEMTs are presented followed by a review of the applications well suited for GaN based devices. The reliability issues of GaN based devices including indicators, methods and tools of reliability assessment are discussed. Then, degradation mechanisms and trapping effects are reviewed. Finally, a state of the art of the reliability of HEMT with ultra-short gate is presented.

Chapter 2 summarizes the first contribution of this work. Devices grown by metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and devices grown using Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE) technique are introduced as well as their technological process steps. Then, an electrical characterization campaign is performed including DC characterization, RF characterization and parameters extraction. A particular attention is given to the impact of device geometry on static and microwave performances for both technologies and to the on-wafer dispersion of their electrical parameters.

Chapter 3 summarizes the second contribution of this work. In order to perform a robustness assessment of short gate MOCVD GaN HEMTs on Si (III) substrate, a methodology is defined for in-situ diagnosis of permanent degradation. This study aims at defining the safe operating DC conditions. Then, the results of DC step stress aging tests carried out on HEMTs are detailed and discussed, including the identification of degradation signatures and the determination of the maximum values of DC bias voltages that devices can withstand. A critical degradation drain-source voltage is defined and its variation with the device geometry is studied. The last part of this chapter is devoted to the analysis of TLMs after aging tests, in order to give an insight about the physical impact of the electrical stress.

Finally, conclusions for all the topics presented in this thesis are drawn, and a discussion of several possible ways for future work is presented.

## Chapter 1

# Gallium-Nitride HEMTs

### 1.1 Introduction

This chapter describes a background information about AlGaN / GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs).

Section 1.2 outlines the crystal structure and the basic physical properties of Gallium Nitride (GaN) as a semiconductor material, its use in the design of high electron mobility transistors and deals with its polarization properties that play an important role in the formation of the two dimensional electron gas (2DEG) at the AlGaN/GaN interface. Section 1.3 introduces the basic concepts and the operation principles of HEMTs based on AlGaN/GaN heterostructure. This will be followed by a review of the applications well suited for GaN based devices in section 1.4. Section 1.5 discusses the reliability issues of GaN based devices including indicators, methods and tools of reliability assessment. Then, degradation mechanisms and trapping effects are detailed in section 1.6. A particular attention will be given to the GaN HEMT with ultra-short gate.

### 1.2 GaN: material system

Gallium Nitride wide bandgap semiconductors have attracted a great level of attention for many years, thanks to their several material properties making them ideally suited for high power, high frequency applications. These properties include:

- Energy gap of 3.4 *eV* [1] over three times that of Si. This large energy gap gives it the ability to withstand high electric fields (GaN has a breakdown electric field of 3.3 MV/cm), high operating temperatures, and enables high power density applications extensively covering both commercial and military markets [2–4].

- High electron mobility (900  $cm^2/V.s$  in GaN) coupled with the ability to withstand high

#### chapter 1

voltages permits reaching for higher saturation velocities  $(2.7 \times 10^7 \text{ } cm/s)$  and higher operating frequency [1].

- High mechanical/thermal stability combined with good thermal conductivity for dissipating heat essentially for devices on SiC substrate, so devices can operate at higher temperature and power.

Table 1.1 compares the basic material properties of GaN with other well-known semiconductors.

Table 1.1: Physical properties of different semiconductors (GaN and other competitors) considered for high-voltage applications [1]

Material properties	Si	6H-SiC	GaAs	GaN
Bandgap energy $(eV)$	1.1	3.0	1.43	3.4
Electron mobility $(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	1400	400	8500	900
Saturated (peak) drift velocity $(10^7 cm/s)$	1.0	2.0	2.1	2.7
Breakdown electric field $(MV/cm)$	0.3	2.4	0.4	3.3
Thermal conductivity $(Wcm^{-1}K^{-1})$	1.5	4.5	0.5	1.3
Relative dielectric constant	11.8	9.7 (static)	12.9 (static)	9.5 (static)
		6.7 (HF)	10.9 (HF)	5.3 (HF)

Figure 1.1 shows a comparison between GaN, Si and GaAs advantages for RF and power supply circuits. It can be shown that GaN is the key material for the next generation of high-frequency, high-power, high-voltage, high-temperature and low-loss operating specifications transistors [1] and thus an adequate and outstanding candidate for high performance HEMT.

There are two important figures of merit leading to rate the performance of devices made of different materials:

- Johnson's figure of merit (JFOM), which describes a device ability to operate at both a high power and high frequency. It is determined by the product of electric field breakdown ( $E_C$ ) and electron saturation velocity ( $V_S$ ) as shown in the following formula [6].

$$JFOM = \frac{E_C V_S}{2\pi} \tag{1.1}$$

- Baliga's figure of merit (BFOM), which describes the resistive losses of a device [7] It is given by:

$$BFOM = \epsilon \mu E_C^3 \tag{1.2}$$

Here,  $\epsilon$  is the dielectric constant of the material,  $\mu$  is the carrier mobility and  $E_C$  is the critical breakdown field of the semiconductor.



Figure 1.1: GaN material compared to Si and GaAs [5]

Table 1.2 shows a comparison of GaN with conventional semiconductor materials. The figures of merit are are normalized in reference to those calculated for silicon (Si) material. The highest values possible are desirable.

Table 1.2: Comparison of Johnson and Baliga figures of merit for Si, GaAs and GaN materials [8]

Material	$\frac{JFOM}{JFOM(Si)}$	$\frac{BFOM}{BFOM(Si)}$
Si	1	1
GaAs	1.8	14.8
GaN	215.1	186.7

### 1.2.1 Crystal structure

The group of III-nitride (AlN, GaN and InN), can crystallize depending on the growth conditions and crystallographic orientation of the substrate in three crystal structures: wurtzite (WZ) according to a hexagonal Bravais lattice [9], zinc-blende (ZB) with a cubic shaped lattice and rock-salt (RS) crystal structures [10]. The main focus of our work is based on GaN, which usually tends to synthesized in the hexagonal wurtzite crystal structure.

The ZB structure has several advantages for device applications, such as smaller band-gap and higher carrier mobility [11]. It can be used for applications that need high cut-off frequency and this is due to the higher electron drift mobility (I300  $cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$  at 300 K) and lower effective mass compared to WZ structure [12]. Although, it is the thermodynamically metastable polytype of GaN.

Regarding the wurtzite structure, it is the most stable structure at ambient temperature and pressure [13,14] with the lowest energy in the stress-free state [15,16]. In addition to piezoelectric effects that have a large impact on the charge density and electric field distribution within the material [17,18], wurtzite structure also possess a very large spontaneous polarization field due to the ionicity of the covalent bonds and the low inversion symmetry of wurtzites (the highly electronegative nitrogen atoms and the less electronegative gallium atoms) which can be exploited in creating high-density 2DEG (two dimensional electron gas) at III-N heterointerfaces [19]. The polarization effects and the 2DEG formation will be discussed in details in the following sections.

Since polarization is a bulk property [20], the polarity of the crystal does not depend on the surface layer but only on the position of the bonds along the [OOOI] axis. Depending on the growth method the polarity of GaN crystal may be either a Ga-face polarity (correspond to (OOOI) crystalline face) when the N-Ga bond points from the substrate to the surface or an N-face polarity (correspond to  $(000\overline{1})$  crystalline faces) when the N-Ga bond points from the surface to the substrate [21] as shown in Figure 1.2. This determines the polarity of the spontaneous electric field and affect both device technology and performance [22].

N-face crystals are chemically active which enables wet-chemical etching of the material. They suffer from a very rough surface morphology and high background doping concentration.

Ga-face crystals have much smoother surface morphology, lower background doping concentration, higher electron transport properties and are preferred for device operation [23].



Figure 1.2: Hexagonal wurtzite crystal GaN: Ga-face polarity (left) and N-face polarity (right)

Sufficiently high hydrostatic pressure may cause the WZ structure to collapse into a denser rock salt (RS) phase [24–26]. A phase transition from WZ to a body-centered-tetragonal structure

phase (TS) has been shown to occur in [0001] oriented GaN nanowires during tensile loading [27,28]. It was reported that the competition between phonon and elastic instabilities plays an important role in the reconstructive phase transition from WZ to RS structure [29]. The RS structure is typical of ionic bonds [30] and presents less interest for device applications.

#### 1.2.2 Polarization effect

The crystal structure of III-nitrides results in spontaneous polarization ( $P_{SP}$ ) which appears in both layers [31, 32]. This is due to the strong electro negativity difference from the nitrogen and the gallium.

The second polarization field so-called strain-induced or piezoelectric polarization  $(P_{PE})$  appears on GaN, AlN or AlGaN when the material is strained.

The total polarization is therefore the sum of two contributions; the spontaneous polarization existing at equilibrium and the piezoelectric polarization existing under external constraint, as illustrated in 1.3.



Figure 1.3: (a) Spontaneous polarization: GaN wurtzite structure at equilibrium, (b) piezoelectric polarization: GaN wurtzite structure under external constraint

The piezoelectric polarization  $P_{PE}$  can be expressed as follows [21]:

$$P_{PE} = 2\left(\frac{a-a_0}{a_0}\right)\left(e_{13} - e_{33}\frac{C_{13}}{C_{33}}\right) \tag{1.3}$$

Where  $\frac{a-a_0}{a_0}$  term represents the in-plane strain,

a is the resulted lattice constant induced by the applied strain,

 $a_0$  is the intrinsic lattice constant of the material,

 $e_{13}, e_{33}$  are the piezoelectric coefficients, and

 $C_{13}$  and  $C_{33}$  are elastic constants.

The direction of the piezoelectric polarization depends on the sign of  $(a - a_0)$ .  $P_{PE}$  is always negative for layers under tensile stress  $(a > a_0)$  and positive for layers under compressive stress  $(a < a_0)$ . Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations are parallel to each other for layers under tensile stress, and are anti-parallel for layers under compressive stress.

Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization effects are used to increase carrier concentration of GaN-based HEMTs.

### 1.3 GaN High Electron Mobility Transistors

The high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) is a field effect transistor incorporating a junction between two materials having different band-gap energies. Its invention is attributed to Takashi Mimura at Fujitsu laboratories in Japan in 1980 [33] using an AlGaAs/GaAs device. Alongside Fujitsu a number of other research facilities joined on the further development of the new structures: Bell Labs, Thomson CSF in France, Honeywell and IBM [34].

The GaN material demonstrated more advantages over GaAs material. The first reported GaN HEMT dates back to 1993 by Kahn [35] but these devices did not reach the commercial market until 2006 [36]. Developments have been going on, mainly driven by a growing demand for high power communication systems at microwave frequencies.

Based on wide bandgap material, GaN-based high-electron-mobility transistors (HEMTs) are getting in the focus of research activities in the recent years and are one of the most promising devices for high frequency and high power applications.

#### 1.3.1 Epitaxial structure

Figure 1.4 shows a cross section of AlGaN/GaN HEMT. Similar to a traditional FET, it comprised the drain and the source contacts to achieve ohmic contacts and a gate to generate the Schottky barrier.

In the following section, we review the structure of AlGaN/GaN HEMT based on multiple epilayers grown onto each other:

- <u>Substrate</u>: it is used as the base for the growing process. HEMTs are usually grown on Silicon [37, 38], sapphire [39, 40] or Silicon Carbide [41]. As for GaN substrate, it is very pricey and very difficult to synthesize (GaN is naturally n-type then it is indeed necessary to perform a p-type doping, difficult to perform on GaN, in order to make the substrate resistive). The choice of the substrate depends on the available size, cost, thermal conductivity, lattice mismatch constant, heat expansion and application of the GaN based device. Figure 1.5 shows a comparison between these substrates [42]. The successful growth of GaN on Silicon attracts the industry because of the



Figure 1.4: Cross section of AlGaN/GaN HEMT

availability of large high resistive silicon wafers at low cost. Currently the best results, which are obtained on SiC substrates, are likely reproduced by using Silicon substrates.



Figure 1.5: Comparison between different substrates on which GaN can be grown [42]

- <u>GaN buffer layer</u>: : it is unintentionally doped and composed of the wide band-gap material. The material quality of this layer is very crucial especially because of traps and deep levels that degrade the device RF performance. It can be improved by the incorporation of acceptor type dopant such as iron or carbon to compensate for the residual N-type doping of gallium nitride [43]. The piezoelectric polarization is not present in the GaN buffer layer due to its relaxed state and thickness (0.5 to 4  $\mu$ m).

- <u>AlGaN barrier</u>: it is an unintentionally doped layer formed by the  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$  wide bandgap material, where x is the aluminum mole fraction. This layer forms the Schottky contact with the gate metal contact and supplies the electrons for current conduction in the channel. The thickness (3 to 30 *nm*) and alloy composition of this layer are crucial to determine the mechanical stress and hence the piezoelectric polarization in the structure.

AlGaN/GaN HEMT may be subject to parasitic phenomena that will prevent it from functioning under optimal conditions. Thus, the following layers are generally added to the previously described structure.

- <u>Nucleation layer</u>: it is an intermediate layer between the GaN layer and the substrate. It permits to reduce the tensile strain of GaN due to the lattice mismatch that favors the cracks formation.

- <u>AlN interlayer</u>: so-called AlN spacer layer is used to enhance and improve the 2DEG density, the mobility and the drain current [44].

- <u>GaN cap layer</u>: permits to protect the active layer, and to reduce the contact and channel resistance in order to limit the leakage current.

The different epilayers growth is principally achieved via one of two different methods, Metalorganic Chemical Vapor Deposition (MOCVD) or Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE). In this section, the growth techniques are discussed in order to understand the differences in the fabricated samples that were used in the experiments within the framework of this thesis (AlGaN/GaN MOCVD and MBE technologies), and also to compare them in terms of reliability.

MOCVD growth of Gallium Nitride based materials involves a dynamic flow in which gaseous reactants pass over a heated substrate and react chemically to form a semiconductor layer. It is fast, at a rate of a few micrometers per hour, with multi-wafer capability easy to integrate, and performed at much higher temperatures (>1000 °C) than MBE growth (700 °C) and has a higher growth rate than MBE [45]. The growth rate of III-N MBE is  $0.5 \sim 1\mu/h$  [46].

Figure 1.6 shows Schematic view of the MOCVD system.



Figure 1.6: Schematic view of the MOCVD system [47]

30

MBE is another attractive growth method which occurs via reactions between thermal-energy molecular, atomic, or ionized beams of the constituent elements on a heated substrate in an ultrahigh vacuum. MBE allows precise definition of interfaces, the increased polarity of the interfaces, low point defect concentration, very low carbon and hydrogen impurity concentrations and better transport properties compared to MOCVD growth. Figure 1.7 shows a schematic view of the MBE system.



Figure 1.7: Schematic view of the MBE system [48]

Table 1.3 shows a comparison between MOCVD and MBE growth

#### 1.3.2 AlGaN / GaN heterostructure

AlGaN / GaN heterostructure is a junction between AlGaN and GaN layers having different energy band gap. In Ga-face heterostruture with AlGaN layer under tensile strain, the piezoelectric polarization of AlGaN layer is of the same polarity as the spontaneous polarization as shown in Figure 1.8.

The AlGaN/GaN interface polarization  $P_{(AlGaN/GaN)}$  is given by the following equation:

$$P_{AlGaN/GaN} = P_{SP(AlGaN)} + P_{PE(AlGaN)} + P_{SP(GaN)}$$
(1.4)

The AlGaN/GaN heterostructure at thermodynamic equilibrium must have constant Fermi level. The difference of the two materials electron affinities and the continuity of the vacuum level induce discontinuities of conduction and valence bands at the interface between the two materials.

Growth techniques	Strengths	Weaknesses
MOCVD	High growth rate for bulk layers / Most flex- ible / Large scale pro- duction / Abrupt inter- face simple reactor / High purity / Select- ive in-situ monitoring / High grown layer qual- ity / High throughput	High Process temperat- ure / Complicated pro- cess / H pollution / Pos- sible roughness at inter- faces
MBE	Simple Process / Uni- form / Free of an ox- ide layer / Good con- trol of layer thicke- ness and composition / Abrupt interface In- situ monitoring / sub- strate temprerature is not high	Expensive / Low growth rate / Epitaxial growth under ultra- high vaccum conditions / Low throughput

Table 1.3: Comparison between MOCVD and MBE growth



Figure 1.8: Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations and charges distribution in the AlGaN/GaN heterostructure Ga-face

Electrons are confined in the triangular potential in discrete quantum state, which constitutes a conduction channel. The two-dimensional channel ensuring the conduction of the current, by means of the effect of an electric field induced by an excitation voltage. The confinement of electrons in a quantum well confers them a high mobility, because of their separation from fixed charges resulting from piezoelectric and spontaneous polarizations. The heterostructures described above are provided with two ohmic, drain and source contacts and a Schottky contact, the gate,

whose role is to modulate the drain-source current flowing in the channel. The gate contact of the AlGaN/GaN HEMT is a Schottky contact formed by a junction between a metal stack and AlGaN layer. The epitaxial growth is carried out on a substrate which can be a source of impurities that can affect the active layer. These impurities are due to the lattice mismatch with the upper layer, responsible for dislocations, which can spread to the channel.

The mechanical strain in the heterostructure depends on the thickness of the  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$  layer and the Al mole fraction.

Figure 1.9 shows the conduction energy band diagram and charges distribution in the Al-GaN/GaN heterostructure. Where  $\sigma_{P1}$  is the charge due to spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations induced at the AlGaN layer interfaces,  $\sigma_{P2}$  is the charge due solely to spontaneous polarization induced at the GaN layer interfaces, and the resulting positive charge  $\sigma_{P1}$ - $\sigma_{P2}$  induces the formation of a two-dimensional electronic gas  $(-\sigma_n)$  at the AlGaN / GaN interface to satisfy the electrical neutrality condition. The charge  $\sigma_n$  is therefore proportional to bias charge  $(\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2})$ , minus the depletion charge due to the electric field in the AlGaN barrier layer coupled with the  $C_{AlGaN}$  capacitance and in the GaN layer coupled to the  $C_{GaN}$  capacitance. The proposed model takes into account surface defects that result in a surface charge,  $+\sigma_{S1}$ , and interface defects that result in a charge at the GaN / substrate interface,  $-\sigma_{S2}$ .



Figure 1.9: Conduction energy band diagram and charges distribution in the AlGaN/GaN heterostructure [49]

The dotted line is the position of the Fermi level in the semiconductor.  $\phi_B$  is the height of the potential barrier at the surface,  $\phi$  is the height of the potential barrier between the GaN layer and the substrate.  $E_F$  is the Fermi level and  $E_V$  is the valence level.  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  are the electric

field intensity in the AlGaN and the GaN layers respectively,  $\Delta E_C$  is the conduction band offset between  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$  and GaN,  $\Delta$  is the penetration of the conduction band edge below the Fermi level at the AlGaN/GaN interface,  $+\sigma_{S1}$  is a positive surface charge that participates in the  $-\sigma_{P1}$ charge compensation, and  $-\sigma_{S2}$  is a negative charge located on the lower face of the GaN layer that participates in the compensation of the  $+\sigma_{P2}$  charge.

The electrons transfer from AlGaN into GaN and get confined in the triangular quantum well. The charge density is called two dimensional electron gas (2-DEG) due to the two-dimensional distribution of electrons in the channel.

By applying the Gaussian law to the three interfaces of the AlGaN / GaN HEMT structure:

$$\sigma_{S1} - \sigma_{P1} = -\epsilon_1 E_1 \tag{1.5}$$

$$\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2} - \sigma_n = \epsilon_1 E_1 + \epsilon_2 E_2 \tag{1.6}$$

$$\sigma_{P2} - \sigma_{S2} = -\epsilon_2 E_2 \tag{1.7}$$

Where  $\epsilon_1$  and  $\epsilon_2$  are the dielectric permittivities of the AlGaN and the GaN layers respectively. To satisfy the neutrality condition, we deduce from equations 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7

$$\sigma_n = \sigma_{S1} - \sigma_{S2} \tag{1.8}$$

Considering that the majority of electrons occupy the first energy subband, the 2-DEG carrier density is governed by the following equation:

$$n_{2D} = \int_0^\infty D(E)f(E)dE = \left(\frac{m^*}{\phi^2}q\right)\frac{\Delta}{q}$$
(1.9)

Where h is the Planck constant,

 $m^*$  is the electronic effective mass,

f(E) is the Fermi-Dirac distribution function,

D(E) is the energy density of states.

Writing  $\sigma$  as a function to n2D:

$$\frac{\phi_B}{q} - E_1 a_1 - \frac{\Delta E_C}{q} + \frac{\Delta}{q} = 0 \tag{1.10}$$

$$E_1 = \frac{\Delta - \Delta E_C + \phi_B}{qa_1} \tag{1.11}$$

#### 1.4. APPLICATIONS OF ALGAN/GAN HEMTS

The 2DEG thickness is much lower than GaN layer thickness, we deduce then:

$$\frac{\phi}{q} \approx E_2 a_2$$
 (1.12)

Using equation 1.6 and the expressions of  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  given in equations 1.11 and 1.12, it follows that:

$$\sigma_n = \frac{\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2} - \frac{\epsilon_2 \phi}{a_2 q} - \epsilon_1 \left(\frac{\phi_B - \Delta E_C}{a_1 q}\right)}{1 + \frac{\epsilon_1 \pi h^2}{a_1 q^2 m^*}} \tag{1.13}$$

Taking into account the  $V_{GS}$  polarization effects on  $\sigma_n$ :

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2} - \frac{\epsilon_{2}\phi}{a_{2}q} - \frac{\epsilon_{1}}{a_{1}} \left(\frac{\phi_{B}}{q} - \frac{\Delta E_{C}}{q} - V_{GS}\right)}{1 + \frac{\epsilon_{1}\pi\hbar^{2}}{a_{1}q^{2}m^{*}}} = \frac{\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2} - C_{2}\frac{\phi}{q} - \frac{\epsilon_{1}}{a_{1}} \left(\frac{\phi_{B}}{q} - \frac{\Delta E_{C}}{q} - V_{GS}\right)}{1 + C_{1}\frac{\pi\hbar^{2}}{q^{2}m^{*}}}$$
(1.14)

Where  $C_1 = C_{AlGaN}$  and,  $C_2 = C_{GaN}$ 

If the AlGaN layer is completely deserted, the threshold voltage of the HEMT, is defined as the bias voltage to be applied to the gate to bring the GaN surface to the inversion threshold. From Equation 1.14, it follows the expression of the threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$  of a classical AlGaN / GaN hetero-structure without taken into account the doping effects of the AlGaN layer:

$$V_{TH} = \frac{\phi_B}{q} - \frac{\Delta E_C}{q} - \frac{\sigma_{P1} - \sigma_{P2}}{C_1} + \frac{C_2 \phi}{C_1 q}$$
(1.15)

### 1.4 Applications of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs

Thanks to the excellent physical properties of Gallium Nitride, HEMTs have tremendous success in penetrating the consumer market for a wide range of applications, which include cell phones, radar, mixers, oscillators, surveillance, reconnaissance, TV broadcasting, communication satellite, base stations, sitcom, space, digital radios and attenuators in both commercial and military applications [4]. GaN HEMTs have found use in wireless infrastructures and high power electronics due their high efficiency, high frequency operation and high operating voltages [4]. Figure 1.10 shows the characteristics and applications areas of AlGaN/GaN HEMT.

AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) have attracted a lot of attention for Radio Frequency (RF) and Power Switching Application [51,52], which will be presented and discussed in the following sections.


Figure 1.10: Characteristics and applications areas of AlGaN/GaN HEMT [50]

#### 1.4.1 **RF** Power Applications

RF performance of GaN devices have been widely reported in literature, with optimum performances concerning the maximum power capabilities (approximately one order of magnitude better than GaAs technology), and comparable maximum operating frequency. One of the best power performances of GaN on Si substrate with ultra-short gate at 40 GHz, have been demonstrated by Marti el al. [53], with a  $P_{OUT} = 2 W/mm$  (Table 1.4). According to equation 1.16, high values of transconductance ( $G_M$ ), high values of the saturation velocity and low gate capacitances, enable to reach high intrinsic cut-off frequency values.

$$f_T = \frac{G_M}{2\pi C_G} = \frac{V_S}{2\pi L_G} \tag{1.16}$$

Where  $G_M$  is the transconductance,

 $C_G$  is the gate capacitance,  $V_S$  the carrier velocity, and  $L_G$  is the effective gate length.

Moreover, the device scaling will theoretically allow higher  $f_T$  and therefore  $f_{MAX}$ , due to

the inverse correlation with the gate length  $L_G$ , keeping a high aspect ratio between the gate length and the gate-to-channel distance. Reducing the gate length is crucial for increasing highfrequency performance; however, it becomes more and more difficult to fabricate ultra-short gate length devices. One of the smallest transistor gate reported in the literature for a GaN-HEMT is 20 nm [54]. Table 1.4 summarizes the recent research progress in GaN-based HEMTs with ultrashort gate (20-160 nm) for high power RF applications.

$L_G$	$I_{DSS}$	$f_T$	$f_{MAX}$	f	POUT	Substrate	References
(nm)	(A/mm)	(GHZ)	(GHz)	(GHz)	(W/mm)		
20	>4	342	518			SiC	[55]
20		454	444			SiC	[56]
30	1.57	245	13			SiC	[57]
30	1.8	300	33			SiC	[58]
30	1.5	370	30			SiC	[59]
30	1.9	400	33			SiC	[60]
50	2.1	221	290			SiC	[61]
60	2.1	210	55			SiC	[61]
60	1.65	183	191	38	2.7	SiC	[62]
70	1.65	162	176			SiC	[63]
75	1.05	152	149	40	2	Si	[53]
75	0.8	170	210			SiC	[64]
80	1.1	114	230	40	1.25	SiC	[65]
80		176	70			Si	[66]
90	1.25	113	160	35	4.18	SiC	[67]
100	1.74	103	162			Si	[68]
100	1.65	80	200			SiC	[69]
100	1.13	115	150			Si	[66]
160	1.19	79	113.8			SiC	[70]
160	2	85	103			Si	[71]

Table 1.4: Recent research progress in GaN-based HEMTs for high power RF applications (2010-2017)

As shown in Table 1.4, a downscaling of the gate length to sub-100 nm regime in conjunction with state-of-the-art technologies allows to improve the frequency performances. The highest  $f_T$  of 454 GHz with a simultaneous  $f_{MAX}$  of 444 GHz is obtained for 20 nm self-aligned gate HEMTs. With an off-state breakdown voltage of 10 V, the Johnson figure of this device reaches 4.5 THz - V [56].

#### 1.4.2 Power Switching Applications

In addition to RF applications, the unique properties of GaN-based HEMTs have also attracted great interest in high-voltage power-switching applications, where the transistors are switching between their off and on states.

Power switching devices are used for power conversion applications that involve transforming a DC voltage to a lower value (buck converter) or to a higher value (boost converter). This may also be extended to converting a power source from AC to DC and vice versa or any other power switching circuit. Three important parameters of a power-switching transistor are the breakdown voltage ( $V_{Breakdown}$ ), on-state resistance ( $R_{ON}$ ) and gate capacitance ( $C_G$ ). Kanamura et al. [72] have reported an off-state breakdown voltage of 320 V in E-mode MISHEMT with a triple cap layer with recessed-gate structure leading to a threshold voltage of +3 V. Finally, Srivastava et al. [73] have reported a breakdown voltage of 2.2 kV for HEMT with gate drain distances of 20  $\mu m$  fabricated on Si by a new local Si substrate removal technology.

#### 1.4.3 Future applications

Optimized AlGaN/GaN HEMTs are well suited to play a pivotal role in next generation market demand. The past decade has witnessed tremendous progress in the development of III-nitride based light emitting diodes (LEDs) for lighting and high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) for power applications.

Integration of InGaN/GaN light-emitting diodes (LEDs) and AlGaN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors (HEMTs) on a common material platform is attracting increasing interest due to its advantages in reducing device footprint, enhancing system reliability, and minimizing interconnect-related parasitic [74]. Monolithic integration of HEMTs and LEDs aims to reduce undesirable parasitics and greatly improve the system stability as well as reliability. However, there are limited reports on the monolithic integration of the two kinds of devices, probably due to the huge difference in material requirements for LEDs and transistors as well as the complexity of device fabrication. A monolithic integrated HEMT-LED device with comparable performance to stand-alone devices has been recently fabricated and the breakdown voltage was enhanced, without degradation of the HEMT DC performance [75]. It shows a potential applications such as solid-state lighting, displays, and visible light communications. Figure 1.11 shows a cross-sectional schematic of the finished HEMT-LED on sapphire substrate. The inset shows the equivalent circuit diagram of the device [5].



Figure 1.11: Cross-sectional schematic of the finished HEMT-LED on sapphire substrate. The inset shows the equivalent circuit diagram of the device [5]

## 1.5 GaN Reliability issues

Despite the very good material properties, the device design that have become matured with intensive studies and large effort spent in recent years and the excellent device performances for both RF and high power switching applications, there are still some issues that limit the device practical applications. Indeed, reliability has still to be fully demonstrated.

#### 1.5.1 Reliability indicators

This section is mathematically oriented to an introduction to some of the main reliability notions and approaches. Reliability is one of the most important parameter before marketing a product. It is defined as the ability of a component, circuit or system to perform an intended or required function or mission without failure or degradation. The mission profile is defined in terms of specified operating and environmental conditions (such as temperature, voltage, current, etc.) and of given time duration [76].

Mathematically, the reliability function R(t) is the probability that a component, circuit or system survives beyond any given specified time denoted by:

$$R(t) = P(T > t)$$
  $t \ge 0$  (1.17)

Where T is a random variable denoting the time-To-Failure or the Failure Time.

Robustness is the ability that its performances are not affected by the uncertain inputs or environment conditions.

Meanwhile, the unreliability F(t), or the probability of failure, is defined as the probability that a component, circuit or system will not perform the required function under the operating

chapter 1

conditions encountered for a stated period of time t.

$$F(t) = 1 - R(t) = P(T \le t) \qquad t \ge 0$$
(1.18)

Another reliability parameter related to F(t) is the probability density function of failures, f(t) defined as its derivative:

$$f(t) = \frac{dF(t)}{dt} = P(t < x < t + dt)$$
(1.19)

It represents the probability of an item failing in the time interval dt at time t, when the item was operating at t = 0.

The failure rate  $\lambda$  is expressed as the ratio of the total number of failures to the total operating time:  $\lambda = K/T$ , where K is the number of failures and T is the total operating time.

Two important parameters defined to describe the statistical distribution are the Mean Time To Failure (MTTF) and the Median Lifetime (MTF or  $t_m$ ). The Mean Time To Failure is calculated as the mean value of a distribution:

$$MTTF = \int_{0}^{+\infty} tf(t)dt \tag{1.20}$$

In the case of  $\lambda = Cst$ , MTTF is the reciprocal of the failure rate  $1/\lambda$ . It is used to describe the expected time to failure for non-repairable devices once they fail. The Median Lifetime  $t_m$ expresses the "average" value of a statistical lifetime distribution and it is defined as the time to 50% failures

$$t_m = MTTF = \{t : Q(t) = 50\%\}$$
(1.21)

The reliability of semiconductors devices is associated to the failure rate  $\lambda(t)$  over time described by the known "bathtub" curve. This latter is divided into three regions as shown in figure 1.12. Zone 1 is the infant mortality period characterized by an initially high failure rate due to the latent defects in the device, which falls off till time  $t_{infant}$ . Early failures can be eliminated by a "burn in" period during which time the equipment is operated at stress levels closely approximating the intended actual operating conditions in order to eliminate the external reasons causing defects. In zone 2, the device enters into a stable stage "useful life" with a constant failure rate. For high reliability applications, this constant failure rate  $\lambda$  should be extremely small. Finally, in zone 3 after time  $t_{operation}$ , the failure rate will increase sharply due to "wear-out" and the device comes to the end of its lifetime.

To understand and characterize reliability, data should be analyzed by a lifetime distribution

which models the lifetime of GaN based HEMTs during the stress and provides an insight into characteristics of failure times. There are many different lifetime distributions that can be used to model reliability data. The most widely applicable distributions for life data analysis, used for electronic and electrical components and systems, are the exponential, Weibull, normal and lognormal distributions and each one of them has a predefined form of F(t).



Figure 1.12: The bathtub curve of failure rate

The reliability assessment must begin with a survey of known conditions under which the device will operate. This may include a wide variety of factors for a semiconductor device. These conditions, which can induce different failures, or accelerate degradations localized in different areas of the device, hence reducing the lifetime, will be further discussed in the next sections.

#### 1.5.2 Methods and tools for reliability assessment

#### 1.5.2.1 Life test for reliability evaluation

Accelerated Stress Testing can be simply defined as: using higher-than-normal stress, and then failure can be induced earlier than usual. Hence much attention must be given to the stress conditions.

Accelerated Stress Testing consists of exposing a group of products to one or more stressing environments. In this section we will present some of the commonly used environments that can include electrical Stress, thermal cycling, thermal shock, mechanical stress, humidity, radiation, vibration and others.

- <u>Electrical Stress</u>: is used to test a product near or at its electrical limits. There are two basic types of electrical stress tests: Power Cycling and Voltage Margining.

We can distinguish four bias states (Figure 1.13) that are defined by different bias conditions. First a high-power State; biased at high current and high voltage. Second, an ON-state; biased to saturation with high current and low voltage. Third, an OFF-state; biased at very small current



and high voltage. Finally,  $V_{DS} = 0$  state with the source and drain shorted at  $V_D = V_S = 0$ .

Figure 1.13: The four bias states for DUT aging have distinct stress conditions

- <u>Thermal stress</u>: Two types of thermal stresses can be carried out. Thermal cycling or thermal shock. Thermal cycling exposes products to alternating low and high air temperatures to accelerate failures caused by repeated temperature variations during normal use conditions. The transition between temperature extremes occurs very rapidly during thermal shock testing while temperature cycle testing uses slower rates of change between high and low temperatures.

- <u>Mechanical stress</u>: (or mechanical shock) such as vibration which involves stimulating a product with a pre-determined force over a frequency spectrum.

- <u>Humidity testing</u> is typically performed in a chamber that can precisely control wet and dry bulb temperatures. Exposing products to humidity stress precipitates corrosion and contamination defects in products. Humidity can penetrate porous materials, cause leakage between electrical conductors, and is also an important stress when evaluating coatings and seals.

- <u>Radiation</u>: study of radiation effects on AlGaN/GaN HEMTs by X rays, protons, neutrons, and/or heavy ion irradiations is crucial for space applications in radiative environments [77].

- <u>Combined environments</u>: depending on product complexity, cost, and other reliability specifications, multiple environmental screens may be used simultaneously. For example, Thermal Cycling and Vibration are often combined in an Accelerated Stress Test program.

• High temperature Operating Life test (HTOL)

The devices are biased at predicted normal condition and stored at different temperatures (three to six temperatures generally between 175 °C and 310 °C). This enables to study the combined effects of thermal and electrical stresses and to assess the wear-out mechanism. HTOL is used for process qualification before the product release and manufacturing for commercialization. A short duration HTOL test known as "burn-in" is used for screening devices with high early failure and

infant mortality rate. HTOL permits extracting  $t_{50}$  (the time when 50 % of the devices is failed) that is often used instead of MTTF.

High temperature Reverse Bias test (HTRB)

The gate Schottky diode is reverse biased close to breakdown voltage at high temperature. This permits to study the combined effects of high electric fields and temperature. As the devices under HTRB test are under pinch-off condition, the channel temperature is about the same as the case temperature.

•  $I_{DQ}$  (Quiescent Drain current test)

Another accelerated test used is the quiescent drain current test  $I_{DQ}$  which has a definition very close to HTOL. In this test, the device is biased at moderate drain current, high drain-source voltage and at different temperatures.

Figure 1.14 shows the typical bias points for HTOL, HTRB and  $I_{DQ}$  tests.



Figure 1.14:  $I_{DS} - V_{DS}$  characteristics with possible bias points of ageing tests HTOL, HTRB and  $I_{DQ}$ 

#### • Step Stress

The step stress test is performed at a fixed temperature, while voltages, currents or RF power applied during the stress are increased step by step with time either monotonically or with a recovery time period between each condition [78]. As the duration of the test can be short, it allows to obtain quickly information on the robustness of the technology. In particular, the maximum values of electrical conditions that can sustain the device can be determined. It is very useful for determining the safe operating area of the technology. Moreover, step stress tests can be

performed before long term aging tests. In this case, these tests allow to efficiently determine the aging electrical conditions applied during the long term aging test.

Three approaches to perform step stress tests are illustrated in Figure 1.15: the first one and the simplest consists in increasing the electrical stress step by step over time until the degradation observation. The second one called "cycling stress" consists in alternatively applying stress conditions and unstress conditions for a specified time. This latter period corresponds to a recovery period. Finally, the third one called "step-stress-recovery" is a combination of the previous tests. In this test, the electrical conditions are increased step by step but each aging step is followed by a recovery period.

The cyclic stress includes periods of recovery and Step-stress-recovery are particularly useful when trapping-detrapping mechanisms are involved.



Figure 1.15: Three alternatives to a continuous DC stress. (left) Step-stress incrementally increases the stress conditions. (middle) The cyclic stress includes periods of recovery. (right) Step-stress-recovery is a combination of the other two

Step-stress experiments will be performed in the framework of this thesis in order to investigate reliability assessment of ultra-short gate AlGaN/GaN HEMT on Si substrate.

## 1.6 Degradation mechanisms and trapping effects

Although impressive results were published for GaN-based transistors in a large frequency range, the performance and the reliability demonstration is still limited by a number of mechanisms and conflicting mean time to failure (MTTF) data on existing device designs which are a very important subject of concern [79].

Recent researches have presented deeper insight into the origins of device degradation which are addressed in the following sections.

#### 1.6.1 Degradation mechanisms

Degradation mechanisms are the processes that occur in the device structure during an accelerated life test or operational life. They penalize the electrical performances and the reliability, and thus the lifetime of devices. Over the years, several failure mechanisms that limited device lifetime have been addressed.

In the figure 1.16 are reported a summary of the main failure mechanisms plaguing the GaN HEMT performances and reducing the device reliability.



Figure 1.16: Failure mechanisms identified on GaN based HEMTs. Red: Thermally-activated mechanisms/ Blue: mechanisms related to the presence of hot electrons (trapping effects)/ Green: mechanisms due to the polar and piezoelectric nature of the semiconductor material [80]

Failure mechanisms identified in red (5, 6, 7 and 8) refer to thermally activated degradation mechanisms, which have been previously observed in devices processed in other semiconductors systems such as Si, GaAs, InP, SiC, etc., and hence these failure mechanisms are more inherent to the metallization scheme rather than to the GaN material itself. Temperature has been identified as an accelerating factor for passivation stability and for contacts degradation.

Failure mechanisms identified in blue (2 and 3) are related to the presence of hot electrons, which are common to all high-voltage field-effect-transistors. Also hot-electrons related degradation has been largely reported in all the other semiconductor devices such as Si, GaAs, InP, etc.; hence, also these failure mechanisms are more inherent to the hot-electrons effects itself, rather than to the GaN material. Hot-electrons have been associated to trapping effects on the surface or within the semiconductor layers.

Finally, failure mechanisms identified in green (1 and 4) are peculiar to GaN devices due to the polar and piezoelectric nature of this semiconductor material. This opens a new window in the reliability physics study, since these mechanisms have never been clearly identified in the other semiconductors. They have been correlated with the gate-edge degradation or with bulk-trap generations.

In the following, degradation mechanisms typical of GaN materials are described with reference to the various technologies.

#### 1.6.1.1 Hot-electrons degradation effect

One well-known failure mechanism of early GaAs-based devices was hot electron-induced degradation [81]. It has been observed too in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs and is typically prominent at very high drain voltages, where electrons may be trapped on the device surface, in the AlGaN barrier layer or in the GaN buffer layer giving rise to reversible degradation of drain saturation current  $I_{DSS}$ and transconductance  $G_M$  [82, 83]and to an increase in drain resistance and a shift in threshold voltage [84].

The hot electrons can create defects or dangling bonds which may act as deep levels or traps. For these reasons, hot electron can be the origin of degradation processes and trapping phenomena within the passivation or GaN layers, as described in Figure 1.17.



right electric held region

Figure 1.17: Cross section of AlGaN/ GaN HEMT, identifying electrons achieving high energy and becoming "hot" [80]

Luminescence in HEMT is usually due to intra-band transitions of highly energetic electrons. In GaN devices, it can be due to band-to-band recombination typically associated with hot-electrons accelerated by the high longitudinal electric field in the channel, which scatters with charged centers releasing the energy in the form of photons [85, 86].

Hot-electron degradation has been proposed as the dominant failure mechanism on GaN based

HEMTs: Meneghesso et al. [81] have shown stronger performance reduction on semi-ON state stress with respect to ON-state (higher channel temperature) and OFF-state (higher electric field) stress, followed by a remarkable slow-trapping phenomena especially at the highest current tests. Coffie et al. [87] have presented a RF-power degradation with a negative activation energy, typical of hot-electron induced degradation. To avoid degradation by hot-electrons caused by the presence of high electric field in the gate-drain region, proper solutions are needed such as by adopting surface passivation and by realizing an extension of the gate metal to the region between the gate and the drain [4, 88, 89] so-called field plate.

#### 1.6.1.2 Inverse piezoelectric effect

Because of the piezoelectric nature of AlGaN and GaN, the lattice mismatch between the material interfaces results in significant tensile strain. Exceeding a critical voltage, leads to layer relaxation through crystallographic defect formation. It is possible that the defects could be electrically active and induce device degradation [90]. The inverse piezoelectric effect is a consequence of the application of high electric field to piezoelectric GaN and the resulting additional mechanical strain in the semiconductor can lead, in certain bias and temperature conditions, and in the presence of nucleation defects, to lattice damage and further defects formation [91]. In addition, induced piezoelectric strain/stress in gate-drain region under different bias conditions was evaluated by micro-Raman measurement [92]. Under high drain bias, a large electric field appears around the drain-side of the gate edge across barrier layer which induces a large amount of mechanical stress, and thus promotes the formation of crystallographic defects and relaxation of the strain when the electric field reaches a certain value. Cross sectional transmission electron microscope (TEM) results revealed the formation of pits or cracks in the AlGaN barrier layer close to the drain side. Energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) measurement found that the cavity formed during degradation was filled with  $SiN_x$  passivation material. The fact that the passivation layer flowed into the cavity and oxidation occurred implies that high temperature by joule heating is involved in this failure. Only the presence of a vertical crack can be supported by the inverse piezoelectric effect [93].

#### 1.6.1.3 Runaway effect

A new electric parasitic effect so called "electrical runaway mechanism" has been identified and characterized [94]. It is manifesting by an anomalous behavior of the gate current evolution as a function of  $V_{GD}$  on  $I_D$  ( $V_{DS}$ ) output characteristics and  $I_D$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) transfer characteristics in DC measurement. It consists of an important drop of output power correlated with a large negative increase of gate current with input power level in RF power measurement. As it can be observed in Figure 1.18, runaway mechanism takes place (red line) when the gate bias increases toward positive



Figure 1.18: (a)  $I_D$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristics at 125 °C, (b)  $I_G - V_{GS}$  characteristic at 125 °C, (GH50-10) Black: out of runaway operation/ Red: runaway operation/ Grey dots: runaway threshold [94]

value as the absolute gate current value increases too. Furthermore, the more the channel is open, the lower the  $V_{DS}$  runaway threshold voltage is.

The runaway mechanism has been correlated with tunnel effect conduction, since the increase rate of the gate current  $(dI_G/dV_{DS})$  versus  $V_{DS}$  has been found to not depend on temperature but on electric field distribution in the gate to drain spacing of the device [95]. Since runaway mechanism can be observed on non-aged devices, it might be attributed to the presence of inherent defects in the AlGaN layer [96]. Considering the deep insight electrical and optoelectrical measurement results, the physical mechanism inducing this new electrical parasitic effect is assumed to be uniformly distributed under the gate fingers area [97]. The runaway mechanism is strongly dependent on the quality of the Schottky contact and AlGaN barrier layer. Indeed, it has been found amplified during reliability aging test where Schottky contact degradation and defects creation in AlGaN barrier layer can be observed [96, 97]. In fact, it has been found to worsen throughout reliability aging test during which it can be observed a Schottky contact degradation and defects creation in AlGaN layer.

#### 1.6.2 Trapping effects

The trapping effects are the undesirable effects that appear on the I-V characteristics of fresh devices which may or not impact the lifetime of the device. They are induced by electron trapping at different locations of the device structure such as at the surface of the AlGaN layer near the gate edges or at the metal/AlGaN interface, inside the AlGaN or GaN layers or at the AlGaN/GaN interface. These effects are responsible for the degradation of electrical performances and have not been fully understood. Trapping-detrapping mechanisms induce electrical parasitic effects such as

current collapse or power slump, kink effect, belly shape...

Recently, intensive studies have been carried out to understand and mitigate the trapping effects in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs and several different techniques have been used, including current-mode Deep Level Transient Spectroscopy (DLTS), [98,99], conductance deep level transient spectroscopy (CDLTS) [100], transient drain current [101], gate leakage current [102] and threshold voltage [103] measurements at different temperatures as well as frequency dispersion in capacitance and conductance analysis [104].

#### 1.6.2.1 The kink effect

The kink effect is an anomalous increase in the drain current  $I_{DS}$  at a relatively low drain source voltage  $V_{DS}$  as shown in Figure 1.19, resulting from the shift in threshold voltage.



Figure 1.19: Forward I-V characteristics of a  $2 \times 25 \times 0.1 \ \mu m^2$  HEMT [105]

The mechanisms of kink effect are classified from three viewpoints and have been clearly summarized in [106]:

- channel impact-ionization and subsequent hole accumulation, leading to change of surface or channel/substrate interface potential [107]. Altuntas et al. [105] showed that kink effect takes origin from impact ionization of shallow levels in the vicinity of the gate, - field-dependent trapping/de-trapping in deep levels [108],

- a combined effect of impact ionization and deep levels, thereby generating holes and modifying the occupation state of the surface, and the bulk or channel/substrate interface deep levels [109].

Meneghesso et al. [110] suggested that the kink effect could be induced by interband impact ionization of electrons by slow traps in the epitaxial layers under the gate, possibly in the GaN buffer. Xu et al. [11] have reported that kink effect in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs can be decreased by using  $Al_2O_3$  passivation replacing  $Si_3N_4$ .

#### 1.6.2.2 The current collapse phenomena

Another important parameter in the evaluation of device reliability is current collapse or also named dispersion, current compression, power slump which is the reduction of drain current after the application of high voltage. This effect limits the performance of HEMTs in high power and high frequency applications.

The origin of current collapse was attributed to surface trapping, in the AlGaN barrier layer, or buffer trapping, in the GaN buffer layer. Kawanago et al. [112] studied the gate metal contribution to the current collapse in the AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. They suggested the involvement of electron trapping on the defects in the AlGaN layer, particularly at the gate edge on the drain side. Also, the nitrogen vacancies in the AlGaN layer were pointed out to be responsible for electron trapping in AlGaN layer. To determine a detailed degradation mechanism, it is very important to understand the trapping behavior, such as the physical locations, energy levels and trapping/detrapping time constants. Various trap characterization methods, such as deep-level transient spectroscopy (DLTS) [113,114], low-temperature Constant-Capacitance Deep-Level Transient Fourier Spectroscopy (CC-DLTFS) [115], frequency dependent capacitance and conductance measurements [104], and capacitancevoltage (C-V) measurements were employed to study trapping effects.

Possible mechanisms of the suppression of trapping effects by  $SiN_x$  passivation are:

- Passivation prevents the electrons from tunneling from the gate metal and the trap state density [116]

- Replacement of surface donors by the incorporation of passivation between Si and surface states [117].

An alternative  $Al_2O_3$  dielectric layer deposited by atomic layer deposition technique is shown to improve pulsed I-V and RF power performance over PECVD SiN [118].

Optimized surface field plate structure is effective for the suppression of the current collapse phenomena due to the relaxation of the electric field peak at the gate edge [119]. It was proven that the use of dual-FP approach is effective to achieve almost collapse free operation for multi-fingered AlGaN/GaN MOS-HEMTs with a total gate width of 10 *mm* [120].

#### 1.6.2.3 The Belly-Shape

Belly-shape (BS) is an electrical parasitic effect detected on the gate-source and gate-drain diodes forward current-voltage characteristics. The belly shape effect is characterized by higher gate current observed at low  $V_{GS}$  values on devices which have been submitted to HTRB [121] aging test or HTOL aging test [122]. As shown in Figure 1.20, the belly shape effect induced by a HTOL test is assumed to be a transient effect attributed to trapping mechanisms located beneath the gate in the gate/cap GaN interface or at the gate edges [122]. In addition, Brunel et al. [121] detected the "belly shape" effect on GaN based HEMTs that were stressed by HTRB aging test carried out at 175 °C up to 4000 hours. It has been attributed to lateral surface conduction and correlated with electroluminescence signature under diode forward biasing conditions but not under transistor pinch-off biasing conditions. The physical analyses have pointed out the formation and growing over time of pits and cracks, at the gate foot edge on the drain side, attributed to the inverse piezoelectric effect.



Figure 1.20: Forward gate current characteristics at  $V_{DS} = 0 V$  for a reference device, one stressed device without Belly Shape and 2 stressed devices with Belly Shape [122]

## 1.7 Reliability of HEMT with ultra-short gate

Gate length downscaling is one of the most effective methods to increase the static and the microwave performances in most semiconductor technologies, while keeping high aspect ratio. As the gate length scales down, the gate capacitance decreases and the electron velocity increases.

Up to now, only few papers have investigated on reliability assessment of ultra-short gate AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Si substrate. AlN/GaN-on-Si HFETs with 100 and 200 nm gate lengths have been tested in off-state stress test [123]. A 100 nm gate length GaN HEMT suitable for applications up to W-band frequencies has been investigated by on and off-state DC-stress tests. A life time higher than 10<sup>5</sup> hours was extrapolated using the constant current stress test at a base plate temperature of 125 °C [124]. A 150 nm T-gate length AlGaN/GaN HEMTs stressed in air failed faster

and at a lower junction temperature than those stressed in nitrogen atmosphere due to an oxide formation. The observed oxide formation for devices stressed in air was underneath the gate for T-gate devices, but at the drain edge of the gate between the gate foot and the field plate dielectric for field plate devices. When stressed in dry nitrogen gate sinking mechanism has been observed only in T gate devices [125]. In ref [126], GaN HEMT robustness was also evaluated by voltage step-stress tests showing that electrical stress degradation in the gate and drain currents is electric field driven.

The optimized heterostructure with gate length scaling and efficient process technique can provide improved DC and RF performances. In 2015, Jatal et al. demonstrated 80 nm gate length on Si substrate with  $f_T$  of 176 GHz and  $f_{MAX}$  of 70 GHz [66].

The classical approach of reducing sizes of current technologies seems to reach limits and leads to difficult and complex problems such as short channel effect, interconnections, tunnel effect, etc. Therefore, the features of nanodevices appear to be the key solutions facing the goal of more integration and more complexity.

## 1.8 Conclusion chapter 1

In this chapter, to illustrate the advantages of GaN-based semiconductors over its predecessors, the physical properties induced by the wurtzite GaN and group- Ill-nitride compound semiconductors have been discussed. These properties are important for the operation of devices fabricated from this class of materials and exhibit high levels of spontaneous and piezoelectric polarizations.

Then, the structure of GaN based HEMT and its operating principles have been explained. The reduction of the defect density and the improvement of GaN epitaxial techniques constitute a major challenge for the development of HEMTs. Applications and a state of the art of GaN based HEMT performance are then presented.

AlGaN/GaN HEMT is at the forefront of semiconductor research because of its excellent material properties and the presence of a high-mobility two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) at the heterointerface. It has demonstrated excellent high power and high frequency performance compared with counterparts based on other materials. However, HEMT reliability is still under investigation, due to the continuous evolution of the process and technologies, and the the lack of technological solutions of failure. Hence, before tremendous commercialization of GaN HEMTs, reliability has to be fully demonstrated and more investigation is needed to improve device technology, epitaxy, design and other performance limiting factors.

Not yet mature, GaN-based HEMTs are subject, in addition to the degradation mechanisms traditionally observed, to additional degradation mechanisms due to the physical properties of the materials constituting them. Indeed, the presence of traps located on the surface and in the GaN

buffer causes the appearance of parasitic effects which greatly degrade the electrical performance of HEMTs. In addition, the piezoelectric nature of the materials used, coupled with strong polarizations between the gate and the drain, cause the formation of crystalline defects which can also affect the electrical performance of HEMTs.

Thus, the final part of this chapter was devoted to reliability issues; accelerated life testing, and GaN HEMT recoverable (trapping effects) and non-recoverable (degradation mechanisms) degradations, that are prominent in the literature, were reviewed. A particular attention will be given to the GaN HEMT with ultra-short gate.

Following chapters summarize the targets of the thesis and the main results obtained.

## References Chapter 1

- [1] H. Okumura, "Present status and future prospect of widegap semiconductor high-power devices," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 45, no. 10R, p. 7565, 2006.
- [2] M. Shur, R. Gaska, A. Khan, and G. Simin, "Wide band gap electronic devices," in *Devices, Circuits and Systems, 2002. Proceedings of the Fourth IEEE International Caracas Conference on*, pp. D051-D051, IEEE, 2002.
- [3] B. Ozpineci and L. Tolbert, *Comparison of wide-bandgap semiconductors for power electronics applications*. United States. Department of Energy, 2004.
- [4] U. K. Mishra, P. Parikh, and Y.-F. Wu, "Algan/gan hemts-an overview of device operation and applications," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 1022–1031, 2002.
- [5] G. Nitride, "Gan systems," 2004-2017.
- [6] E. Johnson, "Physical limitations on frequency and power parameters of transistors," in 1958 IRE International Convention Record, vol. 13, pp. 27–34, IEEE, 1966.
- [7] B. Baliga, "Semiconductors for high-voltage, vertical channel field-effect transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 1759–1764, 1982.
- [8] A. H. Jarndal, *Large Signal Modeling of GaN Device for High Power Amplifier Design*. kassel university press GmbH, 2006.
- [9] O. Ambacher, "Growth and applications of group iii-nitrides," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 31, no. 20, p. 2653, 1998.
- [10] H. Morkoç, Handbook of nitride semiconductors and devices, Materials Properties, Physics and Growth, vol. 1. John Wiley & Sons, 2009.
- [11] K. Ploog, O. Brandt, H. Yang, J. Menniger, and R. Klann, "Interplay between growth kinetics and material quality of cubic gan," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 235–237, 1997.
- [12] H. Arabshahi and A. Mowlavi, "Low-field electron transport properties in zincblende and wurtzite gan structures using an iteration model for solving boltzmann equation," *Modern Physics Letters B*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 1359–1366, 2009.
- [13] M. Fujikane, A. Inoue, T. Yokogawa, S. Nagao, and R. Nowak, "Mechanical properties characterization of c-plane (0001) and m-plane (10-10) gan by nanoindentation examination," *physica status solidi (c)*, vol. 7, no. 7-8, pp. 1798–1800, 2010.

- [14] M. Fujikane, T. Yokogawa, S. Nagao, and R. Nowak, "Yield shear stress dependence on nanoindentation strain rate in bulk gan crystal," *physica status solidi (c)*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 429–431, 2011.
- [15] J. Serrano, A. Rubio, E. Hernández, A. Muñoz, and A. Mujica, "Theoretical study of the relative stability of structural phases in group-iii nitrides at high pressures," *Physical Review B*, vol. 62, no. 24, p. 16612, 2000.
- [16] K. Jung, M. Cho, and M. Zhou, "Structure and thermomechanical behavior of bent gan nanowires," *Computational Materials Science*, vol. 81, pp. 524–529, 2014.
- [17] E. Caridi, T. Chang, K. Goossen, and L. Eastman, "Direct demonstration of a misfit straingenerated electric field in a [111] growth axis zinc-blende heterostructure," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 659–661, 1990.
- [18] W. Chen and S. Hark, "Strain-induced effects in (III)-oriented inasp/inp, ingaas/inp, and ingaas/inalas quantum wells on inp substrates," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 77, no. 11, pp. 5747-5750, 1995.
- [19] E. Yu, X. Dang, P. Asbeck, S. Lau, and G. Sullivan, "Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization effects in iii-v nitride heterostructures," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 1742–1749, 1999.
- [20] R. M. Martin, "Piezoelectricity," Physical Review B, vol. 5, no. 4, p. 1607, 1972.
- [21] T. Li, R. Joshi, and C. Fazi, "Monte carlo evaluations of degeneracy and interface roughness effects on electron transport in algan-gan heterostructures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 829-837, 2000.
- [22] O. Ambacher, J. Smart, J. Shealy, N. Weimann, K. Chu, M. Murphy, W. Schaff, L. Eastman, R. Dimitrov, L. Wittmer, *et al.*, "Two-dimensional electron gases induced by spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization charges in n-and ga-face algan/gan heterostructures," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 3222–3233, 1999.
- [23] O. Ambacher, B. Foutz, J. Smart, J. Shealy, N. Weimann, K. Chu, M. Murphy, A. Sierakowski,
   W. Schaff, L. Eastman, *et al.*, "Two dimensional electron gases induced by spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization in undoped and doped algan/gan heterostructures," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 334-344, 2000.

- [24] M. Halsall, P. Harmer, P. Parbrook, and S. Henley, "Raman scattering and absorption study of the high-pressure wurtzite to rocksalt phase transition of gan," *Physical Review B*, vol. 69, no. 23, p. 235207, 2004.
- [25] H. Xiao, F. Gao, L. M. Wang, X. T. Zu, Y. Zhang, and W. J. Weber, "Structural phase transitions in high-pressure wurtzite to rocksalt phase in gan and sic," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 24, p. 241909, 2008.
- [26] Z. Dong and Y. Song, "Abnormal pressure-induced structural transformations of gallium nitride nanowires," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 15, p. 151903, 2010.
- [27] K. Jung, M. Cho, and M. Zhou, "Thermal and mechanical response of [0001]-oriented gan nanowires during tensile loading and unloading," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 112, no. 8, p. 083522, 2012.
- [28] J. Wang, A. Kulkarni, K. Sarasamak, S. Limpijumnong, F. Ke, and M. Zhou, "Molecular dynamics and density functional studies of a body-centered-tetragonal polymorph of zno," *Physical Review B*, vol. 76, no. 17, p. 172103, 2007.
- [29] Y. Yao and D. D. Klug, "B 4- b 1 phase transition of gan under isotropic and uniaxial compression," *Physical Review B*, vol. 88, no. 1, p. 014113, 2013.
- [30] G. V. Karas, New Developments in Crystal Growth Research. Nova Publishers, 2005.
- [31] B. K. Jebalin, A. S. Rekh, P. Prajoon, D. Godwinraj, N. M. Kumar, and D. Nirmal, "Unique model of polarization engineered algan/gan based hemts for high power applications," *Superlattices and Microstructures*, vol. 78, pp. 210–223, 2015.
- [32] F. Bernardini, V. Fiorentini, and D. Vanderbilt, "Spontaneous polarization and piezoelectric constants of iii-v nitrides," *Physical Review B*, vol. 56, no. 16, p. R10024, 1997.
- [33] T. Mimura, S. Hiyamizu, T. Fujii, and K. Nanbu, "A new field-effect transistor with selectively doped gaas/n-alxgal-xas heterojunctions," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 19, no. 5, p. L225, 1980.
- [34] J. W. Orton, The story of semiconductors. Oxford University Press, 2004.
- [35] M. Asif Khan, A. Bhattarai, J. Kuznia, and D. Olson, "High electron mobility transistor based on a gan-al x gal- x n heterojunction," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 1214–1215, 1993.

- [36] A. Kawano, N. Adachi, Y. Tateno, S.-y. Mizuno, N. Ui, J.-i. Nikaido, and S. Sano, "High-efficiency and wide-band single-ended 200w gan hemt power amplifier for 2.1 ghz w-cdma base station application," in *Microwave Conference Proceedings, 2005. APMC 2005. Asia-Pacific Conference Proceedings*, vol. 3, pp. 4-pp, IEEE, 2005.
- [37] C.-H. Chang, H.-T. Hsu, L.-C. Huang, C.-Y. Chiang, and E. Y. Chang, "Fabrication of algan/gan high electron mobility transistors (hemts) on silicon substrate with slant field plates using deep-uv lithography featuring 5w/mm power density at x-band," in *Microwave Conference Proceedings (APMC), 2012 Asia-Pacific*, pp. 941–943, IEEE, 2012.
- [38] S. L. Selvaraj, A. Watanabe, A. Wakejima, and T. Egawa, "1.4-kv breakdown voltage for algan/gan high-electron-mobility transistors on silicon substrate," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1375–1377, 2012.
- [39] W. Saito, T. Nitta, Y. Kakiuchi, Y. Saito, K. Tsuda, I. Omura, and M. Yamaguchi, "On-resistance modulation of high voltage gan hemt on sapphire substrate under high applied voltage," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 676–678, 2007.
- [40] X. Wang, C. Wang, G. Hu, J. Wang, T. Chen, G. Jiao, J. Li, Y. Zeng, and J. Li, "Improved dc and rf performance of algan/gan hemts grown by mocvd on sapphire substrates," *Solid-state electronics*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 1387-1390, 2005.
- [41] M.-A. di Forte Poisson, M. Magis, M. Tordjman, R. Aubry, N. Sarazin, M. Peschang, E. Morvan, S. Delage, J. Di Persio, R. Quéré, *et al.*, "Lp-mocvd growth of gaaln/gan heterostructures on silicon carbide: application to hemt devices," *Journal of crystal growtb*, vol. 272, no. 1, pp. 305–311, 2004.
- [42] T. Egawa, "Development of next generation devices amidst global competition due to their huge market potential," *Ultimate in Vacuum ULVAC*, no. 63, pp. 18–21, 2012.
- [43] M. R. Ramdani, M. Chmielowska, Y. Cordier, S. Chenot, and F. Semond, "Effect of carbon doping on crystal quality, electrical isolation and electron trapping in gan based structures grown silicon substrates," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 75, pp. 86–92, 2012.
- [44] T.-S. Ko, D.-Y. Lin, C.-F. Lin, C.-W. Chang, J.-C. Zhang, and S.-J. Tu, "High-temperature carrier density and mobility enhancements in algan/gan hemt using aln spacer layer," *Journal* of Crystal Growtb, vol. 464, pp. 175–179, 2017.
- [45] T. Palacios, "Beyond the algan/gan hemt: new concepts for high-speed transistors," *physica status solidi (a)*, vol. 206, no. 6, pp. 1145-1148, 2009.

- [46] M. Micovic, A. Kurdoghlian, P. Janke, P. Hashimoto, D. W. Wong, J. S. Moon, L. McCray, and C. Nguyen, "Algan/gan heterojunction field effect transistors grown by nitrogen plasma assisted molecular beam epitaxy," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 591– 596, 2001.
- [47] Y. Douvry, Étude de HEMTs AlGaN/GaN à grand développement pour la puissance hyperfréquence: conception et fabrication, caractérisation et fiabilité. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2012.
- [48] M. P. I. for Solid State Research, "Oxide mbe system," 2003-2017.
- [49] A. Curutchet, *Etude du bruit aux basses fréquences dans les transistors à Haute Mobilité Electronique à base de Nitrure de Gallium.* PhD thesis, Bordeaux 1, 2005.
- [50] N. Chaturvedi, Development and study of AlGaN/GaN microwave transistors for high power operation.
- [51] B. J. Baliga, "Gallium nitride devices for power electronic applications," Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 28, no. 7, p. 074011, 2013.
- [52] U. K. Mishra, L. Shen, T. E. Kazior, and Y.-F. Wu, "Gan-based rf power devices and amplifiers," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 96, no. 2, pp. 287–305, 2008.
- [53] D. Marti, S. Tirelli, A. R. Alt, J. Roberts, and C. Bolognesi, "150-ghz cutoff frequencies and 2-w/mm output power at 40 ghz in a millimeter-wave algan/gan hemt technology on silicon," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1372–1374, 2012.
- [54] S. Bentley, X. Li, D. Moran, and I. Thayne, "Fabrication of 22nm t-gates for hemt applications," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 85, no. 5, pp. 1375–1378, 2008.
- [55] K. Shinohara, D. Regan, A. Corrion, D. Brown, Y. Tang, J. Wong, G. Candia, A. Schmitz, H. Fung, S. Kim, *et al.*, "Self-aligned-gate gan-hemts with heavily-doped n+-gan ohmic contacts to 2deg," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2012 IEEE International*, pp. 27–2, IEEE, 2012.
- [56] Y. Tang, K. Shinohara, D. Regan, A. Corrion, D. Brown, J. Wong, A. Schmitz, H. Fung, S. Kim, and M. Micovic, "Ultrahigh-speed gan high-electron-mobility transistors with ft/fmax of 454/444 ghz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 549–551, 2015.
- [57] D. S. Lee, J. W. Chung, H. Wang, X. Gao, S. Guo, P. Fay, and T. Palacios, "245-ghz inaln/gan hemts with oxygen plasma treatment," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 755– 757, 2011.

- [58] D. S. Lee, X. Gao, S. Guo, D. Kopp, P. Fay, and T. Palacios, "300-ghz inaln/gan hemts with ingan back barrier," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 1525–1527, 2011.
- [59] Y. Yue, Z. Hu, J. Guo, B. Sensale-Rodriguez, G. Li, R. Wang, F. Faria, T. Fang, B. Song, X. Gao, *et al.*, "Inaln/aln/gan hemts with regrown ohmic contacts and  $f_{T}$  of 370 ghz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 988–990, 2012.
- [60] Y. Yue, Z. Hu, J. Guo, B. Sensale-Rodriguez, G. Li, R. Wang, F. Faria, B. Song, X. Gao, S. Guo, et al., "Ultrascaled inaln/gan high electron mobility transistors with cutoff frequency of 400 ghz," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 52, no. 8S, p. 08JNI4, 2013.
- [61] P. Murugapandiyan, S. Ravimaran, and J. William, "Static and dynamic characteristics of lg 50ánm inaln/aln/gan hemt with algan back-barrier for high power millimeter wave applications," *Journal of Science: Advanced Materials and Devices*, 2017.
- [62] Y.-K. Lin, S. Noda, C.-C. Huang, H.-C. Lo, C.-H. Wu, Q. H. Luc, P.-C. Chang, H.-T. Hsu, S. Samukawa, and E. Y. Chang, "High-performance gan moshemts fabricated with ald al 2 o 3 dielectric and nbe gate recess technology for high frequency power applications," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 771-774, 2017.
- [63] H. Tingting, D. Shaobo, L. Yuanjie, G. Guodong, S. Xubo, W. Yuangang, X. Peng, and F. Zhihong, "70-nm-gated inaln/gan hemts grown on sic substrate with ft/fmax> 160 ghzproject supported by the national natural science foundation of china (no. 61306113).," *Journal of Semiconductors*, vol. 37, no. 2, p. 024007, 2016.
- [64] D. Geum, S. Shin, M. Kim, and J. Jang, "75 nm t-shaped gate for inO. 17alO. 83n/gan hemts with minimal short-channel effect," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 49, no. 24, pp. 1536–1537, 2013.
- [65] B. P. Downey, D. J. Meyer, D. S. Katzer, J. A. Roussos, M. Pan, and X. Gao, "Sinx /inaln/aln/gan mis-hemts with 10.8 thzv johnson figure of merit," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 527–529, 2014.
- [66] W. Jatal, U. Baumann, K. Tonisch, F. Schwierz, and J. Pezoldt, "High-frequency performance of gan high-electron mobility transistors on 3c-sic/si substrates with au-free ohmic contacts," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 123–125, 2015.
- [67] H. Zhou, X. Lou, K. Sutherlin, J. Summers, S. B. Kim, K. D. Chabak, R. G. Gordon, and D. Y. Peide, "Dc and rf performance of algan/gan/sic moshemts with deep sub-micron t-gates and atomic layer epitaxy mgcao as gate dielectric," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1409–1412, 2017.

- [68] F. Medjdoub, M. Zegaoui, and N. Rolland, "Beyond 100 ghz aln/gan hemts on silicon substrate," *Electronics letters*, vol. 47, no. 24, pp. 1345–1346, 2011.
- [69] D. Schwantuschke, P. Brückner, R. Quay, M. Mikulla, and O. Ambacher, "High-gain millimeterwave algan/gan transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3112– 3118, 2013.
- [70] A. Crespo, M. Bellot, K. Chabak, J. Gillespie, G. Jessen, V. Miller, M. Trejo, G. Via, D. Walker, B. Winningham, *et al.*, "High-power ka-band performance of alinn/gan hemt with 9.8-nm-thin barrier," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 2–4, 2010.
- [71] F. Medjdoub, N. Waldhoff, M. Zegaoui, B. Grimbert, N. Rolland, and P. Rolland, "Low-noise microwave performance of aln/gan hemts grown on silicon substrate," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1230–1232, 2011.
- [72] M. Kanamura, T. Ohki, T. Kikkawa, K. Imanishi, T. Imada, A. Yamada, and N. Hara, "Enhancement-mode gan mis-hemts with n-gan/i-aln/n-gan triple cap layer and high-k gate dielectrics," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 189–191, 2010.
- [73] P. Srivastava, J. Das, D. Visalli, M. Van Hove, P. E. Malinowski, D. Marcon, S. Lenci, K. Geens, K. Cheng, M. Leys, *et al.*, "Record breakdown voltage (2200 v) of gan dhfets on si with 2-μ m buffer thickness by local substrate removal," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 30–32, 2011.
- [74] K. M. Lau, H. W. Choi, S.-W. R. Lee, P. K. Mok, J. K. Sin, C. P. Yue, and W.-H. Ki, "Cost-effective and eco-friendly led system-on-a-chip (soc)," in *Solid State Lighting (ChinaSSL), 2013 10th China International Forum on*, pp. 235–238, IEEE, 2013.
- [75] Z. J. Liu, T. Huang, J. Ma, C. Liu, and K. M. Lau, "Monolithic integration of algan/gan hemt on led by mocvd," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 330–332, 2014.
- [76] K. Neubeck, Practical reliability analysis. Prentice Hall, 2004.
- [77] A. Ionascut-Nedelcescu, C. Carlone, A. Houdayer, H. Von Bardeleben, J.-L. Cantin, and S. Raymond, "Radiation hardness of gallium nitride," *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 2733–2738, 2002.
- [78] D. J. Cheney, E. A. Douglas, L. Liu, C.-F. Lo, B. P. Gila, F. Ren, and S. J. Pearton, "Degradation mechanisms for gan and gaas high speed transistors," *Materials*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 2498–2520, 2012.

- [79] A. Sozza, A. Curutchet, C. Dua, N. Malbert, N. Labat, and A. Touboul, "Algan/gan hemt reliability assessment by means of low frequency noise measurements," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1725–1730, 2006.
- [80] G. Meneghesso, M. Meneghini, A. Tazzoli, A. Stocco, A. Chini, E. Zanoni, et al., "Reliability issues of gallium nitride high electron mobility transistors," *International Journal of Microwave and Wireless Technologies*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 39–50, 2010.
- [81] G. Meneghesso, G. Verzellesi, F. Danesin, F. Rampazzo, F. Zanon, A. Tazzoli, M. Meneghini, and E. Zanoni, "Reliability of gan high-electron-mobility transistors: State of the art and perspectives," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 332– 343, 2008.
- [82] G. Koley, V. Tilak, L. F. Eastman, and M. G. Spencer, "Slow transients observed in algan/gan hfets: effects of sin/sub x/passivation and uv illumination," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 886–893, 2003.
- [83] Y. Inoue, S. Masuda, M. Kanamura, T. Ohki, K. Makiyama, N. Okamoto, K. Imanishi, T. Kikkawa, N. Hara, H. Shigematsu, *et al.*, "Degradation-mode analysis for highly reliable gan-hemt," in *Microwave Symposium*, 2007. *IEEE/MTT-S International*, pp. 639–642, IEEE, 2007.
- [84] H. Kim, V. Tilak, B. Green, J. Smart, W. Schaff, J. Shealy, and L. Eastman, "Reliability evaluation of high power algan/gan hemts on sic substrate," *physica status solidi (a)*, vol. 188, no. 1, pp. 203–206, 2001.
- [85] N. Shigekawa, K. Shiojima, and T. Suemitsu, "Electroluminescence characterization of algan/gan high-electron-mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 79, no. 8, pp. 1196– 1198, 2001.
- [86] N. Shigekawa, K. Shiojima, and T. Suemitsu, "Optical study of high-biased algan/gan highelectron-mobility transistors," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 531-535, 2002.
- [87] R. Coffie, Y. Chen, I. Smorchkova, B. Heying, V. Gambin, W. Sutton, Y.-C. Chou, W.-B. Luo, M. Wojtowicz, and A. Oki, "Temperature and voltage dependent rf degradation study in algan/gan hemts," in *Reliability physics symposium, 2007. proceedings. 45tb annual. ieee international*, pp. 568–569, IEEE, 2007.
- [88] H. Xu, C. Sanabria, Y. Wei, S. Heikman, S. Keller, U. Mishra, and R. York, "Characterization of two field-plated gan hemt structures," in *IEEE Topical workshop on power amplifiers for wireless communications*, 2004.

- [89] S. Karmalkar and U. K. Mishra, "Enhancement of breakdown voltage in algan/gan high electron mobility transistors using a field plate," *IEEE transactions on electron devices*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1515–1521, 2001.
- [90] E. Douglas, C.-Y. Chang, T. Anderson, J. Hite, L. Lu, C.-F. Lo, B.-H. Chu, D. Cheney, B. Gila, F. Ren, *et al.*, "Degradation of sub-micron gate algan/gan hemts due to reverse gate bias," in *Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report (IRW), 2010 IEEE International*, pp. 125–128, IEEE, 2010.
- [91] M. Ancona, S. Binari, and D. Meyer, "Fully coupled thermoelectromechanical analysis of gan high electron mobility transistor degradation," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 111, no. 7, p. 074504, 2012.
- [92] A. Sarua, H. Ji, M. Kuball, M. Uren, T. Martin, K. Nash, K. Hilton, and R. Balmer, "Piezoelectric strain in al ga n/ ga n heterostructure field-effect transistors under bias," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 88, no. 10, p. 103502, 2006.
- [93] S. Park, C. Floresca, U. Chowdhury, J. L. Jimenez, C. Lee, E. Beam, P. Saunier, T. Balistreri, and M. J. Kim, "Physical degradation of gan hemt devices under high drain bias reliability testing," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 478-483, 2009.
- [94] L. Brunel, B. Lambert, D. Carisetti, N. Malbert, A. Curutchet, and N. Labat, "Electrical runaway in algan/gan hemts: Physical mechanisms and impact on reliability," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 1548–1553, 2017.
- [95] A. Nakajima, K. Itagaki, and K. Horio, "Physical mechanism of buffer-related lag and current collapse in gan-based fets and their reduction by introducing a field plate," in *Reliability Physics Symposium, 2009 IEEE International*, pp. 722–726, IEEE, 2009.
- [96] D. Marcon, G. Meneghesso, T.-L. Wu, S. Stoffels, M. Meneghini, E. Zanoni, and S. Decoutere, "Reliability analysis of permanent degradations on algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3132–3141, 2013.
- [97] O. Lazr, J.-G. Tartarin, B. Lambert, C. Moreau, J. Roux, and J. Muraro, "New approach for an accurate schottky barrier height's extraction by ivt measurements," in *Microwave Symposium* (IMS), 2015 IEEE MTT-S International, pp. 1–4, IEEE, 2015.
- [98] A. Zhang, L. Rowland, E. Kaminsky, V. Tilak, J. Grande, J. Teetsov, A. Vertiatchikh, and L. Eastman, "Correlation of device performance and defects in algan/gan high-electron mobility transistors," *Journal of electronic materials*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 388–394, 2003.

- [99] H. Kim, A. Vertiatchikh, R. M. Thompson, V. Tilak, T. R. Prunty, J. R. Shealy, and L. F. Eastman, "Hot electron induced degradation of undoped algan/gan hfets," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 823–827, 2003.
- [100] M. Gassoumi, M. B. Salem, S. Saadaoui, B. Grimbert, J. Fontaine, H. Maaref, et al., "The effects of gate length variation and trapping effects on the transient response of algan/gan hemt's on sic substrates," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 370–372, 2011.
- [101] O. Mitrofanov, M. Manfra, and N. Weimann, "Impact of si doping on radio frequency dispersion in unpassivated gan/algan/gan high-electron-mobility transistors grown by plasma-assisted molecular-beam epitaxy," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 82, no. 24, pp. 4361-4363, 2003.
- [102] W. Tan, P. Houston, P. Parbrook, D. Wood, G. Hill, and C. Whitehouse, "Gate leakage effects and breakdown voltage in metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy algan/gan heterostructure fieldeffect transistors," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 80, no. 17, pp. 3207–3209, 2002.
- [103] P. Kordoš, D. Donoval, M. Florovi, J. Ková, and D. Gregušová, "Investigation of trap effects in al ga n/ ga n field-effect transistors by temperature dependent threshold voltage analysis," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 15, p. 152113, 2008.
- [104] L. Semra, A. Telia, and A. Soltani, "Trap characterization in algan/gan hemt by analyzing frequency dispersion in capacitance and conductance," *Surface and Interface Analysis*, vol. 42, no. 6-7, pp. 799-802, 2010.
- [105] P. Altuntas, N. Defrance, M. Lesecq, A. Agboton, R. Ouhachi, E. Okada, C. Gaquiere, J.-C. De Jaeger, E. Frayssinet, and Y. Cordier, "On the correlation between kink effect and effective mobility in inaln/gan hemts," in *European Microwave Integrated Circuit Conference (EuMIC)*, 2014 9tb, pp. 88–91, IEEE, 2014.
- [106] J. Haruyama, H. Negishi, Y. Nishimura, and Y. Nashimoto, "Substrate-related kink effects with a strong light-sensitivity in algaas/ingaas phemt," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 25–33, 1997.
- [107] M. H. Somerville, A. Ernst, and J. A. del Alamo, "A physical model for the kink effect in inalas/ingaas hemts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 922-930, 2000.
- [108] C. Canali, F. Magistrali, A. Paccagnella, M. Sangalli, C. Tedesco, and E. Zanoni, "Trap-related effects in algaas/gaas hemts," *IEE Proceedings G (Circuits, Devices and Systems)*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 104–108, 1991.

- [109] A. Mazzanti, G. Verzellesi, C. Canali, G. Meneghesso, and E. Zanoni, "Physics-based explanation of kink dynamics in algaas/gaas hfets," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 383–385, 2002.
- [110] G. Meneghesso, F. Zanon, M. J. Uren, and E. Zanoni, "Anomalous kink effect in gan high electron mobility transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 100–102, 2009.
- [11] D. Xu, K. Chu, J. Diaz, W. Zhu, R. Roy, L. M. Pleasant, K. Nichols, P.-C. Chao, M. Xu, and D. Y. Peide, "0.2-um algan/gan high electron-mobility transistors with atomic layer deposition al203 passivation," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 744-746, 2013.
- [112] T. Kawanago, K. Kakushima, Y. Kataoka, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, H. Wakabayashi, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, and H. Iwai, "Gate technology contributions to collapse of drain current in algan/gan schottky hemt," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 785–792, 2014.
- [113] M. Gassoumi, J. Bluet, C. Gaquière, G. Guillot, and H. Maaref, "Deep levels and nonlinear characterization of algan/gan hemts on silicon carbide substrate," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 1161-1165, 2009.
- [114] M. Faqir, G. Verzellesi, F. Fantini, F. Danesin, F. Rampazzo, G. Meneghesso, E. Zanoni, A. Cavallini, A. Castaldini, N. Labat, *et al.*, "Characterization and analysis of trap-related effects in algangan hemts," *Microelectronics reliability*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1639–1642, 2007.
- [115] X. Wang, X. Kang, J. Zhang, K. Wei, S. Huang, and X. Liu, "Investigation of current collapse mechanism of lpcvd si 3 n 4 passivated algan/gan hemts by fast soft-switched currentdlts and cc-dltfs," in *Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's (ISPSD), 2017 29th International Symposium on*, pp. 231–234, IEEE, 2017.
- [116] X. Lu, K. Yu, H. Jiang, A. Zhang, and K. M. Lau, "Study of interface traps in algan/gan mishemts using lpcvd sin x as gate dielectric," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 824–831, 2017.
- [117] R. Vetury, N. Q. Zhang, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "The impact of surface states on the dc and rf characteristics of algan/gan hfets," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 560–566, 2001.
- [118] A. Richter, Aluminum oxide for the surface passivation of high efficiency silicon solar cells: Technology and advanced characterization. PhD thesis, Fraunhofer Verl., 2015.
- [119] W. Saito, T. Nitta, Y. Kakiuchi, Y. Saito, K. Tsuda, I. Omura, and M. Yamaguchi, "Suppression of dynamic on-resistance increase and gate charge measurements in high-voltage gan-hemts

with optimized field-plate structure," *IEEE transactions on electron devices*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1825-1830, 2007.

- [120] R. Yamaguchi, Y. Suzuki, J. Asubar, H. Tokuda, and M. Kuzuhara, "Reduced current collapse in multi-fingered algan/gan mos-hemts with dual field plate," in *Future of Electron Devices, Kansai (IMFEDK), 2017 IEEE International Meeting for*, pp. 92–93, IEEE, 2017.
- [121] L. Brunel, B. Lambert, P. Mezenge, J. Bataille, D. Floriot, J. Grünenpütt, H. Blanck, D. Carisetti,
   Y. Gourdel, N. Malbert, *et al.*, "Analysis of schottky gate degradation evolution in algan/gan hemts during htrb stress," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 1450–1455, 2013.
- [122] M. Rzin, A. Curutchet, N. Labat, N. Malbert, L. Brunel, and B. Lambert, "Schottky gate of algan/gan hemts: investigation with dc and low frequency noise measurements after 7000 hours htol test," in *Noise and Fluctuations (ICNF), 2015 International Conference on*, pp. 1–4, IEEE, 2015.
- [123] G. Meneghesso, M. Meneghini, F. Medjdoub, Y. Tagro, B. Grimbert, D. Ducatteau, N. Rolland, R. Silvestri, and E. Zanoni, "First reliability demonstration of sub-200-nm aln/gan-on-silicon double-heterostructure hemts for ka-band applications," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 480-488, 2013.
- [124] M. Dammann, M. Baeumler, R. Anto, H. Konstanzer, P. Bruckner, V. Polyakov, M. Wespel, S. Müller, D. Schwantuschke, S. Maroldt, *et al.*, "Reliability of gan hemts with a 100 nm gate length under dc-stress tests," in *Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report (IIRW), 2014 IEEE International*, pp. 115–118, IEEE, 2014.
- [125] S. D. Burnham, R. Bowen, P. Willadsen, H. Bracamontes, P. Hashimoto, M. Hu, D. Wong, M. Chen, and M. Micovic, "Reliability of t-gate algan/gan hemts," *physica status solidi (c)*, vol. 8, no. 7-8, pp. 2399–2403, 2011.
- [126] X. Wang, L. Pang, J. Wang, T. Yuan, W. Luo, X. Chen, and X. Liu, "Degradation of gan highelectron mobility transistors in voltage step stress," in *Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report (IRW), 2012 IEEE International*, pp. 122–124, IEEE, 2012.

chapter 1

66

## Chapter 2

# Device description and electrical characterization before aging tests

## 2.1 Introduction

AlGaN/GaN HEMTs were processed at IEMN Lille, France (Epitaxy provided by CHREA). Two technologies were provided; devices grown by metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and devices grown using Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE).

In this chapter, the technology of the devices under test is described and then, the electrical characterization is detailed. The results of the MOCVD and MBE grown HEMTs, which have been used for experiments in this thesis, are discussed.

A characterization campaign is performed on the devices of both technologies with a measurement protocol established in the framework of this work. It comprises:

- DC characterization: The drain output characteristics  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ), the transfer and transconductance characteristics  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) are measured. The quality of the Schottky contact is evaluated by measuring the gate Schottky diode characteristic  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ).

- RF characterization to determine the frequency performances of the components: The cut-off frequency  $f_T$  and the maximum oscillation frequency  $f_{MAX}$  are extracted.

We also got interested in the impact of the topology in terms of gate length, gate-drain distance and gate-source distance, on static and microwave performances. Electrical characterization of AlGaN/GaN HEMT devices in this chapter will give information about the electrical performances of both technologies under test and will provide a basis for the selection of devices to be stressed.

## 2.2 Devices under test

IEMN Lille has developed two GaN fabrication processes based on epitaxy of GaN and AlGaN layers grown by MOCVD or MBE on Si substrate. There are differences of epitaxial layers and geometry between both processes.

Figure 2.1 shows AlGaN/GaN MOCVD HEMT wafer and AlGaN/GaN MBE HEMT wafer.



Figure 2.1: AlGaN/GaN HEMT wafers (a) grown by MOCVD, (b) grown by MBE

The epitaxial structure of the AlGaN/GaN MOCVD HEMTs under test is grown on silicon (III) substrate. A 0.2  $\mu$ m thick AlN nucleation layer was grown directly on the substrate, followed by a 0.7  $\mu$ m thick NID GaN buffer layer, a 1 nm thick AlN interlayer, a 15 nm Al<sub>0.31</sub>Ga<sub>0.69</sub>N barrier layer and a 4 nm thick SiN cap layer. The use of the AlN interlayer included between the AlGaN barrier and GaN bulk aims improving the electron confinement and the electron mobility in the 2DEG channel [1]. The 2DEG charge density  $N_S$  is  $1 \times 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-2}$  and the electron mobility is evaluated to 1540  $\text{cm}^2/\text{V.s}$  by means of HALL measurement. Devices were processed at IEMN with Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact and Ni/Au metallization for Schottky contact. Devices were passivated by PECVD with 50 nm SiN/100 nm SiO<sub>2</sub>. Devices with two gate fingers are patterned with different gate lengths  $L_G$  =75, 100, 150 nm and a total gate development of 2 × 25  $\mu$ m. The gate-source distance is 600 nm for all devices and the drain-source distance is varying from 1.5 to 5.5  $\mu$ m.

Figure 2.2 shows the cross section of GaN HEMTs epitaxial structure grown by MOCVD.

The MBE-grown devices are fabricated on silicon (III) substrate. A 44 nm thick AlN layer was grown directly on the substrate, followed by a 250 nm thick  $Al_{0.15}Ga_{0.85}N$  layer and a 0.13  $\mu m$  thick AlN layer. Next, a 1.73  $\mu m$  thick GaN channel layer was grown followed by 1 nm thick AlN interlayer. Finally, a 10 nm thick  $Al_{0.29}Ga_{0.71}N$  barrier was grown and capped by a 0.5 nm thick



Figure 2.2: Epitaxial structure of GaN HEMTs grown by MOCVD

GaN layer. The devices were also processed at IEMN. The HEMTs are of  $2 \times 50 \ \mu m$  wide, with a gate length of 75, 100 and 150 *nm*. The source-drain distance is 2.65  $\mu m$  for all devices and the source-gate distance is ranging from 1.13 to 1.23  $\mu m$ 

The epitaxial structure of the GaN HEMTs grown by MBE is shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Epitaxial structure of GaN HEMTs grown by MBE

The distribution of the electric field in the channel is non-homogeneous in the HEMTs [2]. When the transistor is polarized by a drain-source voltage, the electric field in the gate-drain region registers a drastic increase with a peak at the gate exit drain side [3]. This sudden increase of the electric field at the output of the gate may cause electrical parasitic effects which can lead to the deterioration of the component. Therefore, the increase in the gate-drain distance becomes necessary in order to reduce the peak at the output of the gate thanks to a better distribution of the electric field. The reduction of the gate-source distance leads to the reduction of the source resistance and thus allows the improvement of component performances. Indeed, the parasitic

resistance of the source  $R_S$  is given by the following equation:

$$R_S = \frac{R_C}{W} + \frac{R_{\Box}L_{GS}}{W} \tag{2.1}$$

Where  $R_C$ , W,  $R_{\Box}$  and  $L_{GS}$  represent the contact resistance, the development of the transistor (or gate width), the sheet resistance and the gate-source distance respectively.

The widening of the gate-drain distance favors the interaction of the surface states with the bidimensional electron gas and the decrease of the electric field on the drain side, which leads to a higher breakdown voltage. Therefore, a compromise must be reached to combine better electric field in the channel with low parasitic capacitances.

In order to reduce the electric field, a reduction of current collapse phenomena due to surface traps [4,5], have to be made by using surface passivation as is the case of devices under test.

The technology under study in this thesis does not use field plate because the goal was to develop transistors operating at high frequency, even though this specific technique may have some advantages in terms of field spreading. It is consisting of an extension of the gate metal to the region between the gate and the drain [6-8], it has been used to suppress gate breakdown, and permits high bias voltages to be applied [9]. As described by Karmalkar et al. [10], field plates act to smoothen the electric field across the device channel and reduce the electric field peak at the gate exit. This means that the electric field distribution is improved [11,12].

Field-plated HEMTs when biased at  $V_{DS} = 120 V$  have produced over 30 W/mm RF power density in S-band [13], and over 5 W/mm at 30 GHz with a drain bias of  $V_{DS} = 30 V$  [14,15]. However, field plates connected to the source and gate contacts introduce an additional capacitance, which lead to increased switching times and reduced bandwidth for broadband amplifiers, and also reduce the transconductance of the transistor. Therefore degradation in frequency performances occurs. For this reason, a minimum field-plate length must be employed [16].

## 2.3 Technology

In this part, we will briefly focus on the different steps of the fabrication process of the HEMTs. In particular, we will highlight the optimization done for some processing steps which helped producing transistors having sub micrometric gates and then reaching low leakage current and high breakdown voltage.

These technologies, developed for applications in the millimeter wave range (frequency range from 30 GHz to 300 GHz), include technological specificities such as a gate length of 150 nm and below. In such conditions, it can be shown that the barrier layer thickness must be less than 10 nm in order to respect the transistor aspect ratio (gate length  $L_G$  over barrier thickness ratio  $t_{bar}$ ) coupled with a good carrier density  $N_s$  in the channel. The aspect ratio between the gate

70

#### 2.3. TECHNOLOGY

length and the AlGaN barrier thickness should ideally be greater than 15 for the AlGaN / GaN HEMT in order to prevent short channel effects while improving the static and microwave performances of the component [2]. Indeed, such short gate lengths, are accompanied by the appearance of parasitic electrostatic effect, known as "the short channel", which heavily affect both the DC and the RF performances of the device [17-19]. This effect disturbs the good control by the voltage  $V_{GS}$ of the conductivity between the source and the drain, which contributes to the degradation of the transconductance. Additionally, it contributes to the increase of the output conductance, limiting the performance in terms of cut-off frequencies. Respecting the aspect ratio quantity improves the gate control on the channel and considerably reduces the transistor output conductance. Electron-beam lithography enables processing patterns with a resolution around ten nanometers.

The HEMTs studied in the framework of this thesis have a standard topology with two gate fingers, two source contacts and a drain contact.

Figure 2.4 shows the schematic representation of a coplanar transistor.



Figure 2.4: Schematic representation of a coplanar transistor

The main technological steps are chronologically described in the following.

#### 2.3.1 Alignment marks

The alignment marks correspond to reference points on the sample in order to position the electron beam and consequently align and write the different mask levels with a theoretical resolution of 5 nm.

The electro sensitive resin bilayer used leads to obtain a cap-shaped profile after chemical revelation, which promotes the lift-off operation after metallization by evaporation of a metal stack of Molybdenum / Nickel / Molybdenum (20 / 40 / 70 nm). The composition of this stack of metals is imposed by the fact that Molybdenum (Mo) is a highly constrained refractory metal, which has a melting point of 2617 °C. Thus, a thin layer of Nickel (Ni), which has a melting temperature of 1450 °C, is inserted between two layers of Molybdenum (Mo) in order to moderate the Mo layer inner strain. The thickness of the each metal layer is chosen so as to obtain a sufficiently high
contrast between the masker and the semiconductor surface.

However, after the ohmic contacts annealing at a temperature above 850 °C, the surface of the Mo-based marks becomes very rough and the contrast of the mask with the semiconductor surface is deteriorated. This makes the research phase of the marks very complex especially when in the case of aligning the gate between the drain and the source contacts.

In order to solve this penalizing contrast problem, a thin layer of  $10 \ nm$  Gold (Au) was added to the Molybdenum based stack during evaporation. The new gate metal stack is thus composed of Mo / Ni / Mo / Au.

### 2.3.2 Ohmic contact formation

An ohmic contact is a metal / semiconductor contact having a linear and symmetric current-voltage characteristic. In order to achieve power and frequency performances, it is necessary to reduce the resistivity of these contacts, surface roughness and steep sides.

As for the alignment marks, an electron-beam lithography was carried out to fabricate the ohmic contacts.

The sample is introduced into the vacuum metallization room where an in-situ IBE (Ion Beam Etching) is performed. This technique allows to carry out a soft in-situ physical etching in the metallization system, ensuring the maintenance of the sample in a clean environment throughout the metallization process duration.

An optimum contact resistance is obtained when around 75 % of the barrier is etched [20]. The etching step is necessary in order to bring the metal stack closer to the nearest conduction channel 2D without degrading the GaN layer. Then, a metallization Ti / Al / Ni / Au (I2 / 200 / 40 / 100 *nm*) is deposited by evaporation.

The titanium (Ti), the first deposited metal, also acting as a bonding layer, is at the origin of the formation of TiN alloy after annealing at the interface between the metal contact and the semiconductor. This alloy has a lower electron work function than that of the nitride barrier. Then, the TiN formation generates nitrogen vacancies in the barrier that act as donor centers. A local n-type "pseudo-doping" of the barrier layer then appears. However, the donor concentration is inversely proportional to the barrier effective thickness. Consequently, since the barrier thickness decreases under the doping effect, the electrons passage is favored by tunneling effect, thus resulting in a low contact resistance.

The aluminum (Al) layer allows to form a Ti-Al alloy at the interface with the titanium. This alloy reduces the reactivity between titanium and GaN, and thus prevents the formation of vacancies at the interface due to the migration of gallium [21].

The nickel (Ni) avoids the formation of compounds between gold and aluminum which is crucial to avoid the purple plague. It acts as a diffusion barrier. The surface layer is made of gold (Au) in

#### 2.3. TECHNOLOGY

order to distribute the current homogeneously over the entire surface of the contact and benefit from its excellent electrical conductivity. The ohmic contact was then rapid thermal annealed (RTA) in the temperature range of 800-900 °C for 30 s.

### 2.3.3 Device isolation

The purpose of the isolation is to delimit the operating area of each transistor. This isolation can be carried out in two different ways: by physico-chemical etching (mesa technology) or by ion implantation (planar technology). Within the framework of this work planar technology was used.

The choice of the ions to be implanted depends on the material nature. In the case of AlGaN/GaN heterostructures, the elements mostly used are argon, helium, nitrogen or oxygen [22-24]. This process leads to break the crystalline continuity of the implanted material and to make the semiconductor amorphous in order to eliminate any parasitic conduction. The ion implantations were initially carried out by implantation of  $He^{2+}$  ions and then in order to reduce the costs, the helium implantation was replaced by nitrogen. Optimization of energies and implantation doses was developed internally at IEMN. The choice of optical lithography is justified by the low resolution required by this step.

### 2.3.4 Gate formation

In our case, the surface layer consists of AlGaN unintentionally doped (n-type). It is therefore necessary that the metal constituting the Schottky contact has an electron work function higher than the electron affinity of the semiconductor at the surface.

The necessity of reducing the gate length for the component frequency rise leads to an increase in the gate resistance and consequently reduces the component performances, in particular the cutoff frequency ( $f_T$ ), the maximum oscillation frequency ( $f_{MAX}$ ) and the power gain. To alleviate this problem, a modification of the gate shape is necessary [25]

The use of electron-beam lithography, associated with specific resists bilayers, enabled to obtain T-shape gate (Figure 2.5). A Schottky Ni / Au metal stack was used.

Achieving gate lengths of less than 100 nm required optimization of the technological process which is composed of two steps: The first one consists in writing the gate cap to the electronic mask followed by a double development of resins PMMA 3 % 450 K and PMMA (MAA 33%). The second step involves a second writing in order to define the gate foot followed by a last development enabling the foot opening. Figure 2.5 shows a SEM image of T-shape gate of a device under test.

The next step of the gate contact metallization is a crucial step in the technological process of the HEMTs, which must combine a high Schottky barrier height with the lowest possible reverse leakage current associated with low resistance.



Figure 2.5: SEM image of T-shape gate with a gate foot of 100 nm [26]

For HEMT structures presented in this work, Ni / Au metal stack was used (40 nm / 300 nm). Nickel is used as a Schottky contact with a work function of the order of 5.15 eV [27], ensuring a reasonable Schottky barrier height and the gold is deposited to ensure a good electrical contact and reduce the gate resistance. The T-shape gate is finally obtained by lift-off.

Figure 2.6 shows the descriptive diagram of the technological realization of T-gate.

The current development of gate technologies dedicated to HEMT components is increasingly focusing on "self-aligned" gate technology. This has the advantage of considerably reducing the distance between the source and the drain contacts and a fortiori the gate-source distance in order to increase the microwave performances of the components. This technology consists in first realizing the gate electrodes and then in a second step in aligning the source and drain contacts with the gate. This technological process, combined with the production of regrowth ohmic contacts, which can drastically reduce contact resistance and surface roughness, has been demonstrated by several research groups [28, 29]. With this technology, gate-source distances of the order of 50 nm can therefore be realized, associated with gate lengths of 20 nm, leading to extremely high cut-off frequencies ( $f_T/f_{MAX}$  : 454/444 GHz) [30].

### 2.3.5 Passivation

The improvement of the devices leads to a mandatory step of surface passivation by a dielectric layer. Then, an additional step of dielectric etching follows to access the contacts. However, the choice of the dielectric must meet many parameters; a high resistivity, a high breakdown electric field for a rise in frequency, satisfactory electrical permittivity for a better homogeneity of the field. Therefore, numerous studies have been carried out on the III-N semiconductors to find a suitable insulator [31, 32], such as the  $SiO_2$  for silicon.

Devices were passivated in this work with PECVD with 50 nm  $Si_3N_4$  / 100 nm  $SiO_2$  at 340 °C with a plasma pretreatment. These two materials permit to reduce the impact of the surface traps on the transistor.  $Si_3N_4$  is used to passivate the semiconductor surface by essentially

#### 2.3. TECHNOLOGY



Figure 2.6: Descriptive diagram of the technological realization of T-gate with the different steps; electronic writing, selective development, metallization and lift-off

reducing nitrogen vacancies.  $SiO_2$  is used in order to prevent tension strain generated by  $Si_3N_4$ .

# 2.3.6 Pads thickening

The pads thickening step permits to connect the two gate fingers and makes source and drain easily accessible. The production of these pads is carried out by optical lithography using a bilayer of photosensitive resins in two steps. A metallization Ti / Au is then deposited by evaporation, followed by a lift-off step. Figure 2.8 summarizes the main technological steps of HEMT transistor.

Figure 2.8 summarizes the main technological steps of HEMT transistor.



Figure 2.7: summarizes the main technological steps of HEMT transistor



Figure 2.8: Descriptive diagram of the technological realization of T-gate with the different stages; electronic writing, selective development, metallization and lift-off [33]

# 2.4 DC characterization

Static measurement is usually the first step in the electrical characterization of the device. This section is dedicated to the DC characterization of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD and AlGaN/GaN MBE HEMT technologies under study. The objectives are the analysis of the static performances of the devices and the identification of the undesirable effects which can be at the origin of electrical anomalies such as short channel effects.

#### 2.4.1 Experimental procedure for I-V characterization

#### 2.4.1.1 Experimental setup

The DC measurements are carried out by a HP 4142B semiconductor parameter analyzer using ICCAP KEYSIGHT software. The measurements are performed by using TTPX Lakeshore cryogenic probe station with a temperature range from 80 K to 475 K [34].

In the context of this research study, the fabricated devices are "normally on", i.e., since the source / drain channel is conducting while the HEMT is at equilibrium.

Figure 2.9 (a) shows the cryogenic probe station and (b) shows RF and DC probes located on a transistor during DC measurement.



(a)

(b)

Figure 2.9: (a) TTPX Lakeshore cryogenic probe station, (b) AlGaN/GaN HEMT wafer under electrical testing

DC measurements were carried out in both research laboratories, IMS Bordeaux and IEMN Lille. The comparison of the DC data extracted in both laboratories from the same samples, have allowed to highlight the influence of few parasitic effects depending on the experimental setup.

#### 2.4.1.2 AlGaN / GaN HEMT characterization

The main electrical measurements address the drain and gate currents which are expressed as a function of the gate or drain voltages.

From I-V characteristics; gate Schottky diode characteristics  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) and drain output characteristics  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ) are measured permitting to deduce the transfer and transconductance characteristics  $I_{DS} - G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) and various parameters such as the drain current saturation,  $I_{DSS}$ , the Schottky gate barrier height,  $\phi_B$ , its ideality factor,  $\eta$ , the reverse gate current  $I_{GINV}$ , the HEMT threshold voltage,  $V_{TH}$ , the ohmic contact resistance,  $R_C$ , the HEMT resistance,  $R_{DS}$  in ohmic regime. This analysis, presenting performance indicators, provide also insight into components parameter dispersion.

• Gate Schottky diode characteristics  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) (Input characteristic)

The study of the gate current via the  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ,  $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic is the best way to evaluate the quality of the Schottky gate contact.

In the diode configuration (at  $V_{DS} = 0$ ), a  $V_{GS}$  voltage is applied in both direct ( $V_{GS} > 0$ ) and reverse bias conditions ( $V_{GS} < 0$ ). In such condition, and considering that the current raises from a thermionic process, the gate current of the Schottky diode can be expressed by [35]:

$$I_G = I_S \left\{ exp \left[ \frac{q(V_{GS} - R_S I_G)}{\eta k_B T} \right] - 1 \right\}$$
(2.2)

The equation 2.2 can be reduced to the following equation, if  $V_{GS} R_S I_G$ ,

$$I_G = I_S \left( e^{\frac{qV_{GS}}{\eta k_B T}} - 1 \right) \tag{2.3}$$

Where  $V_{GS}$  is the applied voltage,  $\eta$  is the ideality factor of the diode, T is the temperature in K,  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant  $(1.38 \times 10^{-23} J/Ks^2)$ , q is the elementary electric charge  $(1.602 \times 10^{-19} C)$  and  $I_S$  is the reverse saturation current derived from the straight line intercept of the current at zero bias given by equation (2.2)

$$I_S = SA^*T^2 e^{\frac{-q\phi_B}{k_BT}} \tag{2.4}$$

Where S is the Schottky contact area and  $A^*$  is the effective Richardson constant (31.27  $Acm^{-2}K^{-2}$  for  $Al_{0.3l}Ga_{0.69}N$  and 30.95  $A.cm^{-2}.K^{-2}$  for  $Al_{0.29}Ga_{0.71N}$ ) that can be written as:

$$A^* = 4\pi q m_e^* m_0 k_B^2 h^{-3} \tag{2.5}$$

Where me<sup>\*</sup> is the effective mass,  $m_0 = 9.1 \times 10^{-31} kg$  and h is the Planck's constant,  $h = 6.62 \times 10^{-34} Js$ .

The electron effective mass depends on Al mole fraction and is calculated by the following formula [36]:

$$m_{e,AlGaN}^*(x) = (0.22 + 0.13x)m_0 \tag{2.6}$$

A logarithmic representation of the characteristic  $I_G$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) enables a linear extrapolation of

#### 2.4. DC CHARACTERIZATION

the linear coefficient,  $\alpha$ , and the intercept at the origin,  $\beta$ , permit to get the barrier height,  $\phi_B$ , and the ideality factor,  $\eta$ , following the equations (2.7) and (2.8):

$$\phi_B = \frac{k_B T}{q} ln\left(\frac{SA^*T^2}{\beta}\right) \tag{2.7}$$

$$\eta = \frac{1}{\ln(10)\alpha \frac{k_B T}{q}} \tag{2.8}$$

Another parameter, which can be extracted from  $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristic in reverse mode is the gate leakage current  $I_{GINV}$  as illustrated in Figure 2.10.



Figure 2.10: Typical  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT

• Drain output characteristics  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ )

Figure 2.11 shows a typical  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ) characteristic of a HEMT under test. There are thus two operating regions: the linear region for which the drain current is proportional to the drainsource voltage and the saturation region for which the current  $I_{DS}$  remains quasi-independent of the voltage  $V_{DS}$ . It is used to determine graphically the saturation drain current  $I_{DSS}$  and the drain-source resistance  $R_{DS}$ .

The saturation current  $I_{DSS}$  is the drain current measured at  $V_{GS} = 0$  and at  $V_{DS}$  such as the device operates in saturation regime (at  $V_{DS} = 10 V$  in Figure 2.11). The resistance  $R_{DS}$  is given by the following equation:

$$R_{DS} = \left(\frac{\Delta V_{DS}}{\Delta I_{DS}}\right)_{V_{GS}=0, V_{DS} \longrightarrow 0}$$
(2.9)

• Transfer and transconductance characteristics  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ )

#### chapter 2



Figure 2.11: Typical  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT

From the measurement of the transfer characteristics  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) the threshold voltage ( $V_{TH}$ ) can be graphically extracted.

There are several methods for determining the threshold voltage:

- Tangent extrapolation method: considering the quasi-linear part of the characteristic  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ), the intersection of the tangent and the abscissa axis gives the value of the threshold voltage.

- Quadratic extrapolation method: is also called as "Linear Extrapolation in Saturation Region". The  $I_{DS}$  for linear region is proportional to  $(V_{GS}-V_{TH})$ . Similarly,  $I_{DS}$  in saturation region is proportional to  $(V_{GS} - V_{TH})^2$ . Hence  $V_{TH}$  can be extracted by extrapolating the curve  $\sqrt{I_{DS}}$  versus  $V_{GS}$  at the inflexion point of the curve.

- Current extrapolation method: The threshold voltage value is the  $V_{GS}$  value corresponding at  $I_{DS} = 1 \%$  of  $I_{DSS}$ . This method is mainly used by designers.



Figure 2.12: Typical  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT

It is also possible to obtain the transconductance  $G_M$  by derivative of the characteristic  $I_{DS}$ 

#### 2.4. DC CHARACTERIZATION

 $(V_{GS})$ . Its expression is therefore of the following form:

$$G_M = \left(\frac{\Delta I_{DS}}{\Delta V_{GS}}\right)_{V_{DS}=Cste} \tag{2.10}$$

The transconductance can be expressed in linear region as a function of the transistor parameters according to the following expression.

$$G_M = \frac{W\mu}{L_G} (V_{GS} - V_{TH})$$
 (2.11)

Where W is the gate width,  $\mu$  is the mobility in the channel and  $L_G$  is the gate length. The transistor output conductance is expressed according to the following equation:

$$G_{DS} = \frac{1}{R_{DS}} = \left(\frac{\Delta I_{DS}}{\Delta V_{DS}}\right)_{V_{GS} = Cste}$$
(2.12)

The plotting of the transfer function of the component  $G_M$  as a function of the voltage  $V_{GS}$  for a fixed value  $V_{DS}$  shows three operating zones to appear:

For  $V_{GS} < V_{TH}$ , the carrier density in the channel is negligible (deserted channel) and the component is considered as turn-off.

When  $V_{GS} > V_{TH}$ , the carrier density in the channel increases and the drain current increases with the gate voltage to the optimum operating point which corresponds to the value of  $V_{GS}$  for which the transconductance is maximum  $G_{MMAX}$ , as illustrated in Figure 2.12.

Beyond the gate voltage corresponding to  $G_{MMAX}$ , the thermal effect, the presence of the defects as well as the increase of the source and the drain resistances [37], with drain current [38] lead to a decrease of  $G_M$  when  $V_{GS}$  approaches to 0 V. Therefore, it is possible from this characteristic to determine the polarization point ( $V_{GS}$ ,  $V_{DS}$ ) for which the transconductance is maximum  $G_{MMAX}$ .

Another interesting characteristic to be exploited is the variation of the drain current  $I_{DS}$  in logarithmic scale as a function of the gate voltage  $V_{GS}$  (2.13). Therefore, we can deduce the ON-OFF ratio of the transistor. It corresponds to the ratio between the on state drain current and the off state drain current. It is the figure of merit for having high performance (enhancement of  $I_{ON}$ ) and low leakage power (reduction of  $I_{OFF}$ ) for transistors. Typically, increased control of the gate over the channel causes very high ON-OFF ratios.

• TLM characterization

Each sub-reticle of the wafer parts contained several test devices including transmission line modules (TLMs).



Figure 2.13: Logarithmic plot of a typical  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristic of GaN HEMT

There are several ways to measure the ohmic contact resistance at the metal/semiconductor interface, the most commonly technique consists of measuring the transmission line model (TLM) [39,40]. The TLM test structure consists of several electrodes fabricated on the epitaxial structure. These electrodes exhibit the same length (L) and width (W) separated by different semiconductor lengths d.

The TLM structure is described in Figure 2.14.



Figure 2.14: A Transmission Line Method (TLM) test structure

The I-V measurements are performed between two adjacent electrical contacts while the spacing between the electrodes (d) is varied.

The total resistance is given as [41]:

$$R_T = \frac{V}{I} = 2\frac{R_C}{W} + \frac{R_{\Box}}{W}d\tag{2.13}$$

Where W is the width of the contacts,  $R_C$  is the contact resistance and  $R_{\Box}$  is the sheet resistance between contacts.

In Figure 2.15, the measured resistances are plotted as a function of the distance of the electrode spacing d. Fitting Eq. 2.13, the values of the sheet resistance ( $R_{\Box}$ ) and the contact resistance ( $R_C$ ) can be obtained.

 $\begin{array}{c}
 \widehat{\mathbf{G}} \\
 \underline{\mathbf{d}} \\
 \mathbf{d} \\
 \mathbf{d$ 

Figure 2.15: Plot of total resistance versus contact spacing to explain the TLM measurement technique

The specific contact resistance ( $\rho_C$ ) is given by:

$$\rho_C = \frac{R_C^2}{R_{\Box}} \tag{2.14}$$

The current transfer length  $(L_T)$  (also known as effective contact length), is the average distance that an electron (or hole) travels in the semiconductor beneath the contact before it flows up into the contact [42]. It is as follows:

$$L_T = \frac{R_C}{R_{\Box}} \tag{2.15}$$

The optimization of ohmic contacts by reducing the contact resistance is one of the key points to optimize the performances of GaN-based devices

Table 2.1 summarizes previous described parameters and their extraction conditions which will be used to evaluate the dispersion and as initial values to follow their evolution during aging tests.

 $R_{DS}$  was defined as the resistance between source and drain at  $V_{GS} = 0$ , and  $V_{DS}$  of 0.5 V was chosen unrelated to potential applications.

Table 2.1: Electrical parameters and their extraction conditions

Parameters	Extraction conditions
I <sub>DSS</sub>	$V_{DS} = 0 \ V, \ V_{GS} = 10 \ V$
$R_{DS}$	$V_{GS} = 0 \ V, \ V_{DS} \longrightarrow 0$
I <sub>GINV</sub>	$V_{GS} = -15 V$
G <sub>MMAX</sub>	$V_{DS} = 4 V$
$V_{TH}$	$V_{DS} = 4 V$

### 2.4.2 AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

#### 2.4.2.1 Analysis of the dispersion of electrical characterization

Around one hundred devices and five TLM patterns from MOCVD growth have been characterized and will be presented in forthcoming paragraphs for the purpose of studying the electrical behavior and the dispersion of the electrical parameters of transistors under test. Table 2.2 presents the number of characterized devices per geometry.

Device geometry		N° of characterized devices		
$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )			
	1.5	12		
	2.5	7		
75	3.5	7		
	4.5	7		
	5.5	7		
	2.5	7		
100	3.5	7		
100	4.5	7		
	5.5	7		
	2.5	7		
150	3.5	7		
	4.5	7		
	5.5	7		

Table 2.2: Number of characterized devices per geometry

The wafer map that corresponding to AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology is shown in Figure 2.16. The transistors under study have a total width of  $2 \times 25 \ \mu m$ , a gate-source distance of 600 nm, a drain-source distance ranging from 1.5  $\ \mu m$  to 5.5  $\ \mu m$  and a gate length of 75 or 100 or 150 nm.

• Gate Schottky diode characteristics  $I_{GS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) (Input characteristic)

Figure 2.17 (a) shows  $I_{GS}-V_{GS}$  characteristic of transistors with different geometry (different  $L_G$  and  $L_{DS}$ ) at  $V_{DS} = 0$  V while  $V_{GS}$  was swept from -15 V to 2.5 V, while Figure 2.17 (b) shows  $I_{GS}-V_{GS}$  characteristic of seven typical transistors with the same geometry ( $L_G = 75 \ nm$ ,  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ ) in the same conditions.

Based on Figure 2.17 (a), the effective barrier height obtained according to equation (2.7), the ideality factor was deduced using equation (2.8) and the gate current  $I_{GINV}$  are given in Table 2.3.

The ideality factor is a significant indicator of the Schottky contact quality and / or the existence of conduction modes other than pure thermionic. If the thermionic effect is the main transport mechanism, the ideality factor is equal to 1 and in this case the contact is considered to be



Figure 2.16: Wafer map of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology



Figure 2.17:  $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics of different MOCVD HEMTs (a) and seven 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length MOCVD HEMTs (b)

"ideal", which means theoretically without roughness and interface defects. The obtained ideality factor greater than 1, can be explained by the presence of defects and several other transport mechanisms including trapping / de-trapping mechanisms.

Figure 2.17 (a) shows that the input characteristics of samples with the same geometry  $(L_G = 75 \ nm, L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m)$  are not superimposed for  $V_{DS} = 0 \ V$ . Therefore, a small dispersion is noticed.

• Drain output characteristics  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ )

Figure 2.18 shows  $I_{DS}$  versus  $V_{DS}$  (a) for transistors with different geometry (different  $L_G$  and  $L_{DS}$ ) and (b) for seven typical transistors with the same geometry ( $L_G = 75 \ nm, \ L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ ),

Table 2.3: Barrier height  $\phi_B$ , ideality factor  $\eta$  and gate current  $I_{GINV}$  of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology
$\phi_B \ (eV)$	$0.68 \pm 0.025$
$\eta$	$2.54 \pm 0.25$
$I_{GINV} (A/mm) @ V_{GS} = -15 V$	$8 \times 10^{-5} \pm 5 \times 10^{-5}$

at gate voltage  $V_{GS}$  ranging from -5 V to 0 V and up to drain voltage  $V_{DS} = 10$  V. It indicates that for a  $V_{GS}$  close to the pinch off, in saturation region, there is an increase in drain current as a function of drain-source electric field. This phenomenon is attributed to short channel effects. These latter are mainly attributable to low aspect ratios. Indeed, according to Jessen et al. [43], the short channel effects start to appear for aspect ratios lower than 15 and are considered modest up to aspect ratios of about 10.



Figure 2.18:  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEMTs and (b) of seven 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length MOCVD HEMTs

Using figure 2.18 (a), the resulting parameters value ( $I_{DSS}$  and  $R_{DS}$  and  $L_G/t_{bar}$ ) are illustrated in table 2.4.

Table 2.4: Saturation current,  $R_{DS}$  resistance and aspect ratio of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology					
$L_G (nm)$	75	100	150			
$I_{DSS} @ V_{GS} = 0 V$	$0.96 \pm 0.04$	$0.9 \pm 0.02$	$0.83 \pm 0.03$			
$R_{DS} (\Omega.mm)$	$1.86 \pm 0.5$	$3.13 \pm 0.3$	$3.6 \pm 0.3$			
Aspect ratio $L_G/t_{bar}$	5	6.6	10			

Figure 2.18 (b) illustrates the appearance of a small kink effect at  $V_{GS} = -1 V$  and  $V_{DS} = 6 V$  for gate voltages close to the threshold voltage. This is manifested with an increase of the drain

current.

Several works [44-47] have attributed this physical phenomenon to trapping and de-trapping processes associated with increasing drain current. It is noticed too that the output characteristics up to  $V_{DS} = 10 V$  are not superimposed and then a small dispersion is noticed by a variation of  $I_{DSS}$  and  $R_{DS}$ . From the table 2.4, we can deduce that the short channel effects are low for HEMTs with  $L_G$  of 150 nm and more present for HEMTs with  $L_G$  of 75 and 100 nm.

• Transfer and transconductance characteristics  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ )

The  $I_D$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) and  $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics of devices with different geometry are shown in Figure 2.19 (a) and of those of seven devices with the same geometry are shown in Figure 2.19 (b).  $V_{GS}$  is varying from -6 V to 0 V at a fixed  $V_{DS}$  voltage of 4 V.



Figure 2.19:  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEMTs and (b) seven 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length MOCVD HEMTs

The ON and OFF drain current (a) of devices with different geometry and (b) of the seven aforementioned devices with the same geometry are plotted between drain current, in log scale in figure 2.20.

The transfer characteristic exhibited a peak  $G_{MMAX}$  at the bias point  $(V_{GS}, V_{DS}) = (-2.9 \pm 0.2 V, 4 V)$ , which should deliver the best microwave performances, a threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$ , obtained using the tangent extrapolation method and ON-OFF ratio and their values are reported in Table 2.5.

Figure 2.20 (b) shows  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  versus  $V_{GS}$  characteristics of previous mentioned samples showing that for  $V_{DS} = 4 V$  are not superimposed. all the DC characteristics of the 5.5  $\mu m$  drain source distance and the 75 nm gate length samples are not superimposed. The same results were depicted for samples of other geometry. Therefore, dispersion of about 2 to 3 % is noticed for the devices with the same geometry.

The 55 devices having the most homogenous behavior were selected for RF measurements and accelerated aging tests.



Figure 2.20: Logarithmic scale of  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics (a) of different MOCVD HEMTs and (b) of seven 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length MOCVD HEMTs

Table 2.5: Maximum transconductance, threshold voltage and ON-OFF ratio of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology			
$L_G (nm)$	75 100 150			
$G_{MMAX} (mS/mm)$ @	$0.31 \pm 0.02$	$0.29 \pm 0.01$	$0.27 \pm 0.01$	
$V_{DS} = 6 V$				
$V_{TH} (V) @ V_{DS} = 6 V$	$-3.9 \pm 0.05$	$-3.8 \pm 0.04$	$-3.7 \pm 0.05$	
$I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$		$10^{4.9} \pm 10^{0.3}$		

• TLM characterization



Figure 2.21: An optical picture of a TLM mask of MOCVD technology

A typical transfer length method (TLM) structure with contact separations of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$  and a total width W of 100  $\mu m$  (Figure 2.21) has been characterized by varying the voltage from 0 to 4 V. Figure 2.22 presents the DC characteristic of a TLM structure.

The total resistance has been measured in ohmic regime at  $V_{DS} = 0.5 V$ . Figure 2.23 shows the evolution of the total resistance as a function of the inter electrode distance d.

According to equations (2.14) and (2.15), the contact resistance,  $R_C$ , the sheet resistance,  $R_{\Box}$ , and



Figure 2.22: I-V characteristic of TLM structure

the transfer length,  $L_T$ , have been extracted and the typical values are reported in Table 2.6.



Figure 2.23: Resistance versus gap spacing and extraction of contact and sheet resistances from TLM patterns with spacing of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$ 

The low value of ohmic contact resistance  $R_C$  is a good result for an alloyed ohmic contact and an indicator of the maturity of the technological process. A sheet resistance  $(R_{\Box})$  of 440  $\Omega/\Box$ is a typical result reflecting the good quality of the epitaxial layers.

#### 2.4.2.2 Impact of device geometry on static performances

In order to analyze the effect of the gate length, the drain-source distance and the gate-source distance on the component performances, we carried out a measurement campaign of on HEMTs of different topology. This section illustrates the impact of device geometry especially on the drain current saturation,  $I_{DSS}$ , the maximum transconductance,  $G_{MMAX}$ , the resistance  $R_{DS}$  and the threshold voltage,  $V_{TH}$ .

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology
$R_C (\Omega.mm)$	0.61
$R_{\Box} (\Omega / \Box)$	440
$L_T \ (\mu m)$	1.25

Table 2.6: Contact and sheet resistances of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

The comparison of the results obtained as a function of the topology of the transistors presented in Figure 2.24 and 2.25 shows that the gate length, the drain-source distance and the gate-drain distance have a non-negligible impact on the static characteristics. As it can be seen, decreasing the gate length increases the drain current and consequently the transconductance peak value, and decreases the  $R_{DS}$  resistance and the threshold voltage leading to an improvement of the device performances. In particular, we can notice:

- At a fixed value of the gate length, the drain current and the extrinsic transconductance increases when the drain-source distance is decreasing. For instance, at  $L_G = 75 nm$ , when  $L_{DS}$  varies from 5.5 to 1.5  $\mu m$ , the drain current saturation changes from 0.86 to 1 A/mm, and the extrinsic transconductance changes from 0.29 to 0.34 S/mm which represent an increase of 16 % and 17 % respectively.

- At a fixed the drain-source distance (varying as  $L_{GD}$ ), the drain current and the extrinsic transconductance increases when the gate length is decreasing. For instance, at  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ , when  $L_G$  varies from 150 to 75 nm, the drain current saturation changes from 0.81 to 0.9 A/mm, and the extrinsic transconductance changes from 0.26 to 0.3 S/mm, which represents an increase of 11 % and 15 % respectively.

- The drain current saturation  $I_{DSS}$  and the transconductance  $G_M$  are all the more high as the gate is close to the drain ( $L_{GS}$ =Cst). It is therefore necessary to reduce the distance between the source and the drain contacts in order to benefit of the maximum current density, while minimizing the transit times of the carriers.

Shorter  $L_G$  reduces the size of transistor and then increases the current density. Moreover, the path length traversed by the electrons decreased. It provides less resistance and lower surface-roughness scattering which leads to a higher transconductance and mobility. As the gate length will decrease, the performance will be better.

### 2.4.3 AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

#### 2.4.3.1 Analysis of the dispersion of electrical characterization

Twenty three devices and four TLMs grown by MBE have been characterized and will be presented in the next subsections. There are few devices available compared to the first technology owing



Figure 2.24: Impact of device geometry on drain current saturation of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology



Figure 2.25: Impact of device geometry on maximum transconductance of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

to the manufacturing efficiencies and many technical problems encountered during measurement. These measurements were carried out in order to study the electrical behavior and the dispersion of the electrical parameters of the studied transistors along the wafer. Table 2.7 summarizes the number of characterized devices per geometry.

The wafer map of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology is shown in Figure 2.26.

The transistors under tests have a total width of  $2 \times 50 \ \mu m$ , a drain-source distance of 2.65  $\mu m$ , a gate-source distance ranging from 1.13 to 1.23  $\mu m$  and a gate length of 75 or 100 or 150 nm.

• Gate Schottky diode characteristics

Figure 2.27 (a) shows the transistor gate current as a function of the gate-source voltage  $V_{GS}$  of transistors with different geometry (different  $L_G$  and  $L_{GS}$ ) at a drain-source voltage  $V_{DS}$  of 0 V while  $V_{GS}$  was swept from -15 V to 2.5 V, while Figure 2.27 (b) shows  $I_{GS}$  - $V_{GS}$  characteristic

Device geometry		N° of characterized devices	
$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{GS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	N of characterized devices	
75 1.18		2	
15	1.23	4	
100	1.15	2	
100	1.2	5	
150	1.13	3	
150	1.18	7	

Table 2.7: Number of characterized devices per geometry



Figure 2.26: Wafer map of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

of three typical transistors having the same geometry ( $L_G = 150 \ nm$ ,  $L_{GS} = 1.18 \ \mu m$ ) in the same conditions.



Figure 2.27:  $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics of (a) MBE transistors with different geometry (left), and (b) three 1.18  $\mu m$  gate-source distance and 150 nm gate length MBE HEMTs

The resulting value of the effective barrier height and the ideality factor obtained according

to equations (2.7) and (2.8), and the gate leakage current  $I_{GINV}$  are reported in Table 2.8.

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology		
$\phi_B \ (eV)$	$0.55 \pm 0.15$		
$\eta$	4.54 ± 1		
$I_{GINV} (A/mm) @ V_{GS} = -15 V$	$126 \times 10^{-4} \pm 123 \times 10^{-4}$		

Table 2.8: Barrier height, ideality factor and  $I_{GINV}$  of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

Figure 2.27 (b) shows that a small dispersion is noticed for the three samples of the same geometry.

• Drain output characteristics

 $I_{DS}$  versus  $V_{DS}$  for transistors with different geometry at  $V_{GS}$  ranging from -5 V to 0 V is shown in figure 2.28 (a), and three samples with the same geometry ( $L_G = 150 \text{ nm}$ ,  $L_{GS} = 1.18 \mu m$ ) is shown in figure 2.28 (b).



Figure 2.28:  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristics of MBE transistors with different geometry (a), and three 1.18  $\mu m$  gate-source distance and 150 nm gate length MBE HEMTs (b)

Using figure 2.28 (a), the drain current saturation  $I_{DSS}$ ,  $R_{DS}$  resistance and aspect ratio are given in Table 2.9.

Table 2.9: Barrier height, ideality factor and aspect ratio of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology			
$L_G (nm)$	75 100 150			
$I_{DSS} @ V_{GS} = 0 V$	$0.82 \pm 0.03$	$0.72 \pm 0.04$	$0.62 \pm 0.04$	
$R_{DS} (\Omega.mm)$	$1.6 \pm 0.4$	$2.87 \pm 0.3$	$3.8 \pm 0.5$	
Aspect ratio $L_G/t_{bar}$	7.5	10	15	

Figure 2.28 (b) shows that the output characteristics of the aforementioned three samples are not superposed for  $V_{GS}$  from -5 V to 0 V. A small dispersion is noticed.

From the table 2.9, we can deduce that the short channel effects are negligible for HEMTs with  $L_G$  of 150 nm, low for HEMTs with  $L_G$  of 100 nm and more present for HEMTs with  $L_G$  of 75 nm.

• Transfer and transconductance characteristics

The measured current and transconductance characteristics of devices with different geometry are shown in Figure 2.29 (a) and of those of three aforementioned devices with the same geometry are shown in figure 2.29 (b).  $V_{GS}$  is varying from -6 V to 0 V at a fixed  $V_{DS}$  voltage of 4 V. The transfer characteristic exhibited a peak  $G_{MMAX}$  of  $0.38 \pm 0.03 \ S/mm$  at the bias point (-1.2 V, 4 V) and a threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$  of  $-1.95 \pm 0.15 \ V$ .



Figure 2.29:  $I_{DS} - G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics of (a) MBE transistors with different geometry, and (b) three 1.18  $\mu m$  gate-source distance and 150 nm gate length MBE HEMTs

The ON and OFF drain currents (a) of devices with different geometry and (b) of the three aforementioned devices with the same geometry are plotted between drain current, in log scale in 2.30.

The resulting parameters value from the figure 2.29 (b):  $G_{MMAX}$  at the bias point  $V_{GS}$  (-1.1  $\pm$  0.2 V, 4 V), the threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$  ON-OFF ratio are reported in Table 2.10.

Figure 2.29 (b) shows  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  versus  $V_{GS}$  characteristics for  $V_{DS} = 4 V$  of previous mentioned samples that are not superimposed.

All the DC characteristics of the 1.18  $\mu m$  gate source distance and the 150 nm gate length samples are not superimposed. The same results were depicted for samples of other geometry. Therefore, a dispersion of about 1 to 3 % is noticed.

The most homogenous 14 devices were selected for RF measurements and next accelerated aging tests.

• TLM characterization



Figure 2.30: Logarithmic plot of  $I_{DS}$ -Gm ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics (a) of MBE transistors with different geometry, and (b) three 1.18  $\mu m$  gate-source distance and 150 nm gate length MBE HEMTs

Table 2.10: Maximum transconductance, threshold voltage and ON-OFF ratio of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology			
$L_G (nm)$	75 100 150			
$G_{MMAX} \ (mS/mm)$ @	$0.4 \pm 0.01$	$0.38 \pm 0.02$	$0.32 \pm 0.03$	
$V_{DS} = 6 V$				
$V_{TH} (V) @ V_{DS} = 6 V$	$-2.05 \pm 0.05$	$-1.9 \pm 0.05$	$-1.8 \pm 0.05$	
$I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$		$10^{4.1} \pm 10^{0.7}$		

Transfer length method (TLM) structure with contact separations of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$ , total width of 100  $\mu m$  and layout similar to HEMT grown by MBE was characterized (Figure 2.31).



Figure 2.31: An optical image of TLM mask of MBE technology

Figure 2.32 presents DC characteristic of a TLM structure.

It can be seen that the ohmic regime occurs especially for short lengths, that is why we have extracted the parameters of the TLM resistance at  $V_{DS} = 0.5 V$ .

A typical TLM extraction which gave an average value of contact resistance,  $R_C$ , of 0.67  $\Omega.mm$ , a sheet resistance,  $R_{\Box}$ , of 237  $\Omega/\Box$ , of and transfer length,  $L_T$ , of 2.75  $\mu m$ , according to equations (2.14) and (2.15) is depicted in Figure 2.33 and Table 2.11. Measured ohmic contact resistance ( $R_C$ )



Figure 2.32: I-V characteristic of TLM structure

and sheet resistance  $(R_{\Box})$  are found good.



Figure 2.33: Measured resistance versus gap spacing and extraction of contact and sheet resistances from TLM patterns with the spacing of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$ 

#### 2.4.3.2 Impact of device geometry on static performances

Figure 2.34, figure 2.35, figure 2.36 and 2.37 show the results of the drain current saturation,  $I_{DSS}$ , the maximum transconductance,  $G_{MMAX}$ , the resistance  $R_{DS}$  and the threshold voltage,  $V_{TH}$  respectively. They are obtained as a function of the topologies of the transistors.

It's clear that the gate length, the gate-source distance and the gate-drain distance have a nonnegligible impact on the static characteristics.

As it can be seen, decreasing the gate length increases the drain current and consequently the transconductance peak value, decreases the resistance  $R_{DS}$  and leads to a negative shift of the threshold voltage. In particular, we can notice:

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MBE technology
$R_C (\Omega.mm)$	0.67
$R_{\Box} (\Omega/\Box)$	237
$L_T (\mu m)$	2.75

Table 2.11: Contact and sheet resistances of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

- At a fixed value of the gate length, the drain current and the transconductance increases with the gate-source distance increasing. For instance, at  $L_G = 75 \ nm$ , when  $L_{GS}$  varies from 1.13 to 1.18  $\mu m$ , the drain current saturation changes from 0.65 to 0.8 A/mm, and the extrinsic transconductance changes from 0.37 to 0.42 S/mm, representing increase of 23 % and 13 % respectively.

- At a fixed value of the gate-source distance (varying inversely as  $L_{GD}$ ), the drain current and the transconductance increases with the gate length decreasing. For instance, at  $L_{GS} = 1.18 \ \mu m$ , when  $L_G$  varies from 150 to 75 nm, the drain current saturation changes from 0.65 to 0.8 A/mm, and the extrinsic transconductance changes from 0.36 to 0.42 S/mm, which represents a decrease of 23 % and 16 % respectively.

- The drain current saturation  $I_{DSS}$  and the transconductance  $G_M$  are all the more high as the gate is close to the drain for a fixed  $L_{DS}$ . It is why it is necessary to reduce the gate-source distance and the drain-source distance to achieve maximum current density, while minimizing the transit times of the carriers.



Figure 2.34: Impact of device geometry on drain current saturation of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

#### 2.4.4 Comparison between both technologies

Table 2.12 summarizes key parameters comparison between both technologies reported in this study.

To give complementary insights, Figure 2.38 shows input characteristics of both technologies.

## chapter 2



Figure 2.35: Impact of device geometry on maximum transconductance of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology



Figure 2.36: Impact of device geometry on on resistance  $R_{DS}$  of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology



Figure 2.37: Impact of device geometry on threshold voltage of AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

Figure 2.39 shows output characteristics of both technologies, the  $I_{DS}$  characteristic of the MBE technology is found very flat in saturation regime even though its current  $I_{DS}$  (A/mm) is

Parameters	AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology		AlGaN/GaN MBE technology			
W (μm)	$2 \times 25$		$2 \times 50$			
$L_{DS} (\mu m)$		1.5/2.5/3	./4.5/5.5	2.65		
$L_{GS} (\mu m)$		0	.6	1.13/1.15/1.18/1.2/1.23		
$L_G (nm)$	75	100	150	75	100	150
$I_{DSS} (A/mm)$	0.96	0.9 ±	0.83	0.82	0.72	0.62
$@ V_{GS} = 0 V$	±	0.02	±	±	±	±
	0.04		0.03	0.03	0.04	0.04
$R_{DS} (\Omega.mm)$	1.86	$3.13 \pm$	3.6 ±	1.6 ±	2.87	$3.8 \pm$
	$\pm 0.5$	$\pm 0.5$ 0.3 0.3		0.4	$\pm 0.3$	0.5
$G_{MMAX}$	0.31	0.31 0.29 0.27		0.4±	0.38	0.32
(mS/mm) @	±	± ± ±		0.01	±	±
$V_{DS} = 6 V$	0.02	0.01	0.01		0.02	0.03
$V_{TH}(V)$ @	-3.9	-3.8	-3.7	-2.05	-1.9 ±	-1.8 ±
$V_{DS} = 6 V$	±	±	±	±	0.05	0.05
	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.05		
$\phi_B \ (eV)$		0.68 ±	0.025		$0.55 \pm$	0.15
$\eta$		2.54 ±	- 0.25	4.54 ± 1		= 1
I <sub>GINV</sub>	8	$ imes 10^{-5}$ d	$5 \times 10^{-5}$	$126 \times$	$10^{-4} \pm$	$123 \times 10^{-4}$
(A/mm) @						
$V_{GS} = -15 V$						
$R_C (\Omega.mm)$	0.6 ± 0.1		0.6 ± 0.1			
$R_{\Box} (\Omega / \Box)$	$435\pm 6$		$240 \pm 20$			
$L_T \ (\mu m)$		1.25 =	±0.15	$2.75 \pm 0.2$		

Table 2.12: Main electrical parameters extracted of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD and MBE technologies



Figure 2.38: Comparison of  $I_{GS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G$  = 75 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 0.6  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 1.5  $\mu$ m) and MBE grown HEMT ( $L_G$ = 100 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 1.15  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 2.65  $\mu$ m)



lower. Furthermore, for MOCVD technology we can distinguish a small kink effect.

Figure 2.39: Comparison of  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G$  = 75 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 0.6  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 1.5  $\mu$ m) and MBE grown HEMT ( $L_G$  = 100 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 1.15  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 2.65  $\mu$ m)

Figure 2.40 shows the drain current and the transconductance characteristics for both technologies. The peak value of the transconductance is found higher for MBE-grown HEMT and the threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$  is found lower for MOCVD devices.



Figure 2.40: Comparison of  $I_{DS}$ - $G_M$  ( $V_{GS}$ ) characteristics of MOCVD grown HEMT ( $L_G$  = 75 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 0.6  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 1.5  $\mu$ m) and MBE grown HEMT ( $L_G$  = 100 nm,  $L_{GS}$  = 1.15  $\mu$ m,  $L_{DS}$  = 2.65  $\mu$ m)

As previously shown, the ohmic contact resistance  $(R_C)$  and the sheet resistance  $(R_{\Box})$  are found excellent for both technologies. As reported in Table 2.12, ohmic contacts of MBE devices present a comparable contact resistance,  $R_C$ , and lower resistance,  $R_{\Box}$ , than that of MOCVD devices. Thus, MBE technology provides HEMTs with best epitaxial quality and best conduction property [48].

## 2.5 RF characterization and parameter extraction

The small signal microwave characteristics were evaluated at IEMN Lille using a Keysight vector network analyzer (E836IA). To assess the high frequency performances of GaN HEMTs, microwave S-parameter measurements were performed from 500 MHz to 67 GHz.

It is possible to model the device by a linear quadripole or by a  $S_{IJ}$  parameter matrix. The electrical modeling of a HEMT device is obtained through the elaboration of an equivalent circuit model as shown in Figure 2.4l.



Figure 2.41: Small signal equivalent circuit model of the HEMT

 $R_S$  and  $L_S$  are the source access resistance and the source inductance respectively. Similarly,  $R_D$ ,  $R_G$ ,  $L_D$  and  $L_G$  correspond to the resistances and inductances of the drain and gate electrodes. The elements  $C_{GS}$ ,  $C_{GD}$  and  $C_{DS}$  represent the capacitance between gate-source, gate-drain and drain-source respectively.

The high-frequency performances of any microwave transistor are usually assessed by two small-signal figures-of-merit, which are the maximum oscillation frequency  $f_{MAX}$  and the current gain cutoff frequency  $f_T$ . The current gain cutoff frequency  $(f_T)$  is defined at the frequency where the current gain  $|H_{21}|$  is equal to 0 dB. Several couples of polarization points ( $V_{GS}$ ,  $V_{DS}$ ) have been investigated so as to be positioned around the maximum of transconductance (optimum polarization point previously defined during the static measurements) for detecting the maximum cut-off frequency and the maximum oscillation frequency of the component.

The transmission hybrid parameter  $(H_{21})$  is:

$$H_{21} = \frac{-2S_{21}}{(1 - S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}}$$
(2.16)

$$H_{21} = \frac{I_{out}}{I_{in}} \tag{2.17}$$

From the various intrinsic and extrinsic elements of the equivalent circuit model, the expres-

sion of the cutoff frequency of the current gain is governed by equation:

$$W_R = 2\pi f_T = \frac{G_M}{C_G} = \frac{G_M}{C_{GS} + C_{BG} + C_{GD}}$$
(2.18)

The maximum oscillation frequency ( $f_{MAX}$ ) is the highest operating frequency beyond which a transistor is not able to amplify power, it is derived as:

$$f_{MAX} = \sqrt{\frac{f_T}{8\pi R_G C_{GD}}} \tag{2.19}$$

It is defined as the frequency at which the unilateral power gain |U| is unity or 0 dB. Consequently,  $f_{MAX}$  is an important figure-of-merit to assess potentialities for high-frequency analog applications.

Where unilateral gain (U) is expressed as [49]:

$$U = \frac{1}{2} \frac{|\frac{S_{21}}{S_{12}} - 1|^2}{k\frac{S_{21}}{S_{12}} - Re\left(\frac{S_{21}}{S_{12}}\right)}$$
(2.20)

Calibration of the measurement system is necessary to determine systematic errors through a series of measurements on a calibration structure. In this case, an LRRM (Line-Reflect-Reflect-Match) calibration is performed [50]. Thus calibration permits to correct the errors introduced by the interconnection elements between the measured device and the end of the measurement probes. After calibration, the reference plane is found at the level of the measurement pads. In turn, the de-embedding operation consists in shifting the electrical reference planes closer to the device under test in order to subtract unwanted contributions.

The Open-Short de-embedding technique consists in measuring on wafer the S parameters of the components under test as well as those of the Open and Short patterns with the same topology. An Open structure is an open circuit allowing to characterize the capacitive effects of all the accesses while a Short structure allows to take into consideration the capacitive, resistive and inductive effects of these same access lines.

The Open Short method was chosen to implement de-embedding. This procedure consists in eliminating the contribution of certain parasitic measured elements, namely the access lines and the contact pads, by applying a so-called peeling method.

After the de-embedding procedure, the frequencies  $f_T$  and  $f_{MAX}$  were evaluated from the extrapolation by a slope of -20 dB/dec [49] of the gain of current  $|H_{21}|$  and of unilateral gain of Mason |U|. Noting that there is another definition for  $f_T$  by using the Gummel method [51], where  $f_T$  is extracted from the inverse of the low frequency slope of  $\frac{1}{H_{21}}$ .

Through these equations ( $f_T$  and  $f_{MAX}$ ), the improvement of the components performances

requires, among other things, the reduction of the parasitics, namely the parasitic access resistances, the output conductance  $\frac{1}{R_{DS}}$  likely to contribute to the drastic drop of frequency performances as well as parasitic capacitances  $C_{GS}$  and  $C_{GD}$ .

Microwave power measurements will not be carried out on these technologies due to the excessive losses observed in the epitaxial structure which essentially limit the performances indicators such as power gain and energy efficiency (PAE). Estimated output power ( $P_{out,max}$ ) can be determined using the following equation:

$$P_{out,max} = \frac{\Delta I_D \Delta I_V}{8} = \frac{I_{MAX}(V_{breakdown} - V_{knee})}{8}$$
(2.21)

A "load line" is drawn on figure 2.42 between the two extreme points  $I_{MAX}$  and  $V_{breakdown}$ . For both technologies under study,  $V_{breakdown}$  is of the order of 70 V.



Figure 2.42: Output characteristic  $I_{DS}$  ( $V_{DS}$ ) of a Class A power amplifier and load line

#### 2.5.1 AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

Figure 2.43 shows the evolution of the current Gain |H21| and the unilateral power gain |U| versus frequency of a typical sample which has a total width of  $2 \times 25 \ \mu m$ , a gate-source distance of 600 nm, a drain-source distance of 5.5  $\mu m$  and a gate length of 100 nm, at the bias point corresponding to the maximum of transconductance previously determined. The extrapolation by a slope of -20 dB/dec leads to evaluate the cutoff gain frequency and the maximum oscillation,  $f_T$  and  $f_{MAX}$  which are 50 GHz and 75 GHz respectively at  $V_{GS}$  = 2.6 V and  $V_{DS}$  =4 V. The output power is estimated using equation 2.21 to be 8.12 W/mm (26 dBm).

#### 2.5.1.1 Impact of device geometry on RF performances

As for the analysis of the static performances of the components, a study of the microwave performances evolution with the different gate lengths, gate-source distances and gate-drain distances



Figure 2.43: The evolution of the current Gain IH2II and unilateral power gain IUI versus frequency of a typical MOCVD HEMT ( $L_G = 100 \ nm, \ L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ )

was carried out. The table 2.13 summarizes the main results obtained: the current gain cutoff and the maximum oscillation frequencies for different geometries of AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology.

The extraction of  $f_T$  and  $f_{MAX}$  from HEMTs of different geometry shows that the decrease of the gate length is accompanied by an increase of  $f_T$  and  $f_{MAX}$ . This means that the cut-off frequency scales almost linearly with the inverse of the gate length down to  $L_G = 75 nm$ .

Improving the power-frequency performances of transistors does not depend only on technological improvements (such as reduction of gate length, passivation, etc.). An additional and crucial point is to reduce the thickness of the barrier separating the gate of the channel as the gate length decreases in order to reduce the transit time of the electrons under the gate and thus to reach higher operating frequencies. This must be done while maintaining an efficient control of the carriers under the gate, in which case there appear phenomena such as the "short channel effect" or, "punch through", which cause rapid increase of the subthreshold drain leakage current and it is often interpreted as the device breakdown voltage [52, 53], due to the low back confinement of the electrons in the channel.

From Table 2.13, it can be noted that for a  $L_{DS}$  distance of 5.5  $\mu m$ , the cut-off frequency  $f_T$  varies from 40 GHz when  $L_G = 150 \ nm$  to 55 GHz when  $L_G = 75 \ nm$  which is an increase of 37 % and the maximum oscillation frequency varies from 54 GHz when  $L_G = 150 \ nm$  to 78 GHz when  $L_G = 75 \ nm$  which is an increase of 44 %.

Considering the obtained results, the reduction of the gate length  $L_G$  and the drain source distance  $L_{DS}$  have allowed a significant improvement in the current gain cut-off frequency and the maximum oscillation frequency due to the decreasing capacitive effects as expected [54,55].

Table 2.13: The cutoff frequency and the maximum oscillation for AlGaN/GaN MOCVD HEMTs of different geometry

W (µm)	$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	$F_T$ (GHz)	$F_{MAX}$ (GHz)
$2 \times 25$	75	1.5	80	100
		2.5	68	92
		3.5	60	84
		4.5	57	81
		5.5	55	78
	100	2.5	63	82
		3.5	58	78
		4.5	54	70
		5.5	50	75
	150	2.5	48	64
		3.5	47	62
		4.5	44	59
		5.5	40	54

### 2.5.2 AlGaN/GaN MBE technology

Figure 2.44 shows the evolution of the current Gain IH2II and unilateral power gain IUI versus frequency of a typical device which has a total width of  $2 \times 50 \ \mu m$ , a gate-source distance of 1.15  $\ \mu m$ , a drain-source distance of 2.65  $\ \mu m$  and a gate length of 100 nm at the bias point corresponding to the maximum of the transconductance previously determined. A value of  $f_T$  of 40 GHz and a value of  $f_{MAX}$  of 70 GHz were obtained at  $V_{DS} = 4 \ V$  and  $V_{GS} = -1.2 \ V$ . The output power is estimated to be 7.11 W/mm (28.52 dBm).



Figure 2.44: The evolution of the current Gain H21I and unilateral power gain IUI versus frequency of a typical MBE HEMT ( $L_{GS}$  = 1.15  $\mu m$ ,  $L_G$  = 100 nm)

#### 2.5.2.1 Impact of device geometry on RF performances

The Table 2.14 summarizes the main results obtained of cut-off frequency and maximum oscillation frequency for devices with different geometry.

Table 2.14: The cutoff and the maximum oscillation frequencies for AlGaN/GaN MBE HEMTs of different geometry

W (µm)	$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	$F_T$ (GHz)	$F_{MAX}$ (GHz)
$2 \times 50$	75	1.18	52	78
		1.23	55	80
	100	1.15	40	70
		1.2	53	79
	150	1.13	38	60
		1.18	40	65

Measurements of S parameters were made up to 67 GHz. The current gain modulus and the unilateral gain of Mason (U) were measured as a function of the frequency on the different transistors. A cut-off frequency  $f_T$  of 50 GHz and a maximum oscillation frequency  $f_{MAX}$  of 78 GHz were obtained on the smallest gate length of 75 nm and a gate-source spacing of 1.23  $\mu m$ . Reducing the gate length  $L_G$  allowed an improvement in the cut-off frequency and the maximum oscillation frequency.

# 2.6 Conclusion chapter 2

In the first part of this chapter, a description of the devices under test and the key technological steps has been discussed. Another part of this chapter presents the electrical characteritics of HEMT components issued from AlGaN/GaN HEMT MOCVD technology and AlGaN/GaN HEMT MBE technology. The measurements consisted of the standard DC and RF measurements. The DC characteristics were carried out in order to study the electrical behavior and the dispersion of the electrical parameters of the studied transistors Then, RF characterization was carried out in order to assess high frequency performances.

This study allows to evaluate the impact of the geometry on the component performances so as to determine the optimum topology in terms of gate length, gate-source distance and drainsource distance and finally to obtain the best performances in both static mode and in terms of cut-off frequencies.

HEMT grown by MOCVD were compared with HEMT grown by MBE. Results indicated that devices grown by MOCVD exhibit larger saturation drain current,  $I_{DSS}$ , cut-off frequency,  $f_T$  and maximum oscillation frequency,  $f_{MAX}$ , especially at shorter gate lengths, primarily because the

106

improved carrier confinement reduces short channel effects. The 2D electron gas density increases with the aluminum content, the addition of a very thin layer AlN (lnm) between the channel and the barrier layer [56] and the addition of a cap layer to the surface of AlGaN layer [57].

The measurements described in this chapter aimed to check the DC and dynamic electrical behavior of the devices and the performance homogeneity of the transistors within the wafers. A reliability campaign to test the devices will be investigated in the following chapter.
# **References Chapter 2**

- S. Kolluri, S. Keller, D. Brown, G. Gupta, S. Rajan, S. P. DenBaars, and U. K. Mishra, "Influence of aln interlayer on the anisotropic electron mobility and the device characteristics of n-polar algan/gan metal-insulator-semiconductor-high electron mobility transistors grown on vicinal substrates," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 108, no. 7, p. 074502, 2010.
- [2] M. Huque, S. Eliza, T. Rahman, H. Huq, and S. Islam, "Effect of the aspect ratio in algan/gan hemt's dc and small signal parameters," in *Semiconductor Device Research Symposium*, 2007 *International*, pp. 1–2, IEEE, 2007.
- [3] N. Defrance, Caractérisation et modélisation de dispositifs de la filière nitrure pour la conception de circuits intégrés de puissance byperfréquences. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2007.
- [4] Y.-F. Wu, D. Kapolnek, J. P. Ibbetson, P. Parikh, B. P. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "Very-high power density algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 586–590, 2001.
- [5] R. Vetury, N. Q. Zhang, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "The impact of surface states on the dc and rf characteristics of algan/gan hfets," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 560–566, 2001.
- [6] H. Xu, C. Sanabria, Y. Wei, S. Heikman, S. Keller, U. Mishra, and R. York, "Characterization of two field-plated gan hemt structures," in *IEEE Topical workshop on power amplifiers for wireless communications*, 2004.
- [7] U. K. Mishra, P. Parikh, and Y.-F. Wu, "Algan/gan hemts-an overview of device operation and applications," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 1022–1031, 2002.
- [8] S. Karmalkar and U. K. Mishra, "Enhancement of breakdown voltage in algan/gan high electron mobility transistors using a field plate," *IEEE transactions on electron devices*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1515–1521, 2001.
- [9] R. J. Trew, "High-frequency solid-state electronic devices," *IEEE transactions on electron devices*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 638-649, 2005.
- [10] S. Karmalkar, M. S. Shur, G. Simin, and M. A. Khan, "Field-plate engineering for hfets," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 2534–2540, 2005.
- [11] Y. Ando, Y. Okamoto, H. Miyamoto, T. Nakayama, T. Inoue, and M. Kuzuhara, "10-w/mm algangan hfet with a field modulating plate," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 289–291, 2003.

- [12] A. Chini, D. Buttari, R. Coffie, S. Heikman, S. Keller, and U. Mishra, "12 w/mm power density algan/gan hemts on sapphire substrate," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 73-74, 2004.
- [13] Y.-F. Wu, A. Saxler, M. Moore, R. Smith, S. Sheppard, P. Chavarkar, T. Wisleder, U. Mishra, and P. Parikh, "30-w/mm gan hemts by field plate optimization," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 117-119, 2004.
- [14] C. Lee, P. Saunier, J. Yang, and M. A. Khan, "Algan-gan hemts on sic with cw power performance of> 4 w/mm and 23% pae at 35 ghz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 616-618, 2003.
- [15] R. Trew, "High voltage microwave/mm-wave field-effect transistors,"
- [16] R. Trew, "Wide bandgap transistor amplifiers for improved performance microwave power and radar applications," in *Microwaves, Radar and Wireless Communications, 2004. MIKON-2004. 15tb International Conference on*, vol. 1, pp. 18–23, IEEE, 2004.
- [17] R. Akis, J. S. Ayubi-Moak, N. Faralli, D. K. Ferry, S. M. Goodnick, and M. Saraniti, "The upper limit of the cutoff frequency in ultrashort gate-length ingaas/inalas hemts: A new definition of effective gate length," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 306–308, 2008.
- [18] D. Guerra, R. Akis, F. A. Marino, D. K. Ferry, S. M. Goodnick, and M. Saraniti, "Aspect ratio impact on rf and dc performance of state-of-the-art short-channel gan and ingaas hemts," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 1217–1219, 2010.
- [19] D. Guerra, R. Akis, D. K. Ferry, S. M. Goodnick, M. Saraniti, and F. A. Marino, "Cellular monte carlo study of rf short-channel effects, effective gate length, and aspect ratio in gan and ingaas hemts," in *Computational Electronics (IWCE), 2010 14tb International Workshop on*, pp. 1–4, IEEE, 2010.
- [20] J.-C. Gerbedoen, Conception et réalisation technologique de transistors de la filière HEMTs AlGaN/GaN sur substrat silicium pour l'amplification de puissance hyperfréquence. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2009.
- [21] P. Altuntas, Fabrication et caractérisation de dispositifs de type HEMT de la filière GaN pour des applications de puissance byperfréquence. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2015.
- [22] C. Lo, T. S. Kang, L. Liu, C. Chang, S. Pearton, I. I. Kravchenko, O. Laboutin, J. Johnson, and F. Ren, "Isolation blocking voltage of nitrogen ion-implanted algan/gan high electron mobility transistor structure," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 26, p. 262116, 2010.

- [23] M. Werquin, N. Vellas, Y. Guhel, D. Ducatteau, B. Boudart, J. Pesant, Z. Bougrioua, M. Germain, J. De Jaeger, and C. Gaquiere, "First results of algan/gan hemts on sapphire substrate using an argon-ion implant-isolation technology," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 311–315, 2005.
- [24] J.-Y. Shiu, J.-C. Huang, V. Desmaris, C.-T. Chang, C.-Y. Lu, K. Kumakura, T. Makimoto, H. Zirath, N. Rorsman, and E. Y. Chang, "Oxygen ion implantation isolation planar process for algan/gan hemts," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 476–478, 2007.
- [25] X. W. Zhang, K. J. Jia, Y. G. Wang, Z. H. Feng, and Z. P. Zhao, "Alngan hemt t-gate optimal design," in *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, vol. 347, pp. 1790–1792, Trans Tech Publ, 2013.
- [26] d. M. e. d. N. Institut d'Electronique, *SEM image of T-shape gate with a gate foot of 100 nm*. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2014.
- [27] S. Arulkumaran, T. Egawa, H. Ishikawa, M. Umeno, and T. Jimbo, "Effects of annealing on ti, pd, and ni/n-al/sub 0.11/ga/sub 0.89/n schottky diodes," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 573–580, 2001.
- [28] K. Shinohara, D. Regan, A. Corrion, D. Brown, Y. Tang, J. Wong, G. Candia, A. Schmitz, H. Fung, S. Kim, *et al.*, "Self-aligned-gate gan-hemts with heavily-doped n+-gan ohmic contacts to 2deg," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2012 IEEE International*, pp. 27–2, IEEE, 2012.
- [29] K. Shinohara, D. Regan, A. Corrion, D. Brown, S. Burnham, P. Willadsen, I. Alvarado-Rodriguez,
  M. Cunningham, C. Butler, A. Schmitz, *et al.*, "Deeply-scaled self-aligned-gate gan dh-hemts with ultrahigh cutoff frequency," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2011 IEEE International*, pp. 19–1, IEEE, 2011.
- [30] Y. Tang, K. Shinohara, D. Regan, A. Corrion, D. Brown, J. Wong, A. Schmitz, H. Fung, S. Kim, and M. Micovic, "Ultrahigh-speed gan high-electron-mobility transistors with ft/fmax of 454/444 ghz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 549–551, 2015.
- [31] T. Tsuruoka, M. Kawasaki, S. Ushioda, R. Franchy, Y. Naoi, T. Sugahara, S. Sakai, and Y. Shintani, "Combined hreels/leed study on the oxidation of gan surfaces," *Surface science*, vol. 427, pp. 257-261, 1999.
- [32] L. Lin, Y. Luo, P. T. Lai, and K. M. Lau, "Influence of oxidation and annealing temperatures on quality of ga 2 o 3 film grown on gan," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 515, no. 4, pp. 2111–2115, 2006.
- [33] Y. Douvry, Étude de HEMTs AlGaN/GaN à grand développement pour la puissance hyperfréquence: conception et fabrication, caractérisation et fiabilité. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2012.

- [34] "Lakeshore."
- [35] M. Hudait and S. Krupanidhi, "Doping dependence of the barrier height and ideality factor of au/n-gaas schottky diodes at low temperatures," *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, vol. 307, no. 1, pp. 125–137, 2001.
- [36] A. Curutchet, *Etude du bruit aux basses fréquences dans les transistors à Haute Mobilité Electronique à base de Nitrure de Gallium.* PhD thesis, Bordeaux 1, 2005.
- [37] S. Vitanov, V. Palankovski, S. Maroldt, and R. Quay, "Non-linearity of transconductance and source-gate resistance of hemts," in *Proc. European Solid-State Device Research Conf. Fringe Poster Session.*
- [38] T. Palacios, S. Rajan, A. Chakraborty, S. Heikman, S. Keller, S. P. DenBaars, and U. K. Mishra, "Influence of the dynamic access resistance in the g/sub m/and f/sub t/linearity of algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2117–2123, 2005.
- [39] D. K. Schroder, *Semiconductor material and device characterization*. John Wiley & Sons, 2006.
- [40] M. Devika, N. K. Reddy, F. Patolsky, and K. Gunasekhar, "Ohmic contacts to sns films: Selection and estimation of thermal stability," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 104, no. 12, p. 124503, 2008.
- [41] Y. Chen, M. Ogura, S. Yamasaki, and H. Okushi, "Ohmic contacts on p-type homoepitaxial diamond and their thermal stability," *Semiconductor science and technology*, vol. 20, no. 8, p. 860, 2005.
- [42] M. Marinkovic, Contact resistance effects in thin film solar cells and thin film transistors. PhD thesis, Jacobs University Bremen, 2013.
- [43] G. H. Jessen, R. C. Fitch, J. K. Gillespie, G. Via, A. Crespo, D. Langley, D. J. Denninghoff, M. Trejo, and E. R. Heller, "Short-channel effect limitations on high-frequency operation of algan/gan hemts for t-gate devices," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 10, pp. 2589-2597, 2007.
- [44] G. Meneghesso, F. Zanon, M. J. Uren, and E. Zanoni, "Anomalous kink effect in gan high electron mobility transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 100–102, 2009.
- [45] R. Cuerdo, Y. Pei, Z. Chen, S. Keller, S. DenBaars, F. Calle, and U. Mishra, "The kink effect at cryogenic temperatures in deep submicron algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 209–212, 2009.

- [46] M. Wang and K. J. Chen, "Kink effect in algan/gan hemts induced by drain and gate pumping," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 482–484, 2011.
- [47] L. Brunel, N. Malbert, A. Curutchet, N. Labat, and B. Lambert, "Kink effect characterization in algan/gan hemts by dc and drain current transient measurements," in *Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC), 2012 Proceedings of the European*, pp. 270–273, IEEE, 2012.
- [48] N. Nasser, Y. Z. Zhen, L. Jiawei, and X. Y. Bou, "Gan heteroeptaxial growth techniques," *Journal of Microwaves, Optoelectronics and Electromagnetic Applications (JMOe)*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 22–31, 2001.
- [49] T. Parenty, Étude et perspective des transistors à bétérostructure AllnAs/GalnAs de longueur de grille inférieure à 100 nm et conception de circuits intégrés en bande G. PhD thesis, Lille 1, 2003.
- [50] A. Davidson, K. Jones, and E. Strid, "Lrm and lrrm calibrations with automatic determination of load inductance," in *ARFTG Conference Digest-Fall, 36tb*, vol. 18, pp. 57–63, IEEE, 1990.
- [51] H. Gummel, "On the definition of the cutoff frequency f t," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 2159–2159, 1969.
- [52] M. Uren, K. Nash, R. Balmer, T. Martin, E. Morvan, N. Caillas, S. Delage, D. Ducatteau, B. Grimbert, and J. De Jaeger, "Punch-through in short-channel algan/gan hfets," *IEEE Transactions* on *Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 395–398, 2006.
- [53] S. Kato, Y. Satoh, H. Sasaki, I. Masayuki, and S. Yoshida, "C-doped gan buffer layers with high breakdown voltages for high-power operation algan/gan hfets on 4-in si substrates by movpe," *Journal of Crystal Growtb*, vol. 298, pp. 831-834, 2007.
- [54] W. Dongfang, Y. Tingting, W. Ke, C. Xiaojuan, and L. Xinyu, "Gate-structure optimization for high frequency power algan/gan hemts," *Journal of Semiconductors*, vol. 31, no. 5, p. 054003, 2010.
- [55] D. Liu, M. Hudait, Y. Lin, H. Kim, S. A. Ringel, and W. Lu, "Gate length scaling study of inalas/ingaas/inasp composite channel hemts," *Solid-state electronics*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 838– 841, 2007.
- [56] S. Arulkumaran, T. Egawa, S. Matsui, and H. Ishikawa, "Enhancement of breakdown voltage by aln buffer layer thickness in al ga n/ ga n high-electron-mobility transistors on 4 in. diameter silicon," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 86, no. 12, p. 123503, 2005.

[57] E. Yu, X. Dang, L. Yu, D. Qiao, P. Asbeck, S. Lau, G. Sullivan, K. Boutros, and J. Redwing, "Schottky barrier engineering in iii-v nitrides via the piezoelectric effect," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 73, no. 13, pp. 1880–1882, 1998.

chapter 2

114

# Chapter 3

# SOA evaluation by "step stress" accelerated aging tests

# 3.1 Introduction

After the measurements dedicated to characterize the DC and dynamic electrical behavior of the devices and to evaluate the performance homogeneity of the transistors within the wafers, it has been possible to assess the reliability of the devices by performing DC step stresses.

This chapter presents a reliability study as a function of the drain and gate bias conditions for different geometries of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. It focuses on the Safe Operating Area (SOA) of the HEMT technology by experimentally determining the boundary of the maximum voltage and conduction current sustained by the HEMT when biased in DC conditions.

At the beginning of this chapter, the methodologies used for evaluating the SOA of GaN HEMTs on silicon substrate are presented. Then, DC accelerated aging tests results are detailed and discussed, including the identification of degradation signatures and the determination of the maximum values of DC bias voltages. Then, the critical degradation voltage variation with device geometry is studied. The last part of this chapter is devoted to the analysis of TLMs after aging tests.

# 3.2 "Step Stress" aging on AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology

The "step stress" aging on AlGaN/GaN HEMTs consists in carrying out DC aging sequences under gate-source voltage bias in "on-state" (at  $V_{GS} = 0 / -1 / -2 / -3$  V) or "off state" (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) conditions while  $V_{DS}$  is stepped up from 5 V to a higher voltage increasing by 5 V step.

During this experiment, difficulties encountered were mainly technical problems such as os-

cillations of devices manufactured on MBE technology. Many experiments have been done in order to stabilize currents such as adding bias tees on the gate and drain sides or a ferrite but without any result. For this reason, the reliability study only focuses on the MOCVD technology.

# 3.2.1 Test bench

The electrical characterizations before and after aging tests are carried out by HP 4142B modular DC monitor. The experimental setup used for aging tests under DC electrical constraints is based on a BILT system BE100 providing electrical polarization to the transistors transferred on the test base station. This test bench is controlled by a PC using the "EASY STRESS" software as shown in 3.1.



Device under test (4 DC probes placed on a transistor during DC m easurement)

Figure 3.1: Accelerated aging test bench

BILT is a modular test system, which primary purpose is the generation of high quality of programmable power source for test benches. The management of the bench is ensured by different hardware and software entities (Figure 3.2). The BILT system makes it possible to polarize at most five transistors at the same time with different polarization conditions. In our case, as the accelerated aging test is directly performed on wafer, it is possible to polarize with contact probes only one transistor at a time.

## 116

- The "Easy Stress" PC software allows to control the BILT chassis for the aging tests The Figure 3.2 illustrated the BILT system description.



Figure 3.2: BILT System Description

Easy Stress is a software for controlling a BILT chassis network for accelerated aging tests of electronic components in static continuous operation. Once the test is launched, the chassis is autonomous. It manages a time counter, the measurement traces, the monitoring of the thresholds on the measurements, and so on.

BILT DC sources performances are achieved thanks to the following choice of ranges; e.g:

- For the BE515 module that polarizes the transistor gate, 8 current ranges from 6.25  $\mu$ A to 200 mA full scale, and 4 voltage ranges from 5 to 40 V.

- For the BE525 module that polarizes the drain transistor, 8 current ranges from 10 to 2 A full scale, and a  $\pm$  60 V voltage range.

The measurement resolution and precision for current ranges of the BE515 module are reported in table 3.1.

# 3.2.2 Description of the $1^{st}$ methodology

The methodology consists in carrying out DC aging sequences under voltage bias. Each aging sequence is defined by a couple of polarization points ( $V_{GS}$ ,  $V_{DS}$ ). An aging sequence is composed

Ranges	±6.25	$\pm 25 \ \mu A$	$\pm 125 \ \mu A$	$\pm 500$	$\pm 2.5mA$	$\pm 10 mA$	$\pm 50 mA$	$\pm 0.2 A$
	$\mu A$			$\mu A$				
Resolution	1.6 nA	6.6 nA	33 nA	131 nA	0.66 µA	2.6µA	13µA	$53\mu A$
Precision	10 m A	78 m 1	375 m 1	1541	7541	3041	$150 \mu \Lambda$	60041

Table 3.1: Summary of parameter extraction results of TLMs

of several aging steps:  $V_{DS}$  is stepped up from 5 V to a higher voltage increasing by 5 V step while maintaining the  $V_{GS}$  voltage constant. Each step is held for 5 or 15 minutes at a fixed drain voltage and the drain and gate currents are recorded during the whole aging sequence. The sampling frequency is 1 kHz. The device DC characteristics are measured before and after the aging sequence. Some components are submitted to the DC aging sequences until a significant degradation occurs in order to define their maximum operating conditions and the associated degradation criterion. For the rest of this chapter, let us note the aging conditions as shown in the following table.

Table 3.2: Step-stress  $V_{GS}$  aging conditions and their notations

Notation Aging	conditions
А	$V_{GS} = 0 V$
В	$V_{GS}$ = -1 V
С	$V_{GS}$ = -2 V
D	$V_{GS}$ = -3 $V$
E	$V_{GS}$ = -4 V

#### 3.2.2.1 On-state step stress tests

On-state degradation tests are carried out by means of the step stress strategy in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0 V$ ), increasing drain voltages until device failure is reached. Figure 3.3 shows a representative result of the evolution of  $I_{DS}$  and  $I_{GS}$  currents measured during the aging sequence of a 75 nm gate length and 4.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT, with the drain voltage increased from 5 V to 25 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes.

It is noted that a decrease of  $I_{DS}$  and  $I_{GS}$  currents is associated with the increase of the bias condition  $V_{DS}$  from one step to another. If this decrease of  $I_{DS}$  is considered as a degradation, it means that the drain current should increase according to the  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristic except if its decrease is due to thermal effects at high  $V_{DS}$ . Then, it is not possible to conclude on the  $I_{DS}$  degradation without comparing the  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{DS}$  characteristic up to 25 V measured before and after the stress sequence but these measurements could possibly induce degradation in the device



Figure 3.3: Results of a step-stress experiment carried out on a HEMT with a gate length of 75 nm and a drain-source distance of 4.5  $\mu$ m. The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at  $V_{GS}$  = 0 V), while the drain voltage is increased by 5 V every 5 minutes.

under test.

The gradual evolution of  $I_{DS}$  and  $I_{GS}$  is observed as a function of the aging time until a significant decrease of the gate and drain currents is recorded during the step at  $V_{DS} = 25 V$ . There are also oscillations of the gate current during the last step at  $V_{DS} = 25 V$ . Then, a catastrophic degradation occurred for  $V_{DS} > 25 V$  as shown in figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Optical image of a device before stress and after a catastrophic degradation

#### 3.2.2.2 Off-state step stress tests

Off-state degradation tests are carried out by means of the step stress strategy with  $V_{GS} = -4$  V. Increasing drain voltages are applied to the devices, until failure is reached. Figure 3.5 shows a representative result of the gate and the drain currents evolution during the aging sequence of a 150 nm gate length and 2.5  $\mu$ m drain source distance HEMT, when the drain voltage is increased from 5 V to 60 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes. As expected, increasing the  $V_{DS}$  bias voltage involves the increase of the gate and drain currents. As illustrated in 3.5, in off-state mode in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4 V$ ), we can reach  $V_{DS} = 60 V$  (which is the voltage range limit of the BE525 module) without any degradation for this typical device.

The recording of the gate current is noisy: this is due to the resolution of the measurement which is of the same order of magnitude of the gate current. In this case, the gate current of the device was low enough to consider that its evolution is not significant.



Figure 3.5: Results of a step-stress experiment carried out on a HEMT with a gate length of 150 nm and a drain-source distance of 2.5  $\mu m$ . The gate voltage is fixed in condition E (at  $V_{GS}$  = -4 V), while the drain voltage increases by 5 V every 5 minutes

We have shown the results of aging tests, which have been carried out by sweeping up the drain-source voltage of the device, until a sudden decrease in drain current is detected. However, this method can be destructive and its major disadvantage is that it is difficult to analyze the gradual degradation of the device and to conclude except in the case of catastrophic failure.

Another method chosen to define the maximum values of DC bias voltages will be described in the following section.

# 3.2.3 Description of the 2<sup>nd</sup> methodology

The second methodology, based on two steps, has been defined for in-situ diagnosis of permanent degradation of the HEMT DC characteristics. It consists in performing:

i) A burn-in in nominal conditions ( $V_{GS} = 0$ ,  $V_{DS} = 5 V$ ) for 30 minutes in order to stabilize the gate and drain currents. As shown in figure 3.6 for a typical component, after 10 minutes the currents stabilize.

ii) A sequence of step stress tests applied until a degradation criterion is reached. It is composed of a stressful biasing for 5 or 15 minutes followed by a non-stressful biasing for 5 or 15

120

minutes in nominal conditions. Then, the former sequence is repeated several times with more severe drain-source bias conditions. The figure 3.7 shows the accelerated test profile. A typical result of such accelerated test profile is shown in figure 3.8 for a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT.

The bias conditions for the non-stressful steps, here  $V_{GS} = 0$ ,  $V_{DS} = 5$  V, are chosen not to induce any permanent degradation. This is checked during the burn-in of the devices, where bias conditions are generally the same as the one applied for non-stressful steps.



Figure 3.6: Example of burn-in in nominal conditions ( $V_{GS} = 0$ ,  $V_{DS} = 5$  V) for 30 minutes of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT



Figure 3.7: Accelerated life test profile with a step duration of 5 min

We have defined the critical  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage such that the drain current decreases by 10%. This criterion is chosen judiciously when the degradation is beginning. It is justified in order to be able to make the degradation diagnosis before a catastrophic failure occurs. On the other hand, the degradation criterion must be significant compared to the initial



Figure 3.8: Example of drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0 V$ ) with  $V_{DS} = 5 V$ ; 10; 5; 15; 5; 20; 5; 25; 5 V

dispersion of electrical parameters. As shown in chapter 2, the dispersion of the drain current is about 3 %. The drain current degradation after an aging sequence is calculated with  $I_{DS}$  value recorded at the beginning of initial and final non-stressful 5 V steps. It is defined as:

$$\frac{\Delta I_D}{I_D} = \frac{I_{Dinitial} - I_{Dfinal}}{I_{Dinitial}} \tag{3.1}$$

Where  $I_D$  initial and  $I_D$  final are the drain current of the first 5 V step and the drain current of the last 5 V step respectively when increasing the bias conditions (as shown in figure 3.8). Figure 3.9 shows the flow diagram of this methodology.

# 3.3 Aging test results

During the step stress sequence, several parameters such as the drain current decrease, the drain current transient at  $V_{DS}$  = 5 V and its amplitude, are identified. The evolution of these parameters defines the "signature" of degradation mechanisms.

The purpose of this section is to analyze the effect of accelerated aging tests performed in "on-state" and "off-state" regimes on the static electrical characteristics of the technology under test and the associated physical mechanisms. Three to five devices per geometry were investigated; thus more than 40 devices were submitted to aging tests.

The first part of this section is devoted to the identification of the degradation signatures. Then, the static and permanent degradation is studied, through the analysis of I-V characteristics evolution. The third part is devoted to the analysis of the transient degradation by determining the time constant and the amplitude of the drain current transient.



Figure 3.9: Flow diagram of the methodology defined for in-situ diagnosis of the permanent degradation during DC step aging tests

# 3.3.1 Identification of degradation signatures

# 3.3.1.1 On-state step stress tests

In the following, two typical examples are presented in on-state conditions. Figure 3.10 shows the drain current versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT with  $V_{DS}$  bias swept from 10 to 25 V by step of 5 V in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V) with a step duration

of 5 minutes. Figure 3.11 shows the drain current versus time of another GaN HEMT of the same geometry aged with  $V_{DS}$  bias swept from 10 to 30 V by step of 5 V in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1 V$ ) with a step duration of 5 minutes. These two devices present a low gate current before stress (in the range of 4  $\mu A$ ). Then, with respect to the performances of the BILT module, the record of the gate current was not significant even at the end of the stress sequence. Consequently, we will focus on the drain current evolution during aging sequences.



Figure 3.10: Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V)



Figure 3.11: Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V)

Figure 3.10 shows that drain current  $I_{DS}$  at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V decreases by 12 % on the step at a drain source voltage of 25 V in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ). As for figure 3.10, figure 3.11 shows a decrease of the drain current  $I_{DS}$  at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V by 11 % on the step at a drain-source voltage of 30 V in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V).

The same sequences have been carried out with step duration of 15 minutes as in the case of the figure 3.12. It shows the drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition B (at  $V_{GS}$  = -1 V).

Comparing the results shown in figure 3.11 (step of 5 minutes) and figure 3.12 (step of 15 minutes),  $I_{DS}$  decreases by 11 % after a drain source voltage of 30 V in both cases. Therefore, the same results were reproduced.



Figure 3.12: Drain current evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V) The step duration is 15 minutes.

The advantage of this second aging test method proposed is the possibility to diagnose permanent degradation without removing the device under test from the test bench and without performing complete electrical characterization.

As shown in figures 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12 two degradation signatures can be identified:

i) Static and permanent degradation identified by the decrease of the drain current on successive 5 V non-stressful steps. Drain current does not change at  $V_{DS} = 5$ V until the critical value of  $V_{DS}$  voltage is applied (25 V in condition A and 30 V in condition B) from which the drain current decreases sharply;  $I_{DS}$  decreases by 12 % in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) and 11 % in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V).

ii) Intra-step degradation identified by a drain current transient on the unstressed step which amplitude often increases when the critical value of  $V_{DS}$  voltage is reached. Many experiments have been done to prove that this transient does not stem from the test bench. These drain current transients reflect trapping-detrapping phenomena which enhance during the aging sequence.

These degradations signatures will be detailed in sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.3.

#### 3.3.1.2 Off-state step stress tests

Figure 3.13 shows the drain and gate currents evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during a step stress sequence performed in off-state conditions in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V).

At the end of the sequence carried out in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) and  $V_{DS}$  up to 60 V, which is the limit of stress test setup, no degradation was detected. Indeed, the values of the



Figure 3.13: Drain and gate currents evolution versus time of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence in condition E (at  $V_{GS}$  = -4 V) with step duration of 15 min and  $V_{DS}$  = 5 V; 20; 5 V; 25; 5 V; 30; 5 V; 35; 5 V; 45; 5 V; 50; 5 V

gate and drain currents measured during the non-stressful steps at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V do not significantly change.

#### **3.3.1.3** Influence of $V_{GS}$ polarization

Other devices were stressed in conditions C and D, i.e. at  $V_{GS}$  of -2 V and -3 V. The results are summarized in table 3.3 and compared with results obtained in conditions A and B.

Table 3.3: Relationship between the critical  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage and the gate source voltage at which devices are aged

Aging conditions	$V_{GS}$ (V)	$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	% $I_{DSdecrease}$ at $V_{DS} = 5 V$	$V_{DSdeg}$ (V)
A	0	75	5.5	12±3	25
В	-1	75	5.5	11±1	30
С	-2	75	5.5	10±1	40
D	-3	75	5.5	10±2	50

These results consolidate the fact that  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage at which the static and permanent degradation occurs, increases with  $V_{GS}$  becoming more negative.

Drain current versus time of two HEMTs with the same topology ( $L_G = 75$  nm,  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ ) during the step stress sequences A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) and B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V) is shown in figure 3.14.

As noticed in figure 3.14 the critical degradation voltage is all the more important as the voltage  $V_{GS}$  is negative; indeed, we assume that it is not only the electric field that leads to the degradation but rather more a combination of high current density and electric field. Moreover, a



Figure 3.14: Drain current evolution versus time of HEMTs ( $L_G = 75 \text{ nm}$ ,  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \mu m$ ) during the step stress sequences in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) and B (at  $V_{GS} = -1 \text{ V}$ )

high current density leads to an increase in temperature. Therefore, self-heating should contribute as a degradation factor.

#### 3.3.1.4 Cumulative effect during the step stress sequence

During the step stress sequences shown before, the amplitude of intra-step transients of the unstressed step (5 V step) usually increases when a degradation is observed. It can be due to the amplification of trapping effects. A further study was carried out by performing decreasing step stress sequences and comparing them with increasing ones applied under the same conditions.

Figure 3.15 and figure 3.16 show the drain and gate currents evolution versus time of two typical transistors having the same geometry ( $L_G = 100 \text{ nm}$ ,  $L_{DS} = 2.5 \mu m$ ) during the step stress sequence in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V). The drain-source voltage is increased from 5 V to 25 V (Figure 3.15) and in another sequence decreased from 25 V to 5 V (Figure 3.16). The comparison of these two aging sequences leads to ensure if there is or not any cumulative effect during aging sequence and then if there is an amplification of trapping effects.

As shown in figure 3.15, when the drain voltage of stressful step is increased up to 25 V, the drain current value at 5 V steps decreases and the transient amplitude increases. The critical  $V_{DS}$  degradation value is observed at 25 V, at which the drain current decreases approximately by 11 %. Figure 3.16 shows that the critical  $V_{DS}$  degradation value is observed at the first stressful step of 25 V, at which the drain current decreases sharply by 13 %. Then, in the  $V_{DS}$  decreasing sequence, the drain current value at 5 V steps increases and the transient amplitude decreases. Comparing the aforementioned figures, we can notice that there is no cumulative effect during aging sequence due to the relaxation during the 5 V steps.



Figure 3.15: Drain and gate current evolution versus time of a 100 nm gate length and 2.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence. The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V), while the drain voltage is increased from 5 to 25 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes)



Figure 3.16: Drain and gate current evolution versus time of a 100 nm gate length and 2.5  $\mu m$ 

drain-source distance HEMT during the step stress sequence. The gate voltage is fixed in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V), while the drain voltage is decreased from 25 V to 5 V by step of 5 V every 5 minutes)

#### 3.3.2 Static and permanent degradation

#### 3.3.2.1 On-state step stress tests

In this section, we report representative results, obtained on a device with the shortest gate length  $L_G = 75$  nm and  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ . Figure 3.17 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{DS} (I_{GS})-V_{DS}$ characteristics before and after the stress sequence performed under condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) (see Figure 3.10) where the drain current at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V decreases by 12 % during the stress sequence. In attempt to identify the degradation mechanisms, we compare these characteristics with the ones measured after a storage at room temperature during 24 hours.



Figure 3.17:  $I_{DS}$  ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$  characteristics of a 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance and 75 nm gate length HEMT aged in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) before and after stress and after 1 day storage.  $I_{DS}$ ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$  characteristics before stress on the top left

In figure 3.17, the observed shift of the  $I_{DS}$  ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$  characteristics reflects the permanent degradation of the gate and drain currents. Partial recovery of the drain and gate currents after one-day storage indicates that the degradation is also caused by trapping and detrapping mechanisms.

Electrons trapped by both the AlGaN barrier traps and the surface states under stress lead to the partial recovery of device parameters when the stress is removed [1]. Chang et al. suggested that the degradation and the recovery process is closely related to the states of native traps [2]. The degradation under on-state conditions and its partial recovery indicates that reducing the initial trap concentration by proper processing technology is crucial in order to improve long term stability. 3.17 shows a decrease of the drain current from 0.9 to 0.8 A/mm at  $V_{GS} = 0$  and  $V_{DS}$ = 15 V, this is often attributed to crack formation [3], or electron trapping [4]. The gate current increases by 4 order of magnitude from  $-8.4 \times 10^{-7}$  to  $-5 \times 10^{-3} A/mm$  at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V and  $V_{DS}$ = 15 V.

The decrease of  $I_{DS}$  is associated to the increase of  $R_{DS}$  by 5 % from 4.2 to 4.4  $\Omega$ .mm which is not significant compared to the dispersion of 3 % on virgin devices.  $R_{DS}$  was defined as the resistance between source and drain at  $V_{GS} = 0$  and  $V_{DS} = 0.5$  V. In addition, the decrease of  $I_{DS}$ is correlated with an increase of  $I_{GS}$  as shown in figure 3.17. It indicates that the change of  $I_{DS}$ and  $I_{GS}$  may have the same origin.

Figure 3.18 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{DS}$  ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$  and  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics before and after the stress sequence in condition A.

Furthermore, the threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$  was extracted before and after stress using tangent

#### chapter 3



Figure 3.18:  $I_{DS}$  ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$  characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition A (at  $V_{GS}$  = 0) before and after stress in (a) linear scale and (b) log scale

method extrapolation. It is very slightly affected. Indeed, a slight shift is observed in the negative direction of about 2 %, which is not significant compared to the dispersion of 1.5 % on virgin devices. The saturation drain current  $I_{DSS}$  decreases by 16 %. The peak position of the transconductance curve is very slightly shifted while its maximum  $G_{MMAX}$  decreases by 20 % at  $V_{DS} = 4 V$  which could be mainly related to mobility degradation and/or source resistance increase [5]. In addition, the current below the threshold increases from  $6.5 \times 10^{-6}$  to  $4 \times 10^{-3}$ A/mm as shown in figure 3.18 (b). In other studies, it has been reported that defects located in the gate-drain access region are strongly affecting the transconductance but only weakly the threshold voltage [6,7]. Figure 3.19 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{GS} - V_{GS}$  characteristic before and after the stress sequence carried out in condition A.



Figure 3.19:  $I_{GS} - V_{GS}$  characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$ ) before and after stress

As shown in figure 3.19, the gate leakage has increased;  $I_{GINV}$  at  $V_{GS} = -15$  V increases from

 $7 \times 10^{-5}$  to  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  A. Furthermore, the Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$  and the ideality factor  $\eta$ are extracted to analyze the reason for the increase of the gate leakage current. It appears a lower barrier height and a higher ideality factor. This is probably due to the fact that some gate leakage mechanisms other than the thermionic emission mechanism become dominant with the stress (as the drain-source voltage rises). The ideality factor  $\eta$  increases by 80 % from 2.33 to 4.21 and the Schottky barrier height has reduced by 30 % from 0.66 eV to 0.47 eV after the stress sequence. Thus, a degradation of the Schottky contact is observed. Del Alamo et al. have shown under high voltage electrical stress that the drain current reduces,  $R_{DS}$  increases, the gate leakage current increases, and suggested that this was due to defects generated in AlGaN barrier [8]. This may also be due to inverse piezoelectric effect as a result of applied high electric field [8-10], a defect generation and the percolation process [11, 12], or to electrochemical reactions occurring at the surface [13], In addition, several authors [12,14] indicated that the most important failure mode is the increase in the gate leakage current, which can be particularly detrimental in power applications, where leakage must be kept as low as possible to limit power losses. More detailed investigations are needed to identify the degradation mechanisms and modes, to understand if failure is due to the process or epitaxy related problems.

#### 3.3.2.2 Off-state step stress tests

Representative results, obtained on a device with the shortest gate length  $L_G = 75$  nm and  $L_{DS} = 3.5 \ \mu m$  is reported in the following figures. Figure 3.20 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{DS}$  ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$  characteristics before and after the stress sequence performed under condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) (see figure 3.13).



Figure 3.20:  $I_{DS}$  ( $I_{GS}$ )- $V_{DS}$  characteristics of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) before and after stress

Figure 3.21 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{GS} - V_{GS}$  characteristics before and after the stress sequence performed under condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4 V$ ).



Figure 3.21:  $I_{GS} - V_{GS}$  characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) before (solid lines) and after stress (dashed lines)

Figure 3.22 shows a typical evolution of  $I_{DS}$  ( $G_M$ ) - $V_{GS}$  and  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics before and after the stress sequence performed under condition E (at  $V_{GS}$  = -4 V).



Figure 3.22:  $I_{DS}$  ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$  characteristic of a 75 nm gate length and 3.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT aged in condition E (at  $V_{GS} = -4$  V) before (solid lines) and after stress (dashed lines) in (a) linear scale and (b) log scale

The  $I_{DS}$  ( $G_M$ )- $V_{GS}$  and  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristic evolution before and after stress indicates that devices can withstand a  $V_{DS}$  voltage of 60 V without showing any degradation. Therefore, no piezo electrical influence is noticed. Among all 40 components submitted to aging tests, those submitted to off-state step stress tests undergo the smallest influence of aging sequence.

#### 3.3.2.3 Electrical parameters evolution after on-state step stress tests

One to three HEMTs per geometry available were submitted to step stress sequence with the gate voltage fixed in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V) and the drain voltage increased by step of 5 V every 5

minutes until a decrease of the drain current of about 10 % is reached.

Main static parameters such as the saturation drain current,  $I_{DSS}$ , the transconductance peak,  $G_{MMAX}$ , the threshold voltage,  $V_{TH}$ , the Schottky barrier height,  $\phi_B$ , and the ideality factor,  $\eta$ , were extracted before and after stress in order to identify and quantify the main performances of the technology and to better understand degradation signatures and root cause of failure mechanisms. The following tables show the electrical parameters evolution before and after stress.

Extraction conditions of the aforementioned parameters have been discussed in chapter 2 in section 2.4.1.2.

Table 3.4: Drain current saturation  $I_{DSS}$ , resistance  $R_{DS}$ , maximum transconductance  $G_{MMAX}$  and threshold voltage  $V_{TH}$ , evolution of typical devices before and after stress

Device geometry		$I_{DSS} (A/mm)$		$R_{DS} (\Omega mm)$		$G_{MMAX}$ (S/mm) at $V_{DS} = 4 V$	
$L_{DS}(\mu m)$	$L_G(nm)$	Before stress	After stress	Before stress	After stress	Before stress	After stress
1.5	75	1.01	0.89	3.9	4.1	0.33	0.26
	75	1	0.87	3.89	4.2	0.32	0.26
2.5	100	0.9	0.85	3.15	3.3	0.29	0.25
	150	0.8	0.79	2.34	2.9	0.27	0.21
	75	0.99	0.9	3.87	4.1	0.3	0.26
3.5	100	0.9	0.77	3.13	3.3	0.29	0.23
	150	0.82	0.7	2.33	2.5	0.27	0.22
	75	0.99	0.89	3.9	4.1	0.29	0.23
4.5	100	0.91	0.8	3.14	3	0.28	0.23
	150	0.8	0.72	2.35	2.5	0.27	0.21
	75	0.98	0.91	2.9	2.38	0.29	0.23
5.5	100	0.93	0.81	3.12	3.3	0.28	0.22
	150	0.84	0.77	2.34	2.5	0.26	0.21

Table 3.5: Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$ , ideality factor  $\eta$  and inverse gate current  $I_{GINV}$  evolution of typical devices before and after stress

Device geometry		$\phi_B$		$\eta$		$I_{GINV}$ at $V_{GS}$ = -15 V	
$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	$L_G$ (nm)	Before stress	After stress	Before stress	After stress	Before stress	After stress
1.5	75	0.70	0.49	2.4	4.3	-2.9	-86
2.5	75	0.68	0.49	2.3	4.2	-4.8	$-2.10^{3}$
	100	0.69	0.47	2.5	4.5	-3.2	-106
	150	0.71	0.60	2.7	4.3	-3.8	-110
3.5	75	0.71	0.53	2.8	4.2	-3.2	-125
	100	0.67	0.45	2.4	4.3	-2.4	$-2.10^{3}$
	150	0.70	0.50	2.3	4.2	-4.1	-1192
4.5	75	0.69	0.48	2.5	4.1	-3.8	-150
	100	0.70	0.52	2.8	4.6	-3.7	-103
	150	0.70	0.51	2.3	4.1	-2.9	-97
5.5	75	0.66	0.47	2.3	4.2	-4.1	-112
	100	0.71	0.51	2.3	4.1	-3.6	-88
	150	0.71	0.52	2.4	4.3	-2.7	-20

The results reported in table 3.4 show that the saturation drain current  $I_{DSS}$  decreases by 9 to 14 %, the maximum transconductance  $G_M$  decreases by 15 to 20 % and the threshold voltage. Table 3.5 shows a decrease of the Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$  by 20 % to 30 % and an increase of the ideality factor  $\eta$  by 70 % to 80 % after stress. We can conclude that the Schottky diode is degraded after stress.

# 3.3.2.4 Discussion on the degradation signatures on the basis of electrical parameters evolution in on-state conditions

The investigations carried out in the previous paragraphs show several trends: The saturation drain current decreased by approximately 10 % (which is the failure criterion), the drain-source resistance increased by 6  $\pm$  2 %. This is usually attributed to hot electrons. Moreover, The Schottky contact suffered degradation, with almost a two to three order of magnitude increase in the reverse gate leakage current Maximum transconductance presents a decrease by 17.5  $\pm$  2.5 % while the threshold voltage is relatively unaffected. It has been reported in other studies that defects located in the gate-drain access region are strongly affecting the transconductance but only weakly the threshold voltage [6,7]. It was found too that  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage at which the static and permanent degradation occurs, increases with  $V_{GS}$  becoming more negative.

We conclude that it is not only the electric field that leads to the degradation but rather more a combination of high current density, electric field and self-heating.

Previous studies indicated that HEMTs may present either:

- localized trapping processes [15,16], in which electrons are mainly trapped at the edge of the gate on the drain side due to high peak electric field [17]. This mechanism has a strong impact in RF devices, and usually decreases with increasing  $L_{GD}$ , since the peak electric field decreases for larger gate-drain distances [18].

- non-localized trapping processes [19,20], in which electrons are trapped in the whole gatedrain access region due to surface trapping [20–22], or non-localized hot electron trapping [19,23]. Trapping processes can play an important role in limiting the power devices performance.

## 3.3.3 Transient degradation

During the step stress sequences performed in on-state conditions to identify the critical degradation voltage, a drain current transient occurs at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V as shown in figure 3.10 for a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT. The calculation of the time constants of intra-step drain current transients is necessary to provide information of the kinetic of trapping/detrapping mechanisms. There are different methods for the evaluation of time constants. It has been performed in this work using the fitting of the data by the stretched multi-exponential function given

#### 3.3. AGING TEST RESULTS

by the following equation:

$$I_{DS}(t) = I_{DSf} + \sum_{i}^{\infty} a_i e^{-\frac{t}{\tau}}$$
(3.2)

Where the fitting parameters  $a_i$ ,  $\tau_i$  and N are, respectively, the magnitude of the trapping (detrapping) transients, the associated time constants  $\tau_i$ , and the number of exponential components corresponding to the trapping/detraping kinetics. N typically ranges between 2 and 4 depending on the analyzed devices. Positive values of  $a_i$  correspond to electron trapping processes while negative values correspond to electron detrapping processes.  $I_{DSf}$  is the current value at the end of the transient step. The  $I_{DS}$  current transients measured during step stress sequences were fitted by a sum of only two exponential components (N = 2), according to the aforementioned equation. Intra-step time constants of the drain current transients are extracted from the last two non-stressful steps at 5 V after the steps at 20V and 25V ( $I_{DSfinal-1}$  and  $I_{DSfinal}$ ). In Figure 3.23, an example of the drain current transients extracted from Figure 3.10 is shown for a typical device with 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance during the step stress sequence performed in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V).



Figure 3.23: Current transients evolution to  $V_{DS} = 5$  V versus time during the 2 last non-stressful aging steps at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V), of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT ( $I_{D3}$  et  $I_{D4}$  extracted from figure 3.10)

As shown in Figure 3.23, the amplitude of the current transient  $I_{D4}(t)$  obtained after a step stress at  $V_{DS}$  of 25 V is higher than the amplitude of the current transient  $I_{D3}(t)$  obtained after a step stress at  $V_{DS}$  of 20 V. Figure 3.24 presents the modelling of  $I_{D4}(t)$  transient using the above equation.

Two preeminent time constants are extracted:  $\tau_1$  in the range of 2 to 4 minutes and  $\tau_2$  in the range of several seconds which are of the same order of magnitude for all drain current transients. Therefore, trapping-detrappping mechanisms are induced by similar traps in all devices and are



Figure 3.24: Fitting of  $I_{D4}$  transient in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V) at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V by the stretched multi-exponential function of a 75 nm gate length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMT)

Table 3.6: Time constants and dispersion of IDS transients recorded during the last two nonstressful steps for devices aged in conditions A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V) and B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V)

Aging conditions	$ au_1(s)$	$ au_2(s)$
A I <sub>DSfinal-1</sub>	143±11	$2 \pm 1$
A I <sub>DSfinal</sub>	214±23	3±1
B I <sub>DSfinal-1</sub>	131±19	4±1
B I <sub>DSfinal</sub>	146±17	4±2

enhanced by the stress tests (high value of  $V_{DS}$  voltage). These rather high values of the trap time constants indicates that traps could have high activation energy; their signature should be completed by  $I_{DS}$  transient measurements as a function of temperature.

# 3.4 Safe Operating Area (SOA)

#### 3.4.1 Principle of determination of the SOA

One of the criteria to address reliability concern in HEMT devices is its Safe Operating Area (SOA), which means the domain of operating conditions without self-damage. On the basis of the results described above and regarding the critical degradation voltage, the operating area without degradation was determined for HEMTs of each geometry.

Figure 3.25 shows the DC safe operating area for GaN HEMT with a gate length of 75 nm and a drain-source distance of 1.5  $\mu m$ . The dashed line presents the boundary of the operating zone without degradation. Operation of the transistor out of this limit leads to catastrophic degradation.

For every stress conditions, several samples were stressed. The results of these experiments



Figure 3.25: SOA of HEMTs ( $L_G$ = 75 nm,  $L_{DS}$  = 1.5  $\mu m$ ) The rhombuses correspond to the critical degradation voltage  $V_{DS}$  causing an  $I_{DS}$  decrease of about 10 %

are reported in table 3.7 for devices with  $L_G = 75 \ nm$ . The devices were stressed with increasing  $V_{DS}$  voltages until they failed. In this study, the safe operating area is defined for failure criteria of about 10 % drop in the drain source current  $I_{DS}$  and consequently, is determined through the evolution of the critical degradation voltage  $V_{DSdeg}$  as a function of  $V_{GS}$ .

Table 3.7: Critical degradation voltage of 75 nm gate length HEMTs with drain source distance ranging from 1.5 to 5.5  $\mu m$  while  $V_{GS}$  was kept constant to 0, -1, -2 or -3 V

$L_{DS}$	$V_{DSdeg}$ $(V)$					
( $\mu m$ )	Condition A	Condition B	Condition C	Condition		
	(at $V_{GS} = 0$	(at $V_{GS} = -1$	(at $V_{GS}$ = -	D (at $V_{GS}$ =		
	V)	V)	2 V)	-3 V)		
1.5	15	15/20	20	25		
2.5	20	20	25	30		
3.5	20	20	25	30		
4.5	25	25	30	40		
5.5	25	30	40	50		

It is important to point out that the former results were obtained at room temperature and for short aging test duration. So, more or less severe stress conditions such as ambient temperature higher than 300 K and long term aging tests could lead to a shift to the left or the right of the contour delimiting the transistor safe operating area.

Figure 3.26 shows the On-operating areas of a typical transistor ( $L_G = 75 \text{ nm}, L_{DS} = 1.5 \mu m$ ).

From the results analysis of the aging tests, in "on-state" mode, it is possible to define three operating zones not involving the same risk as regards the appearance of degradation:

- A safe operating zone of the transistor where the drift of the drain current at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V during the aging sequence is much lower than the failure criterion, i.e. 10 %. In this case, it is the



Figure 3.26: On-operating areas of a typical transistor HEMTs ( $L_G$  = 75 nm,  $L_{DS}$  = 1.5 µm)

safe operating area defined by the green region.

- A permissible operating zone of the transistor where the drift of the drain current at  $V_{DS}$  = 5V during the aging sequence is lower than the failure criterion. In this case, it is the operation area corresponding to the yellow region, which will be used for future long term reliability tests.

- A forbidden operating zone where the drift of the drain current at  $V_{DS}$  = 5V during the aging sequence exceeds the failure criterion. This area corresponds to the operating area defined by the red region.

Dissipated power in stressing conditions were also determined and results are depicted in figure 3.27 for two HEMT geometries ( $L_G = 75 \text{ nm}$ ,  $L_{DS} = 1.5 \mu m$ ) and ( $L_G = 75 \text{ nm}$ ,  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \mu m$ ). We can note that dissipated power is constant in stressing conditions expect in off-state conditions. Then, it suggests that it is not only the electric field that leads to the degradation but rather more a combination of high current density, electric field and self-heating.

#### 3.4.2 Critical degradation voltage variation with device geometry

To assess the relation between the critical degradation voltage and the device geometry, similar step stresses were applied for different gate lengths and different drain-source distances while  $V_{GS}$  was kept constant to 0, -1, -2 or -3 V. The gate-source distance is 600 nm for all devices as previously mentioned. Four devices, of each available geometry, were aged and the results are reported in figure 3.28 and figure 3.30 for the step stress sequence A, i.e. at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V and in figure 3.29 and figure 3.31 for the step stress sequence B, i.e. at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V. The critical  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage is defined, as previously described, such as the drain current decreases approximately by 10 % at  $V_{DS} = 5$ V.



Figure 3.27: Dissipated power in stressing conditions for HEMTs under test of two geometries  $(L_G = 75 \ nm, L_{DS} = 1.5 \ \mu m)$  and  $(L_G = 75 \ nm, L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m)$ 

#### 3.4.2.1 Critical degradation voltage variation with the gate length $L_G$

Figure 3.28 and Figure 3.29 show the relation between the critical degradation voltage and the gate length for devices having a drain-source distance of 2.5  $\mu m$  in condition A and of 5.5  $\mu m$  in condition B, respectively. Shorter  $L_G$  results in an increase of the electric field at the gate edge towards the drain [24]. Consequently, the  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage, at which degradation occurs, increases with the gate length.



Figure 3.28: Relation between the critical degradation voltage and the gate length in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V))



Figure 3.29: Relation between the critical degradation voltage and the gate length in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V)

## 3.4.2.2 Critical drain source voltage variation with the gate-drain distance $L_{GD}$

Figure 3.30 and figure 3.31 show the relation between the critical degradation voltage and the drain-source distance (varying as  $L_{GD}$ ) for devices a gate length of 75 nm in condition A and of 100 nm in condition B, respectively.



Figure 3.30: Relations between the critical degradation voltage, the electric field  $E_{GD}$  and the drain-source distance  $L_{DS}$  (varying as  $L_{GD}$ ) in condition A (at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V))

High drain-source voltage generates a substantial increase in the electric field, which is maximal at the gate edge on the drain side of the device. The maximum electric field is lower for longer gate-drain distance. As a consequence, the  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage at which the degradation oc-



Figure 3.31: Relations between the critical degradation voltage, the electric field  $E_{GD}$  and the drain-source distance  $L_{DS}$  (varying as  $L_{GD}$ ) in condition B (at  $V_{GS} = -1$  V)

curs, increases with the drain-source distance  $L_{DS}$  and  $L_{GD}$ . The degradation under conditions of high electric field between the gate and the drain has been reported to be caused by hot electrons [25].

To better understand the origin of degradation, we have compared the key parameters evolution: critical degradation voltage,  $V_{DS}$  deg, electric field,  $E_{GD}$ , and dissipated power, P, in stressing conditions as a function of  $V_{GS}$  voltage for HEMTs with the same geometry,  $L_G = 75$  nm,  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ .

Table 3.8: Critical degradation voltage, electric field and dissipated power of 75 nm gate length and a 5.5  $\mu m$  drain source-distance HEMTs for step stress sequences A ( $V_{GS}$  = 0 V), B ( $V_{GS}$  = -1 V), C ( $V_{GS}$  = -2 V) and D ( $V_{GS}$  = -3 V)

Aging conditions	$V_{DEdeg}$ (V)	$E_{GD}$ (kV/cm)	P(W)
Condition A (at	25	51	1
$V_{GS} = 0 \text{ V}$			
Condition B (at	30	64	1
$V_{GS} = -1 \text{ V}$			
Condition C (at	40	87	1
$V_{GS}$ = -2 V)			
Condition D (at	50	109	0.5
$V_{GS} = -3$ V)			

As shown in table 3.8, for a devices with  $L_G = 75$  nm and  $L_{DS} = 5.5 \ \mu m$ , the critical degradation voltage and the electric field increase when  $V_{GS}$  becomes more negative while the DC dissipated power is of about 1 W, in stressing conditions in conditions A, B and C. and decreased

by 50 % in condition D ( $V_{GS}$ = -3 V).

In conditions A, B and C, under the assumption that device self-heating is proportional to the dissipated power, the junction temperature in these experiments should be relatively unchanged. When  $V_{GS}$  becomes more negative, the degradation is greatly reduced due to the reduction of electron density in the channel. This leads to a higher critical degradation voltage. In this case, the electric field is the preeminent degradation factor. In condition D, both electric field and thermal effects lead to the degradation.

#### 3.4.2.3 SOA assessment as a function of the device geometry

For determining the SOA as a function of the geometry, step stress sequences A ( $V_{GS}$ =0V), B ( $V_{GS}$ =-1 V), C ( $V_{GS}$ =-2 V) and D ( $V_{GS}$ =-3 V) have been applied on devices of 75 nm gate length HEMTs with drain-source distance ranging from 1.5 to 5.5  $\mu m$ . The critical degradation drain voltage has been determined for each aging sequence and each geometry. The results are already shown in table 3.7. Using the table 3.7, the SOA boundary of HEMTs with different geometries can be determined. Figure 3.32 presents the SOA for 75 nm gate length and 1.5 or 5.5  $\mu m$  drain source distance HEMTs.



Figure 3.32: SOA of 75 nm gate length HEMTs with drain source distance of 1.5 and 5.5  $\mu m$ The rhombuses correspond to critical degradation voltage  $V_{DS}$  inducing a drift of  $I_{DS}$  around 10 % The dashed line presents the SOA boundary

In summary, as shown in figure 3.32, as the  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage at which degradation occurs increases with the drain-source distance  $L_{DS}$ , the SOA is shifted towards the high values of  $V_{DS}$  as the drain-source distance increases. It means that devices with large drain-source spacing are more robust.

# 3.5 Analysis of TLMs after aging tests

The TLM is the most employed method to determine the experimental parameters of ohmic contact (contact resistance, sheet resistance and specific contact resistance). These structures which are essentially HEMT without gate, provides the opportunity to understand and investigate the source-drain conduction path. At least 4 TLM structures per inter-electrode distance were investigated.

More than 12 TLM structures with contact distances of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$  and a total width of 100  $\mu m$  were also stressed in order to eliminate the effect of the gate on the device and locate degradations stemming from the channel and the contacts respectively. The same methodology as HEMTs was investigated: a sequence of step stress tests has been applied until a degradation criterion is reached. It is composed of a stressful biasing for 5 minutes followed by a non-stressful biasing for 5 minutes in nominal conditions. Then, the former sequence is repeated several times with more severe bias conditions.

Figure 3.33 shows a representative result of the current evolution versus time of different TLMs as a function of the spacing, when the voltage is increased by step of 5 V every 5 minutes. The degradation criterion of TLM is found to be about 6 to 7 %. Exceeding this percentage, a catastrophic degradation occurs as shown in the top of figure 3.33.



Figure 3.33: Current evolution versus time of 2, 5, 10 and 20  $\mu m$  TLM spacing. On the top right, image of TLM after a catastrophic degradation occurring at voltage of 60 V for a 20  $\mu m$  TLM spacing.

Figure 3.34 shows a representative result of the current evolution versus time of 5  $\mu m$  TLM spacing.

Figure 3.35 shows a typical evolution of I-V characteristics before and after the stress sequence of a 5  $\mu m$  TLM spacing. In attempt to identify the degradation mechanisms, we compare these


Figure 3.34: Current evolution versus time of 5  $\mu m$  TLM spacing

characteristics with the ones measured after a storage at room temperature during 24 hours.



Figure 3.35: Current evolution versus time of 5  $\mu m$  TLM spacing

In figure 3.35, the observed shift of the I-V characteristics shows that only a fraction of the degradation of the current is permanent. Partial recovery after one-day storage indicates that trapping and de-trapping mechanisms can contribute to the degradation.

A typical TLM extraction which gave an average value and its dispersion of contact resistance  $R_C$  and sheet resistance  $R_{\Box}$  specific contact resistance  $\rho_C$  and transfer length  $L_T$  before and after stress is depicted in table 3.9.

As can be seen in table 3.9, the device resistance increase was dominated by change of the sheet resistance  $R_{\Box}$  and not of the contact resistance because the increase of  $R_C$  and  $\rho_C$  is not significant compared to the dispersion. Therefore, degradation is probably located in the channel which means a degradation of 2DEG density  $(n_s)$  and/or the mobility.

During the step stress sequences, a current transient occurs during the step performed at

TLM parameters	Before stress	After stress
$R_C$ ( $\Omega$ .mm)	$0.6 \pm 0.05$	$0.7 \pm 0.05$
$R_{\Box}(\Omega/\Box)$	$435\pm 6$	$465 \pm 5$
$L_T$ ( $\mu m$ )	$1.25 \pm 0.15$	$1.4 \pm 0.1$
$ ho_C$ ( $\Omega cm^2$ )	$8 \times 10^{-6} \pm 10^{-6}$	$11 \times 10^{-6} \pm 10^{-6}$

Table 3.9: TLM parameters extracted before and after stress

V = 5 V. In figure 3.36, an example of the current transients extracted from figure 3.34 is shown for a typical 5  $\mu m$  TLM.



Figure 3.36: Current transients evolution versus time during the last two non-stressful aging steps at V = 5 V, for 5  $\mu m$  TLM (extracted from figure 3.36)

Different TLM spacing were tested and then compared, by terms of degradation criterion, critical degradation voltage and time constants of current transients, to HEMTs with close value of drain-source distance  $L_{DS}$ . Table 3.11 and table 3.10 summarize the details of parameter extraction results of TLM patterns of 5  $\mu m$  length and 5.5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance HEMTs. The results clearly show that the critical degradation voltage is similar and about 25 V for both TLM patterns of 5  $\mu m$  drain-source distance (4.825  $\mu m$  gate-drain distance) HEMTs.

All current transients exhibit two preeminent time constants  $\tau_1$  in the range of several minutes and  $\tau_2$  in the range of several seconds, which are of the same order of magnitude for all stress sequences in TLMs as well as in HEMTs. Therefore, trapping-detrappping phenomena are induced by similar traps in all devices and are enhanced by the stress tests.

In summary, comparing results of TLM spacing and HEMTs with close value of drain source distance  $L_{DS}$ , their critical degradation voltage and electric field are similar. In addition, the signature of the degradation is similar for HEMTs and TLM in term of transient evolution and permanent current decrease. Therefore, the origin of the observed degradations in HEMTs and TLMs struc-

Samples	d (µm)	$V_{deg}$ (V)	E ( $kV/cm$ )	au (s)	$ au$ (s) I $_{final}$
				I <sub>final-1</sub>	
TLM 1				$\tau_1 = 50.14$	$\tau_1 = 270.74$
				$\tau_2=1$	$\tau_2=1$
TLM 2	5	25	50	$\tau_1 = 55.25$	$\tau_1 = 84.6$
				$\tau_2=1$	$\tau_2 = 1.63$
TLM 3				$\tau_1 = 87.65$	$\tau_1 = 87.17$
				$\tau_2 = 1.81$	$\tau_2 = 1.86$
TLM 4				$\tau_1 = 193.39$	$\tau_1 = 144.5$
				$\tau_2 = 1.34$	$\tau_2 = 1.32$

Table 3.10: Summary of parameter extraction results of TLMs

Table 3.11: Summary of parameter extraction results of HEMTs

Samples	$L_G$ (nm)	$L_{DS}$ ( $\mu m$ )	$L_{GD}$ ( $\mu m$ )	$V_{DSdeq}$ (V)	$E_{GD}$ (kV/cm)	au (s)	$ au$ (s) $I_{final}$
				0		$I_{final-1}$	
HEMT 1						$\tau_1 = 132.24$	$\tau_1 = 205$
						$\tau_2 = 1.81$	$\tau_2 = 1.82$
HEMT 2	75	5.5	4.825	25	51	$\tau_1 = 138.74$	$\tau_1 = 187.24$
						$\tau_2 = 2.66$	$\tau_2 = 2.4$
HEMT 3						$\tau_1 = 139.83$	$\tau_1 = 141.46$
						$\tau_2 = 2.3$	$\tau_2 = 2.41$
HEMT 4						$\tau_1 = 154.34$	$\tau_1 = 267.88$
						$\tau_2 = 2.19$	$\tau_2 = 2.92$

tures seems to be same and could stem from modification of electron transport mechanisms in the channel.

Chou [25] reported a similar outcome as a result of accelerated stressing and suggested that the gate metal is probably not the origin of the degradation. We agree with this assertion, based on results involving TLM stress testing, since it appears that the gate is indeed not responsible for the degradation. Since the TLM structures are on the same wafer, with the same ohmic contact metals as the HEMTs, we can conclude that the channel, the source-drain conduction path, are the origin of degradation of the HEMTs. The observed degradation appears not to be related to the interaction of the gate with the channel.

## 3.6 Conclusion chapter 3

In this study, the objective was to perform a robustness assessment of short gate MOCVD GaN HEMTs on Si substrate. For that, a methodology has been defined for in-situ diagnosis of permanent

degradation. This study aims at defining safe operating DC conditions by on-state aging sequences comprising stressfull steps and non-stressful steps.

One set of devices per geometry was submitted to stress sequence in order to induce progressive degradation mechanisms for HEMTs featuring gate lengths ranging from 75 to 150 nm. Two degradation signatures were identified:

i) Static and permanent degradation which is quantified by the decrease of the drain current on successive 5 V non-stressful steps. It is found that  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage, at which static and permanent degradation occurs, increases with  $V_{GS}$  aging condition becoming more negative. The  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage is also found lower for the shortest gate length  $L_G$  devices and gate-drain distance  $L_{GD}$  devices.

ii) Intra-step degradation identified by a drain current transient occurring during each step of the aging sequence. These drain current transients reflect trapping-detrapping phenomena. Furthermore, the analysis of  $I_{DS}$  transients recorded during the stress sequence has shown that the amplitude of the transient mechanisms increases when the  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage is reached. All  $I_{DS}$  transients exhibit two preeminent time constants  $\tau_1$  in the range of 2 to 4 minutes and  $\tau_2$ in the range of several seconds, which are of the same order of magnitude for all stress sequences. Therefore, trapping-detrappping phenomena are induced by similar traps in all devices and are enhanced by the stress tests.

In this study an investigation of the SOA of ultra-short gate AlGaN/GaN HEMT devices is presented. It is based on the determination of the maximum values of DC bias voltages. HEMTs grown by MOCVD were studied and failure points were measured at different bias conditions. The methodology consists in applying accelerated DC step stresses until a failure criterion was observed. It was found that the SOA is shifted toward the high values of  $V_{DS}$  as the drain-source distance increases.

Finally, an analysis of TLM is presented. It suggests that traps responsible for currents transients occurring as well in HEMTs as in TLMs are rather more located in the channel. Based on the values of the associated time constants, it is likely that these traps are characterized by significant activation energies.

Step stress test is considered as an effective method for evaluating the device robustness. The next step will investigate the long term reliability tests and degradation mechanisms to better understand degradation signatures and root cause failure mechanisms.

### **References Chapter 3**

- [1] S. Lei, F. Shi-Wei, G. Chun-Sheng, Z. Hui, and W. Ning, "The degradation and recovery properties of algan/gan high-electron mobility transistors under direct current reverse step voltage stress," *Chinese Physics B*, vol. 22, no. 2, p. 027201, 2013.
- [2] C. Zeng, Y. Wang, X. Hong, P. Lai, Y. Huang, and Y. En, "Degradation characteristics and analysis of algan/gan high electron mobility transistors under reverse gate bias step stress," in *Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits (IPFA), 2013 20th IEEE International Symposium on the*, pp. 741–744, IEEE, 2013.
- [3] J. Joh, J. A. Del Alamo, K. Langworthy, S. Xie, and T. Zheleva, "Role of stress voltage on structural degradation of gan high-electron-mobility transistors," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 201-206, 2011.
- [4] S. Demirtas and J. A. Del Alamo, "Effect of trapping on the critical voltage for degradation in gan high electron mobility transistors," in *Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), 2010 IEEE International*, pp. 134–138, IEEE, 2010.
- [5] G. Wen-Ping, D. Huan-Tao, N. Jin-Yu, H. Yue, Z. Jin-Cheng, F. Qian, and M. Xiao-Hua, "Highelectric-field-stress-induced degradation of sin passivated algan/gan high electron mobility transistors," *Chinese Physics B*, vol. 18, no. 4, p. 1601, 2009.
- [6] I. Hwang, J. Kim, S. Chong, H.-S. Choi, S.-K. Hwang, J. Oh, J. K. Shin, and U.-I. Chung, "Impact of channel hot electrons on current collapse in algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1494–1496, 2013.
- [7] N. Braga, R. Mickevicius, R. Gaska, X. Hu, M. Shur, M. A. Khan, G. Simin, and J. Yang, "Simulation of hot electron and quantum effects in algan/gan heterostructure field effect transistors," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 95, no. 11, pp. 6409–6413, 2004.
- [8] J. A. del Alamo and J. Joh, "Gan hemt reliability," *Microelectronics reliability*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1200–1206, 2009.
- [9] J. Joh, L. Xia, and J. A. del Alamo, "Gate current degradation mechanisms of gan high electron mobility transistors," in *Electron Devices Meeting*, 2007. IEDM 2007. IEEE International, pp. 385–388, IEEE, 2007.
- [10] J. Joh and J. A. Del Alamo, "Critical voltage for electrical degradation of gan high-electron mobility transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 287–289, 2008.

- [11] D. Marcon, T. Kauerauf, F. Medjdoub, J. Das, M. Van Hove, P. Srivastava, K. Cheng, M. Leys, R. Mertens, S. Decoutere, *et al.*, "A comprehensive reliability investigation of the voltage-, temperature-and device geometry-dependence of the gate degradation on state-of-the-art gan-on-si hemts," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2010 IEEE International*, pp. 20–3, IEEE, 2010.
- [12] M. Meneghini, A. Stocco, M. Bertin, D. Marcon, A. Chini, G. Meneghesso, and E. Zanoni, "Timedependent degradation of algan/gan high electron mobility transistors under reverse bias," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 3, p. 033505, 2012.
- [13] F. Gao, B. Lu, L. Li, S. Kaun, J. S. Speck, C. V. Thompson, and T. Palacios, "Role of oxygen in the off-state degradation of algan/gan high electron mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 22, p. 223506, 2011.
- [14] A. Sozza, C. Dua, E. Morvan, S. Delage, F. Rampazzo, A. Tazzoli, F. Danesin, G. Meneghesso, E. Zanoni, A. Curutchet, *et al.*, "Evidence of traps creation in gan/algan/gan hemts after a 3000 hour on-state and off-state hot-electron stress," in *Electron Devices Meeting*, 2005. *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International*, pp. 4-pp, IEEE, 2005.
- [15] R. Vetury, N. Q. Zhang, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "The impact of surface states on the dc and rf characteristics of algan/gan hfets," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 560–566, 2001.
- [16] G. Meneghesso, G. Verzellesi, F. Danesin, F. Rampazzo, F. Zanon, A. Tazzoli, M. Meneghini, and E. Zanoni, "Reliability of gan high-electron-mobility transistors: State of the art and perspectives," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 332–343, 2008.
- [17] S. Karmalkar, M. S. Shur, G. Simin, and M. A. Khan, "Field-plate engineering for hfets," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 2534–2540, 2005.
- [18] H. Onodera and K. Horio, "Analysis of buffer-impurity and field-plate effects on breakdown characteristics in small-sized algan/gan high electron mobility transistors," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 27, no. 8, p. 085016, 2012.
- [19] C.-Y. Hu, , T. Hashizume, and , "Non-localized trapping effects in algan/gan heterojunction fieldeffect transistors subjected to on-state bias stress," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 111, no. 8, p. 084504, 2012.

- [20] M. Bouya, D. Carisetti, N. Malbert, N. Labat, P. Perdu, J.-C. Clément, M. Bonnet, and G. Pataut, "Study of passivation defects by electroluminescence in algan/gan hemts on sic," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1630–1633, 2007.
- [21] C. Ostermaier, P. Lagger, M. Alomari, P. Herfurth, D. Maier, A. Alexewicz, M.-A. di Forte-Poisson, S. L. Delage, G. Strasser, D. Pogany, *et al.*, "Reliability investigation of the degradation of the surface passivation of inaln/gan hemts using a dual gate structure," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 1812–1815, 2012.
- [22] Y. Ohno, T. Nakao, S. Kishimoto, K. Maezawa, and T. Mizutani, "Effects of surface passivation on breakdown of algan/gan high-electron-mobility transistors," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 84, no. 12, pp. 2184–2186, 2004.
- [23] M. Faqir, G. Verzellesi, G. Meneghesso, E. Zanoni, and F. Fantini, "Investigation of high-electricfield degradation effects in algan/gan hemts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1592–1602, 2008.
- [24] G. Meneghesso, M. Meneghini, F. Medjdoub, Y. Tagro, B. Grimbert, D. Ducatteau, N. Rolland, R. Silvestri, and E. Zanoni, "First reliability demonstration of sub-200-nm aln/gan-on-silicon double-heterostructure hemts for ka-band applications," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 480–488, 2013.
- [25] Y. Chou, D. Leung, I. Smorchkova, M. Wojtowicz, R. Grundbacher, L. Callejo, Q. Kan, R. Lai, P. Liu, D. Eng, *et al.*, "Degradation of algan/gan hemts under elevated temperature lifetesting," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1033–1038, 2004.

## Conclusion

In this research study, the objective was to perform a reliability study of ultra-short gate Al-GaN/GaN high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) on silicon substrate dedicated to microwave power applications. This work was carried out within IMS Bordeaux and IEMN Lille laboratories.

The unique physical properties of III-nitride compound semiconductors, in particular the Gallium Nitride (GaN), were presented in chapter 1. The structure of GaN based HEMT, its operating principle and its applications have been detailed. AlGaN/GaN HEMT has demonstrated excellent high power and high frequency performance compared with counterparts based on other materials. However, there are still some issues limiting the device operating applications impeding the way to commercialization. Indeed, reliability has still to be fully demonstrated due to the continuous evolution of the material and technological process. The final part of this chapter was devoted to reliability issues, accelerated life testing, GaN HEMT trapping effects and degradation mechanisms. They were reviewed and a particular attention was given to the GaN HEMT with ultra-short gate of 75, 100 and 150 nm.

In chapter 2, a description of the devices under test and the key technological steps was discussed. Another part of this chapter presents the electrical characteristics of HEMT components issued from AlGaN/GaN HEMT MOCVD technology and AlGaN/GaN HEMT MBE technology and fabricated at IEMN. The measurements consisted in standard DC and RF characterizations. The DC characterization was carried out in order to study the electrical behavior and the dispersion of the electrical parameters of the studied transistors. Then, the RF characterization was carried out in order to assess high frequency performance. This study permits to evaluate the impact of the geometry on the component performance so as to determine the optimum topology in terms of gate length, gate-source distance and drain-source distance and finally to obtain the best performances in static mode and in terms of cut-off frequencies. For the studied devices, results indicated that devices grown by MOCVD exhibit larger drain current saturation,  $I_{DSS}$ , cut-off frequency,  $f_T$  and maximum oscillation frequency,  $f_{MAX}$ , especially for short gate lengths. Through DC and dynamic electrical behavior of the transistors and their performance homogeneity within the wafers, a set of 40 transistors of the AlGaN/GaN MOCVD technology and 14 transistors of the AlGaN/GaN MBE

technology of different geometries has been choose to be submitted to the aging tests.

Chapter 3 presents a reliability campaign. 40 devices per geometry were submitted to different step stress sequences in order to induce a progressive degradation for electrical parameters for HEMTs featuring gate lengths ranging from 75 to 150 nm. A new methodology based on a sequence of step stress tests was defined. The advantage of this method is the possibility to diagnose permanent degradation without removing the device under test from the test bench and without performing complete electrical characterization.

Two degradation signatures were identified:

i) Static and permanent degradation which is quantified by the decrease of the drain current on successive 5 V non-stressful steps. It is found that  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage, at which static and permanent degradation occurs, increases with  $V_{GS}$  becoming more negative. The  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage is also found lower for the shortest gate length  $L_G$  devices and gate-drain distance  $L_{GD}$ devices. We suggest that both self-heating and the electrical field magnitude contribute to the degradation of the electrical performance of the devices under tests.

ii) Intra-step degradation identified by a drain current transient occurring during each step of the aging sequence. These drain current transients reflect trapping-detrapping phenomena. Furthermore, the analysis of  $I_{DS}$  transients recorded during the stress sequence has shown that the amplitude of the transient mechanisms increases when the  $V_{DS}$  degradation voltage is reached. All  $I_{DS}$  transients exhibit two preeminent time constants  $\tau_1$  in the range of 2 to 4 minutes and  $\tau_2$ in the range of several seconds, which are of the same order of magnitude for all stress sequences. Therefore, trapping-detrappping phenomena are induced by similar traps in all devices and are enhanced by the stress tests.

In this study an investigation of the safe operating area (SOA) of ultra-short gate AlGaN/GaN HEMT devices is presented. It is based on the determination of the maximum values of DC bias voltages. It was found that the SOA is shifted toward the high values of  $V_{DS}$  as the drain-source distance increases. Finally, an analysis of TLM is presented. It suggests that traps responsible for currents transients occurring as well in HEMTs as in TLMs are rather more located in the channel.

By means of short-term on wafer tests, well-defined degradation signatures and safe operating condition limits were determined.

### Future work

Short-term tests are useful in this study for identifying early failures during technology development, in order to improve material, process and device design intrinsic and extrinsic weaknesses. To stabilize processes, extremely accelerated conditions can be used, in order to obtain information concerning possible failure mode and mechanisms. Degradation signatures of the MOCVD

#### Conclusion

technology under study were defined, but this do not provide any information on degradation kinetics, activation energies, mean time to failures and their extrapolation models. In order to get confidence on the reliability of the technology under study in this thesis, long-term tests are required, increasing significantly the complexity of the reliability evaluation process. Thus, it will be possible to highlight activation energy by reiterating these studies as a function of temperature and / or use other techniques or models such as the variation of the slope below the threshold or the modeling of the Schottky contact.

The long-term accelerated aging test bench adequate to device on package was already developed. A long-term reliability campaign for GaN-based devices will be performed. The choice of conditions for DC long-term life tests will take into consideration the combination of the main accelerating factors: hot electrons, electric field, and thermal effects, as suggested by the results of short-term tests in this work.

The work carried out in this thesis is a starting point for many possible works. There are many ways to pursue this topic further using packaged devices mainly the low frequency noise measurements in order to characterize the parasitic effects and to study phenomena related to traps and interface states, the low frequency noise measurements versus temperature to study the trapping/detrapping phenomena and determine the activation energy of traps in the epitaxial structure. Besides, the long-term accelerated aging tests under electrical and thermal conditions (HTOL and HTRB) in order to model the temporal drifts of the characteristic parameters as a function of the activation factors, for example thermal storage tests at three temperatures will be carried out, with the aim of studying purely thermally activated failure mechanisms and to extract their activation energy, or submitting the devices under 2 bias points, 2 temperatures conditions in order to study the effect of combined electric field, current, temperature and as as consequence to identify the electrical parasitic effects and the degradation mechanisms.

Conclusion

154

## Résumé

Le matériau GaN ou arséniure de gallium, connu dès le début du 20<sup>ème</sup> siècle, n'a pu être synthétisé avec des propriétés physiques et électriques utiles pour les composants semi-conducteurs que beaucoup plus tard. Ce n'est en effet qu'en 1991, que la démonstration d'un gaz bidimensionnel d'électrons à l'interface d'une hétérojonction AlGaN/GaN sur substrat saphir a pu être réalisée.

Ces travaux ont permis la fabrication du transistor à haute mobilité électronique (HEMT) issu de la filière de Nitrure de Gallium (GaN). Ce dernier a démontré des performances impressionnantes en puissance hyperfréquence et est perçu dans de nombreuses applications comme le composant du futur. Ceci est dû principalement aux propriétés du matériau GaN, telles qu'une large bande interdite directe (3,4 eV à température ambiante), un champ de claquage élevé (3,3 MV/cm), une vitesse de saturation des électrons élevée ( $2,7 \times 10^7 cm/s$ ), une haute mobilité électronique (900  $cm^2/Vs$ ), un point de fusion élevé, une constante diélectrique relativement faible.

Cependant, ces composants à base de GaN sont sujets à divers effets, inhérents à la qualité de l'hétérostructure AlGaN/GaN fabriquée sur différents substrats, et qui sont susceptibles de dégrader leurs performances électriques, et leur fiabilité. Par conséquent, la fiabilité des HEMTs GaN doit être pleinement démontrée avant leur intégration dans les systèmes et davantage d'investigations sont nécessaires pour améliorer la technologie des dispositifs, l'épitaxie, la conception et d'autres facteurs limitant leurs performances.

Différents types de substrats semi-conducteurs ont été considérés pour le HEMT à base de GaN, en raison de leurs propriétés thermiques, leur disponibilité et leur coût. En particulier, le silicium, disponible en wafer de grande taille, sa maturité technologique et son faible coût en font un substrat très attrayant.

Au cours des dernières années, on a observé une tendance continue, d'une part à augmenter la densité de puissance et d'autre part à minimiser les empreintes des composants. En particulier, l'amélioration de la performance en fréquence des HEMTs GaN est obtenue grâce à la réduction de la longueur de la grille (< à 100 nm) tout en respectant la limitation du rapport d'aspect, rapport entre longueur de grille et épaisseur de couche barrière AlGaN.

Dans ce contexte, cette thèse porte sur l'évaluation de la fiabilité des HEMTs GaN sur substrat Si (III) à grille ultra-courte, dédiés aux applications de puissance à fréquence supérieure à 40 *GHz*.

Ce travail a été réalisé en collaboration entre le laboratoire d'Intégration du Matériau au Système (IMS), Université de Bordeaux et l'Institut d'Electronique, de Microélectronique et de Nanotechnologie (IEMN), Université de Lille I.

Dans le cadre de ces travaux, on a étudié deux technologies fournies par l'IEMN et dont l'épitaxie est réalisée par le CHREA-CNRS, soit par croissance MOCVD soit par croissance MBE.

Les dispositifs sous test ainsi que les étapes technologiques clés ont été décrits. Ensuite, une caractérisation DC a été réalisée afin d'étudier le comportement électrique et la dispersion des paramètres électriques des transistors étudiés. Puis, une caractérisation RF a été réalisée afin d'évaluer les performances à haute fréquence. Cette étude a permis d'évaluer l'impact de la géométrie sur les performances statiques et fréquentielles des composants afin de déterminer la topologie optimale en termes de longueur de grille, de distance grille-source et de distance drain-source. Ces caractérisations visaient aussi à vérifier le comportement électrique statique et dynamique des dispositifs et l'homogénéité des performances des transistors issus du même wafer.

Après avoir caractérisé les composants, analysé l'influence de la géométrie, la dispersion et identifié les effets parasites de fonctionnement, des tests de vieillissement accéléré sous contraintes échelonnées ont été effectués pour évaluer la robustesse des transistors HEMTs obtenus par croissance MOCVD.

Une méthodologie a été définie pour le diagnostic in-situ de la dégradation permanente. Elle consiste à effectuer des séquences de paliers de vieillissement sous tension de polarisation. La tension  $V_{DS}$  est augmentée par palier de 5 V tout en maintenant la tension  $V_{GS}$  constante. Chaque séquence de paliers de vieillissement est appliquée jusqu'à ce qu'un critère de dégradation soit atteint. Chaque palier comprend une phase de 5 ou 15 minutes sous conditions de vieillissement et une autre phase de 5 ou 15 minutes sous conditions de polarisation nominales. Ces séquences de tests de vieillissement ont été réalisées en condition de polarisation « on-state » i.e. à  $V_{GS} = 0$ , -1, -2, -3 V ou « off-state » à  $V_{GS} = -4$  V.

Un ensemble de dispositifs de géométrie différente a été soumis à des séquences de vieillissement afin d'induire des mécanismes de dégradation progressifs pour des HEMTs de longueur de grille de 75, 100 ou 150 *nm*.

Deux types de dégradation ont été identifiés:

i) Une dégradation statique et permanente quantifiée par la diminution du courant de drain observée sur les paliers successifs effectués en conditions nominales à  $V_{DS}$  = 5 V.

La valeur de la tension critique de dégradation à partir de laquelle le courant de drain commence

156

#### Résumé

à diminuer de façon significative dépend des conditions de polarisation du vieillissement, de la distance grille-drain et de la longueur de grille; elle est d'autant plus importante que la tension  $V_{GS}$  est plus négative. La tension critique de dégradation  $V_{DS}$  est également trouvée plus faible pour les transistors ayant des longueurs de grille  $L_G$  et des distances grille-drain  $L_{GD}$  plus courtes. Il a été démontré que le champ électrique et la puissance dissipée sont des facteurs d'accélération de la dégradation.

ii) Une dégradation transitoire observée au cours des paliers; il s'agit d'un transitoire de courant de drain, se produisant à chaque palier de la séquence de vieillissement.

Ces transitoires de courant de drain reflètent des phénomènes de piégeage et de dé-piégeage des porteurs. Tous les transitoires de courant de drain  $I_D$  présentent deux constantes de temps prédominantes;  $\tau_1$  d'environ 2 à 4 minutes et  $\tau_2$  d'environ plusieurs secondes, qui sont du même ordre de grandeur pour toutes les séquences de vieillissement. Par conséquent, les mécanismes de piégeage et dé-piégeage sont induits par des pièges similaires dans tous les dispositifs et sont renforcés par les essais de vieillissement accéléré sous polarisation.

Par ailleurs, l'aire de sécurité de fonctionnement (SOA) de cette technologie a été déterminée et sera une base pour définir les conditions de polarisation des futurs tests de vieillissement de longue durée. L'étude de la SOA est basée sur la détermination des valeurs maximales des tensions de polarisation DC qui permettent un fonctionnement des transistors sans dégradation. Les HEMTs obtenus par croissance MOCVD ont été étudiés et les tensions critiques de dégradation ont été déterminées sous plusieurs conditions de polarisation.

Il a été constaté que la frontière de la SOA est décalée vers les valeurs de  $V_{DS}$  plus élevées lorsque la distance drain-source augmente.

Enfin, afin de localiser l'origine des dégradations, des séquences de vieillissement accéléré sous contraintes échelonnées ont été effectuées sur des structures de test de type TLM d'espacements différents.

La tension critique de dégradation est trouvée plus faible pour la distance inter électrode la plus courte. Deux constantes de temps prédominantes sont extraites:  $\tau_1$  de l'ordre de 1 à 3 minutes et  $\tau_2$  de l'ordre de plusieurs secondes. Elles sont du même ordre de grandeur pour tous les transitoires de courant. De ce fait, on peut en déduire que les mécanismes de piégeage et dé-piégeage sont induits par des pièges similaires dans tous les dispositifs, TLM et HEMT, et sont renforcés par les essais de vieillissement accéléré.

L'étude des TLMs a permis de déterminer des valeurs de tension critique de dégradation et des signatures de dégradation analogues à celles relevées sur des HEMTs de géométrie proche. Par conséquent, les pièges responsables des transitoires de courant qui se produisent aussi bien dans les HEMTs que dans les TLMs sont plutôt localisés dans le canal que dans la région de la grille.

Le vieillissement accéléré sous contraintes échelonnées associé à la méthodologie mise au point pour effectuer le diagnostic in situ des dégradations du courant de drain se sont montrés efficaces pour évaluer la robustesse du HEMT GaN à grille ultra-courte.

# List of publications

#### • Journals

Hadhemi Lakhdhar, Nathalie Labat, Arnaud Curutchet, Nicolas Defrance, Marie Lesecq, Jean-Claude De Jaeger, Nathalie Malbert, "Reliability assessment of ultra-short gate length AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Si substrate by on-state step stress", *Microelectronics Reliability*, 2016

#### • International conferences

Hadhemi Lakhdhar, Nathalie Labat, Arnaud Curutchet, Nicolas Defrance, Marie Lesecq, Jean-Claude De Jaeger, Nathalie Malbert, "Reliability assessment of ultra-short gate length AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Si substrate by on-state step stress", *27th European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis*, Halle (Germany), 2016

#### • National conferences

Hadhemi Lakhdhar, Nathalie Labat, Arnaud Curutchet, Nicolas Defrance, Marie Lesecq, Jean-Claude De Jaeger, Nathalie Malbert, "Évaluation de la fiabilité des composants HEMTs AlGaN / GaN à grille nanométrique sur substrat de silicium par des essais de vieillissement accéléré "on-state"", 20emes Journées Nationales Micro-Ondes, Saint-Malo (France), 2017

#### • Oral presentations

Hadhemi Lakhdhar"Reliability assessment of GaN HEMTs on Si substrate with ultra-short gate dedicated to power applications at frequency above 40 GHz", GaNex meeting 2015 / 2016 / 2017